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Melbourne VIC 3000
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Dear Ministers

I am pleased to submit to you for presentation to Parliament the VicTrack 2018–19 Annual Report  
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Yours sincerely
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2018-19 Highlights Supporting Victoria’s 
major transport projects

Ensuring the future of the 
state’s heritage rolling 
stock and tourist railways 

Modernising critical 
telecommunications 
services

In 2018–19 we contributed expertise 
on design and communications to 
support the delivery of flagship 
transport initiatives including the 
Level Crossing Removal Program, 
Metro Tunnel, West Gate Tunnel, 
North East Link, regional rail and 
High Capacity Metro Trains. Page 26

We continued to work 

alongside the state’s 

valuable transport 

initiatives, community 

property developments 

and telecommunications 

infrastructure upgrades 

to protect and grow the 

value of the portfolio, 

and make travel 

and living better for 

Victorians.

VicTrack completed a $600,000 
upgrade of the historic Queenscliff 
Station, ensuring the station can 
support heritage tourist rail services 
for years to come. VicTrack is leading 
the development of a Vintage Rolling 
Stock Strategy with the aim of 
preserving the state’s railway history 
and ensuring the extensive Tourist and 
Heritage (T&H) railway sector can 
flourish into the future. Page 37

VicTrack undertook planning work 
as part of the future Transport and 
Government Secure Network (TGSN). 
The TGSN is designed to modernise 
VicTrack’s telecommunications 
network and safeguard and improve 
the reliability of Victoria’s rail 
transport network. When completed 
it will provide core services and 
support for major transport projects 
in Victoria and address risks posed by 
ageing telecommunications network 
infrastructure. Page 23

< Bellarine Railway located at Queenscliff Station

< VicTrack has provided support to the network 
capability to run the high capacity trains 

> Testing being completed as part of the TGSN 
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Generating revenue 
through land sales

Delivering upgrades to 
station carparks

Real-time travel 
information for bus 
passengers

VicTrack transacted some 24 
properties in 2018–19 totalling 
approximately $9.5m, with significant 
sales in Glenroy, Box Hill, Bylands and 
Yarra Glen totalling approximately 
$7.5m. Page 47

VicTrack is delivering major upgrades 
to station carparks under a $60m 
Victorian Government program to 
provide more than 2,000 new and 
upgraded parking spaces at busy 
stations. During 2018–19, VicTrack 
carried out planning and design 
work and community engagement 
on upgrade projects at six stations. 
We completed delivery of the $20m 
Station Car Park Upgrades Program 
that was announced in the 2016–17 
Victorian Budget. Page 41

We rolled out new Multimodal Public 
Information Display (MPID) systems 
and Customer Help Points (CHPs) 
across the Frankston bus network, 
and the Craigieburn and Cranbourne 
station bus interchanges. Passengers 
at these locations now have up-
to-the-moment information about 
arrival and departure times of bus, 
tram and train services. Page 42

> MPIDs at Frankston Station helping passenger 
journey connections

< Car park construction works at Stathmore Station

< Residential project underway at Jewell Station 
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2018-2019 
performance

Telecommunications  

revenue

Billboard and carpark 

portfolio revenue

Received for public  

transport projects

Property-related  

revenue (incl.  

licenses, land  

sales & rental)

Freight-related  

revenue

Reinvested into the 
state’s transport  
assets

• $8.4m rail 
infrastructure

• $20.8m 
telecommunications 
infrastructure

• $5.7m environment
• $0.1m heritage
• $1.6m bridges

Total operating  

revenue generated

$145.8m $54.7m

$6.4m

$37.0m

$218.0m

$47.8m

$2.6m

Other revenue

$34.3m



Our asset portfolio

  5  5

Stations, bridges,  

buildings and  

structures

Land (reserved  

for transport use)

Track

Signalling and  

communications

Plant and equipment 

(including myki)

Building and  

infrastructure WIP

Melbourne  

Underground  

Rail Loop

Total assets

$36.7b

$7.5b

$5.4b

$7.0b

$3.3b

$0.9b

Rolling stock

$4.0b

$5.9b $2.7b
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Section
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One
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Year in review
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Purpose
VicTrack enhances Victoria’s rail 
transport assets to safely connect 
people, places and opportunities.

Vision 
As a part of the transport portfolio, 
we share a common vision as 
defined in the Transport Integration 
Act 2010: “To meet the aspirations 
of Victorians for an integrated 
and sustainable transport system 
that contributes to an inclusive, 
prosperous and environmentally 
responsible state”. 

In realising this vision, we are  
working towards a transport  
system that promotes:

• social and economic inclusion

• economic prosperity

• environmental sustainability

• integration of transport and  
land use

• efficiency, coordination and 
reliability

• safety, health and wellbeing.

Mission
To protect and grow our rail  
transport assets and drive 
reinvestment to service Victorians 
now and into the future.

Values
We operate according to Victorian 
Public Sector Values. In addition to 
these, VicTrack also promotes the 
values of:

Respect
We will show respect to each other 
by appreciating differences and 
actively listening; being courteous 
and considerate; communicating 
openly and with empathy.

Achievement
We will show achievement by being 
accountable for doing what we 
say we will do; proactively solving 
problems; appreciating each other’s 
outcomes, progress and efforts.

Professionalism
We will show professionalism by 
delivering high-quality and timely 
work; communicating effectively  
and with positivity; being prepared.

One Team
We will show teamwork to each other 
by being collaborative, cooperative 
and inclusive; sharing information, 
knowledge and expertise; supporting 
others to solve problems and achieve 
common goals.
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Chair's report

Geraldine Gray The past financial year has been another 

successful one for VicTrack. We have again 

been a vital contributor in delivering major 

transport initiatives for the Victorian 

Government. We’ve also worked in close 

partnership with local governments and 

community groups on an exciting range of 

projects from delivering new infrastructure 

to supporting great community programs 

by leasing unused railway buildings.
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The threat of a cyber security breach 
impacting our network cannot be 
ignored. In 2018–19 we conducted 
an exercise based on a hypothetical 
scenario in which a cyber-attack on 
our networks disrupted train services. 
The drill successfully practised our 
preparedness and capability to 
respond and recover from a cyber-
attack directly impacting on the 
operation of public transport in 
Victoria. 

I would like to take this opportunity  
to thank each member of the 
VicTrack board for their contributions 
over the past year. In particular 
I want to acknowledge Michael 
Trumble who retired as a VicTrack 
director at the end of October 2018. 
Michael served as a director for six 
years, having been appointed to the 
Board in December 2012. In August 
2018 the Board appointed Dan 
O’Brien as a director. Dan’s wealth of 
experience in senior executive roles 
across both the public and private 
sectors will see him play a valuable 
role on the Board. I look forward to 
working with him and our continuing 
directors in the coming year. 

Geraldine Gray 
Chair

We began the financial year as 
a key contributor and supporter 
of Transport for Victoria as the 
lead transport agency in Victoria. 
Effective from 1 January 2019, the 
new Department of Transport (DoT) 
was created to plan and operate the 
state’s transport system. VicTrack 
remains an independent statutory 
authority following DoT’s formation, 
and continues to be a crucial part of 
the transport portfolio. The Board 
is committed to ensuring VicTrack 
continues to be a key contributor 
and supporter of DoT initiatives in 
this new era of delivering integrated 
transport solutions for Victorians. 

In delivering those transport 
solutions, nothing is more important 
than safety. In the past year we 
have undertaken a number of 
safety initiatives. We conducted 
a full review of our Office of the 
National Rail Safety Regulator 
(ONRSR) accredited processes 
including our Safety Management 
System framework, procedures 
and operational processes. This 
accreditation is a fundamental 
requirement for VicTrack. A 
significant body of work was 
undertaken across the organisation 
to ensure that our systems, practices 
and behaviours are robust and align 
with the 29 elements that we must 
demonstrate as part of rail safety 
national law.

In January 2019 we held a Board 
workshop to continue the risk 
appetite maturity journey to ensure 
the Board’s risk appetite is clearly 
documented, understood and geared 
to achieve VicTrack’s corporate plan 
objectives. A draft risk appetite 
position was developed including 13 
risk postures. Further refinement 
of the risk appetite statement will 
take place in early 2019-20 with a 
view to putting in place a final risk 
appetite statement referenced to 
the enterprise wide risk register and 
objectives of our corporate plan.  

VicTrack is a licenced 
telecommunications provider through 
the Australian Communications 
Management Authority (ACMA) with 
network infrastructure that spans 
the state. Our Telecommunications 
Network is classified as ‘vital critical 
infrastructure’ in Victoria. It is of 
state significance, fundamental 
to the continuity of the supply of 
essential services to the state. As 
part of our remit we must ensure 
that we deliver and maintain 
a modern, reliable and secure 
telecommunications network that 
meets Victoria’s needs today and  
into the future. Within that we must 
have a network that has the ability  
to adapt and grow as new 
technologies emerge and customer 
demand increases.

In order to ensure the important 
telecommunications network 
provides the required and necessary 
services, VicTrack has commenced 
work on a major upgrade of the 
network.

In 2018–19 we developed a business 
case and selected the technology to 
deliver the TGSN. This multi-million 
dollar investment will be VicTrack’s 
largest capital investment over 
several years. When it is completed, 
the TGSN will modernise VicTrack’s 
telecommunications network and 
safeguard and improve the reliability 
of Victoria’s rail transport network. 
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Chief Executive’s  
report

Campbell A. Rose AM Throughout 2018–19 VicTrack again proved an 

essential transport partner, contributing expertise 

to priority rail infrastructure projects across 

the state. We have played an important role in 

delivering Victorian Government initiatives including 

the Regional Rail Connectivity Project, the Level 

Crossing Removal Program and station carpark 

upgrades. We also undertook work to improve 

information, access and safety for passengers and 

kicked off an iconic project to repurpose retired 

trams in the community.  
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Our Project Delivery Group 
completed or continued work on 
major projects commenced in  
2017–18. Construction on the first  
of two new buildings at Jewell 
Station, set to revitalise the precinct 
with new open space and retail 
experiences, was nearing completion 
as the financial year drew to a close. 

Construction began on works at 
Bendigo and Eaglehawk stations to 
improve accessibility and usability for 
commuters. A milestone was reached 
in March with the installation of a 
new pedestrian bridge in Bendigo. 
Installing the bridge was quite a feat 
of engineering precision that required 
a special crane to lift it into place. 
Passengers with accessibility needs 
are now able to travel safely and 
easily between platforms.  

Victoria has a rich transport history 
that we want to celebrate and 
protect. In 2017–18, VicTrack launched 
the Retired Tram Strategy, calling for 
expressions of interest to repurpose 
around 130 historic W class trams. 
It was pleasing to see the first six 
of those trams roll out of Newport 
workshops this year. The work to 
relocate the fleet of trams will 
continue through 2019–20.

The state’s rail history is kept alive 
by our tourist and heritage railway 
operators. To support these largely 
volunteer organisations preserve 
this history, we are leading the 
development of a Vintage Rolling 
Stock Strategy. The strategy will  
be a blueprint for ensuring the  
state’s heritage and tourist  
railways continue to prosper.  
To get things rolling in 2018-19,  
we undertook in-depth stakeholder 
engagement and commenced 
development of the strategy.

A highlight for our Property Group 
came with a win in the Planning 
Institute of Australia’s Victorian 
Great Places award. This year’s win 
came for the redevelopment of the 
former Caulfield Rifle Range building 
and the associated upgrade of 
Elsternwick Plaza Park.

On the commercial property front, 
VicTrack’s portfolio of commercial 
leases generated $27.1m in revenue 
in 2018–19, in line with our budget 
forecasts. We also added two more 
billboards to our property portfolio. 
Through our annual land sales 
program we achieved sales totalling 
$9.5m.

The Board has endorsed a ‘build to 
hold’ approach to managing some of 
our property assets. This approach 
will see VicTrack develop property 
assets to generate a recurrent 
income stream. Projects currently 
being explored are both commercial 
(office) and residential/mixed use 
developments. 

In the previous annual report I 
noted that VicTrack had teamed 
up with VicRoads along with other 
government departments and 
transport partners and the Palo Alto 
Research Center (PARC) to trial the 
use of advanced fibre optic sensing 
technology on the state’s bridge 
assets. Significant progress has been 
made. In October 2018, a ‘proof of 
concept’ bridge was fitted with the 
sensors to kick start a trial of this 
ground-breaking technology. Three 
more bridges were later added to the 
ongoing trial. 

You can read more details about 
these and other projects in the pages 
to follow. 

Within the business we developed 
and began to implement our Health, 
Safety and Environment (HSE) 
strategy. We want to make sure 
that the way we do business is 
safe and free from environmental 
harm. The strategy focuses on the 
four key pillars of leadership, our 
people, systems and processes, 
and risk management. The plan 
aims to improve VicTrack’s safety 
and environmental performance by 
driving a strong, safety-wise work 
culture. In the past year we developed 
a HSE and rail training plan, 
launched a new HSE system portal 
for staff, commenced a business 
transformation program on rail 
safety accreditation and refreshed 
our safety risk management 
processes. 

I would like to thank the entire 
VicTrack team, the executive who 
lead it, our board and independent 
committee members for their 
commitment over the past year. 
Together we have cemented 
VicTrack’s role as an important 
partner in Victoria’s transport 
projects and an enabler in providing 
reliable and safe public transport 
for all Victorians. I am committed 
to ensuring that VicTrack remains 
an important partner in Victoria’s 
integrated transport portfolio in the 
coming financial year and beyond. 

Campbell A. Rose AM 
Chief Executive 



14    VicTrack Annual Report 2018-19

Manner of 
establishment  
& responsible 
Ministers

VicTrack owns Victoria’s rail transport land, assets 

and infrastructure. We work to protect and grow 

the value of the portfolio, to support a thriving 

transport system, and make travel and living 

better for all Victorians.

The Transport Integration Act 2010 
(Vic) provides the vision for an 
integrated and sustainable transport 
system in Victoria. The Act outlines 
objectives and decision-making 
principles the transport portfolio 
must consider when planning, 
developing and operating Victoria’s 
transport system. 

VicTrack works within the transport 
portfolio and collaborates with the 
Victorian Government, Department 
of Transport and other agencies, 
transport operators, local councils 
and the community to improve 
Victoria’s public transport system 
and manage and maintain our assets 
in the rail corridor.

Transport Integration  
Act 2010

Our core functions

These include: 

• putting the user at the centre 
of all we do

• creating a whole of transport 
system approach incorporating 
our road, rail, active transport 
and freight networks

• integrating the planning, 
management and coordination 
of Victoria’s transport system

• planning the future of Victoria’s 
transport system and ensuring 
it grows as the community, 
economy and technology 
changes. 

The Act sets out the objectives 
for each transport sector agency, 
including VicTrack.

Our core functions include:

• telecommunication services and 
network infrastructure that 
supports public transport

• managers of land set aside for rail 
transport purposes, including the 
development and sale of land no 
longer required for rail transport

• project management and civil 
engineering services for rail 
infrastructure upgrades

• transport facilities and asset 
management, including the 
open access Dynon Rail Freight 
Terminal, and heritage, building 
and environmental preservation.

North Melbourne Station >
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Victoria’s 
integrated 
transport portfolio

This landmark shift will ensure we’re 
better equipped to respond to the 
changing demands on our transport 
network so we can stay connected to 
jobs and each other, whichever way 
we travel. 

The new integrated DoT will plan and 
operate the transport system in a 
way that matches the people and 
freight that travel on it - focused on 
where people and goods need to go, 
rather than what mode we use.

While VicTrack remains an 
independent statutory authority, 
it forms part of the transport 
portfolio and is a key contributor and 
supporter of DoT initiatives, and is 
represented on the DoT Executive.

VicTrack reports to the Victorian 
Minister for Transport Infrastructure, 
Minister for Public Transport and the 
Treasurer.

VicTrack is part of Victoria’s 
integrated transport portfolio, led  
by the Department of Transport.  

As a result of a Machinery-of-
Government (MoG) change effective 
on 1 January 2019, the Department 
of Economic Development, Jobs, 
Transport and Resources (DEDJTR) 
became the Department of 
Transport (DoT). DoT assumed the 
transport portfolios of DEDJTR, and 
the non-transport portfolios were 
transferred to the newly established 
Department of Jobs, Precincts 
and Regions (DJPR). On 1 July 2019 
VicRoads and Public Transport 
Victoria (PTV) came together 
with the DoT to create a properly 
integrated transport department – 
in step with other global cities.

The new DoT gives us a singular, 
integrated focus on tackling the 
big issues – from improving buses 
in growing suburbs to making it 
easier to walk and cycle places and 
embrace new technology. 

< Flinders Street Station after restoration works
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As a partner to almost every rail 
transport project in Victoria and 
provider of core services to the 
sector, VicTrack’s operational 
structure works to support the 
various roles and functions we fulfil. 

Our business is made up of three 
specialist delivery groups – Property, 
Telecommunications and Project 
Delivery – which are supported by 
Business Services and the Office 
of the Chief Executive. Each 
delivery group contributes to asset 
management and service delivery.

Telecommunications
As a licensed telecommunications 
provider and with network 
infrastructure that spans the 
state, we provide a full suite of 
telecommunications services to the 
transport sector. Our networks are 
the backbone to public transport 
customer information, myki ticketing, 
driver communications and other 
network critical systems, such as 
signalling. We also provide 24-hour 
network monitoring and planned and 
emergency repair and maintenance 
to ensure the highest standards 
of reliability and safety for the 
transport system and its users.

Property
As land owners, our role is to ensure 
our transport land best serves the 
sector and Victorian communities. 
With vast land parcels that span the 
state and air rights throughout the 
public transport corridor, we work 
across all land use matters impacting 
transport land. These include land 
sales and acquisitions, property 
development, commercial leasing, 
land use and access, infrastructure 
and facilities management, heritage 
and environmental preservation.

Business groups Project Delivery
Whether we’re actively upgrading 
infrastructure or working to support 
Victoria’s major transport projects, 
our Project Delivery Group provides 
expertise across all disciplines that 
impact rail land, infrastructure and 
telecommunications networks. Our 
services include project management 
and project delivery in both civil 
engineering and telecommunications 
projects, as well as safety and 
technical services.

Business Services
This group provides the daily support 
needed to run VicTrack's operations 
and is responsible for a wide range 
of specialist functions that enable 
our business to be accountable, 
transparent and operate effectively. 

Office of the Chief 
Executive 
Consisting of the People & Culture 
and Communications & Engagement 
teams, the group is responsible for 
ensuring our people, key stakeholders 
and transport partners are informed 
and engaged in everything we do 
across our business.

VicTrack team members onsite during car park construction >
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Strengthening the network

VicTrack provides critical telecommunications services 

and network infrastructure to support Victoria’s 

transport needs. In 2018–19 we contributed to 

delivering the Victorian Government’s Regional Rail 

Connectivity Project by improving mobile coverage 

for regional rail passengers. We worked with industry 

partners to deliver improvements and new initiatives in 

telecommunications, laid the groundwork for a major 

telecommunications upgrade and commenced a trial of 

new technology for monitoring bridges. 
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FiBridge monitoring sensor installation at Hawkstowe Station

< 

> Telecommunication group team member finalising testing as part of the TGSN
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In late 2017, VicTrack teamed up with 
VicRoads and the Palo Alto Research 
Center (PARC) to commence a pilot 
project to trial the use of advanced 
fibre optic sensing technology on the 
state’s bridge assets. An initial trial 
commenced in 2018–19. 

PARC-designed miniature fibre optic 
sensors are being installed across a 
number of bridges to gather detailed 
and accurate data on the structural 
safety, performance and condition of 
each bridge. As part of the project’s 
first phase, in October 2018 the first 
‘proof of concept’ bridge was fitted 
with sensors, yielding promising 
results. The second phase of the 
project commenced with additional 
sensors installed on the first bridge, 
with three more bridges added to the 
trial for instrumentation.

The trial is due to finish in 
December 2019 with results and 
recommendations informing a 
business case for further product 
development of a scalable, low-
cost solution for bridge monitoring. 
The solution developed by the 
project team will determine, in real 
time, where and when to carry out 
maintenance and repairs, negating 
the need for traditional routine 
scheduled checks. This represents 
a shift from time-based scheduled 
maintenance to more targeted 
maintenance and repair. This 
technology will also allow for bridge 
failures or abnormal behaviour to 
be captured in real time, prompting 
immediate response by asset 
owners/ operators, emergency and 
traffic management services.  

The project board, chaired by 
VicTrack, has been actively 
supporting the project. Initial 
funding of $0.5m for the trial has 
been provided by the Victorian 
Government’s Public Sector 
Innovation Fund. Other government 
partners involved in the project 
include VicRoads, Office of Project 
Victoria (OPV), PTV, DoT and the 
Department of Environment, Land, 
Water and Planning (DELWP).

During 2018–19 VicTrack 
undertook planning work as part 
of the future TGSN. The TGSN is 
designed to modernise VicTrack’s 
telecommunications network and 
hence safeguard and improve the 
reliability of Victoria’s rail transport 
network. When completed it will 
provide core services and support 
for major transport projects in 
Victoria and address risks posed by 
ageing telecommunications network 
infrastructure.

Projects including the design and 
initial delivery of the network 
equipment, reference architecture 
and proof-of-concept testing 
necessary for the deployment of a 
contemporary telecommunications 
network were carried out in 
preparation for the major rollout of 
the new network.

Monitoring bridge  
assets with FiBridge

Delivering the Transport and 
Government Secure Network

A major focus has been consolidating 
a number of these initial projects  
into one multi-year program of 
works. This multi-year TGSN program 
will leverage the outcomes of the 
earlier Network Transformation 
Project (NTP) and work being done  
by the Level Crossing Removal 
Project (LXRP). VicTrack’s Board 
approved the business case 
for upgrading our current fixed 
transmission network within one 
multi-year program of works. 

The TGSN program is now in the 
initiation stage. During this phase 
our Telecommunications and 
Project Delivery groups are working 
together to establish the governance 
framework and plan the approach to 
design, construct, test and verify the 
TGSN equipment. Our customer and 
internal telecommunications services 
will be migrated to the new network.   
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VicTrack’s Telecommunications 
Group developed a purpose-built, 
all-terrain vehicle known as a cell 
on wheels (CoW) to act as a mobile 
base station to provide temporary 
cellular network coverage.

It can be used to temporarily 
supplement our existing networks 
when greater capacity or coverage is 
needed or when additional network 
traffic is forecast (for example, 
during a public event). It can also 
be deployed during emergencies 
to restore mission-critical DTRS or 
UHF radio services that have been 
impacted by an extreme weather 
event or fire.

Boosting network capacity 
with a mobile cell on wheels

We completed scoping works 
and started upgrading the 
telecommunications infrastructure 
on the Stony Point line, following  
an agreement with the line 
operator, Metro Trains Melbourne 
(MTM) being reached, in the 
previous financial year.

VicTrack provides  
telecommunications along the 
Stony Point line using third party 
carrier services. The line had been 
experiencing a number of outages 
due to the failure of third party 
services, particularly at the Stony 
Point end. These outages were 
impacting signalling equipment 
that is used to detect the presence 
of a train. Third party services are 
being withdrawn as the National 
Broadband Network (NBN) is 
rolled out. VicTrack is bringing the 
new technology in-house, thereby 
removing third-party costs to the 
state.

We designed a solution that will 
substantially minimise the risk 
of signalling incidents caused by 
communications network failures. 
The solution uses microwave 
backhaul to improve the reliability 
and availability of transport 
partner services including 
signalling, CCTV, passenger 
information displays (PIDs) and 
station public address systems. 

Improving communications 
on the Stony Point line

Passengers on five regional rail lines 
now have improved mobile network 
coverage during their journey after 
VicTrack completed the installation  
of mobile signal boosters on all 75 
trains in V/Line’s VLocity fleet, as 
part of the Victorian Government’s 
$18m Regional Rail Connectivity 
Project.

By September 2018, the entire 
VLocity fleet had been fitted with 
mobile signal boosters, improving 
coverage on the Geelong, Ballarat, 
Bendigo, Traralgon and Seymour rail 
lines from less than 50 per cent to 
almost full network coverage.

VicTrack is continuing to support the 
Victorian Government in working 
with Telstra, Vodafone and Optus to 
deliver 35 new mobile towers across 
the state, further enhancing mobile 
coverage along the five regional lines.

Improving mobile coverage 
for V/Line passengers

< Regional passengers have more network coverage than ever before 
thanks to VicTrack's mobile signal booster installation

> Safety is an important part of the work we do. Telecommunications group team member  
in the field carrying out pit works along side a Track Force Protection Coordinator
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Supporting Victoria’s major 

transport projects



VicTrack is an important partner in some of Victoria’s 
largest transport infrastructure projects. In 2018–19 we 
contributed expertise on design and communications to 
support the delivery of key flagship transport initiatives 

including the Level Crossing Removal Program, Metro 
Tunnel, West Gate Tunnel, North East Link, regional rail 

and High Capacity Metro Trains. 
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Major works ramped up on the  
Metro Tunnel over the past year, 
requiring occupations on train lines 
to enable works to take place on the 
tunnel’s eastern portal, and road 
closures in Melbourne’s CBD. 

We continued to work with  
Rail Projects Victoria (RPV) to 
support the delivery of the project, 
providing land management and 
environmental advice.

As major works continue, we will be 
extending and upgrading the VicTrack 
telecommunications network.

The project will take advantage of 
our telecommunications expertise 
during the roll out of the high-
capacity signalling, and we will 
support upgrades to track, signalling 
and overhead line equipment outside 
of the core tunnel area.

Scoping works for the West Gate 
Tunnel were completed during the 
year. VicTrack played a significant role 
in designing, building and delivering 
full communications infrastructure 
capabilities that serve both VicTrack 
and VicRoads networks.

The scope includes fibre installation 
and safely relocating existing 
VicTrack assets to make way for new 
pylons, bridges and roads without 
impacting live train services and 
other government partners.

We also provided land management 
and environmental advice to reduce 
the impact on VicTrack-owned land 
affected by the project.

Metro Tunnel West Gate Tunnel

North East Link is Victoria’s biggest 
road project, connecting the Eastern 
Freeway at Springvale Road to the 
M80 Ring Road. With construction 
due to start in 2020, VicTrack has 
provided input into the design and 
installation of the fibre optic cable 
and related telecommunications 
infrastructure along the corridor.  
This includes the infrastructure 
for the end-to-end intelligent 
transportation systems (ITS).

Our Property Group also provided 
advice to the project throughout the 
year, undertaking field assessments, 
advising on environmental land 
management and providing 
approvals for certain aspects of  
work that impact VicTrack land.

North East Link
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< Works underway at South Yarra as part of the Metro Tunnel 

   Concept for the North East Link

> North Portal for the West Gate Tunnel 

<
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VicTrack supported the Regional 
Rail Revival Program during 
2018–19, providing design advice 
and expertise on land and assets, 
and assisting the project to locate 
underground services and other 
infrastructure. In addition, we have 
undertaken the relocation of a range 
of telecommunications assets to 
prepare the various work areas for 
the start of major civil works.

We have also supported Rail 
Projects Victoria (RPV) to upgrade 
Donnybrook and Wallan stations.  
We engaged Coleman Rail for the 
design and construction of the 
upgrades, which includes extension  
of the Melbourne-bound platform  
at both stations, a new 150-space  
car park at Donnybrook Station, 
a new toilet and upgrades to the 
waiting room at Wallan Station,  
new platform shelters and myki 
ticketing machines.

Works commenced in May 2019  
and are scheduled to be completed  
in early 2020.

During 2018–19 we continued 
to provide support for the High 
Capacity Metro Trains (HCMT) 
project to design and deliver high-
capacity signalling, supervisory 
control and data acquisition, CCTV 
and digital train radio services, 
including for the new Pakenham  
East HCMT depot.

Our works will also enable trains to 
run through the Metro Tunnel on a 
new communications-based train 
control signalling system. VicTrack 
is providing specialist property 
advice, construction design review, 
field inspections and audits on 
new combined services routes and 
communication equipment rooms.

The trains will initially run on the 
Cranbourne and Pakenham lines  
and will eventually run through  
the Metro Tunnel to Sunbury.  
High-capacity signalling works that 
VicTrack is supporting are critical in 
enabling the fleet to provide a more 
frequent, turn-up-and-go service.

Regional Rail 
Revival Program

High Capacity  
Metro Trains

Prior to the 2018 state election, the 
Victorian Government announced 
its intention to remove 25 more level 
crossings, bringing the total number 
of crossings being removed to 75.  
At the end of the financial year, 29  
of these had been removed through 
the Level Crossing Removal Program.

VicTrack continued to offer design 
advice, share expertise on land and 
assets, and provide the location 
of underground services and other 
infrastructure.

During construction we rerouted 
and installed new infrastructure 
to support current and future 
telecommunications requirements. 
Our Property Group also provided 
necessary access to rail land, advised 
on environmental land management, 
and worked with leaseholders where 
the project affected occupied land.

Level Crossing 
Removal Program
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  Station under construction as part of the Regional Rail Revival Program

< High capacity train under testing

<



Supporting Victoria’s major 

transport projects

Revitalising  

transport precincts
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VicTrack operates to ensure land and transport assets 
retain their value for future generations of Victorians. 

During 2018–19 we focused on delivering upgrades 
and making improvements to station precincts around 

Melbourne and regional Victoria. We also restored 
vacant railway buildings, giving them new life housing 

community programs and commenced the development 
of a strategy to ensure the future of the state’s 

heritage rolling stock and tourist railways. 
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Two more buildings were restored 
and opened up to the community 
through the Community Use of 
Vacant Rail Buildings Program. 

The program offers the multiple 
benefits of preserving rail buildings 
for future generations, providing 
much-needed spaces for rural 
communities and generating 
economic, social and cultural stimulus 
in regional Victoria.

Twenty-one buildings have been 
restored under the program, giving 
people in regional areas community 
spaces while preserving Victoria’s rich 
railway heritage.  

During 2018–19 we completed works 
at Murtoa Station. The building has 
been transformed into a community 
arts and heritage hub that is leased 
and managed by the Murtoa and 
District Historical Society as part of 
the Murtoa heritage precinct.

Community Use of Vacant 
Rail Buildings Program

The Stawell goods shed became 
a multi-purpose meeting and 
recreational space for residents 
and visitors to the area. It is leased 
and managed by Grampians Model 
Railroaders Inc, as part of a tourism 
precinct in Stawell.

Throughout the year, works also got 
underway at St Arnaud Station. 
Once the works are complete, the 
building will be leased by the St 
Arnaud Agency of the Avoca District 
Cooperative Limited (Bendigo Bank). 
They will sublease it to community 
group Raillery Hub Inc. who will 
manage the space. The restored 
station building will become a 
community arts and education hub.

VicTrack supported the revitalisation 
of station precincts across regional 
Victoria during 2018–19 as part of 
our Regional Station Precinct Master 
Plan Program. 

We continued to work with RDV, 
DEDJTR and Ballarat City Council, 
to support the urban renewal 
development around Ballarat 
Station.

RDV is overseeing works underway to 
deliver Stage 1 of the redevelopment, 
featuring the refurbishment of the 
disused heritage goods shed into a 
modern conference centre and a new 
4.5-star hotel, a new commuter car 
park, pedestrian improvements and a 
public plaza for community events.

VicTrack also worked with Mildura 
Rural City Council on Stage 2 of the 
Riverfront Precinct Redevelopment, 
which involves nine hectares of 
publicly and privately-owned land 
adjacent to the rail line between 
Madden Avenue and Walnut Avenue, 
Mildura.   

A revised Master Plan to guide Stage 
2 was endorsed by council in January 
2019, and VicTrack continued to 
provide support and advice to council 
on land remediation and clearances.

VicTrack also worked with Campaspe 
Shire Council on their Echuca Station 
Precinct Plan, which will guide the 
reactivation and revitalisation of the 
station precinct.

Regional Station Precinct 
Master Plan Program

Ballarat Station >
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The redevelopment of the Jewell 
Station precinct in Brunswick 
continued, with construction on the 
first of the two buildings on the site 
nearing completion. 

Works also started on the public 
realm upgrades, which will 
improve the Upfield shared user 
path through the precinct, deliver 
increased bike parking and an 
enhanced station forecourt. 

The forecourt works being delivered 
through the project will improve 
facilities for commuters and the 
community, provide artistic and 
cultural areas, and create new 
public open spaces. Jewell’s heritage 
station building will be restored,  
and there will be new ramps and 
stairs to the station entrance to 
make it easier for people to access 
the city-bound platform.

The new station precinct has been 
designed as a pedestrian led zone, 
helping to reduce the previous 
conflict between cars, pedestrians 
and bikes.

Jewell Station precinct

VicTrack won the Planning 
Institute of Australia’s Victorian 
‘Great Places’ award for the 
redevelopment of the former 
Caulfield Rifle Range building 
and the associated upgrade  
of Elsternwick Plaza Park.  
The award follows on from the 
project’s win at the Property 
Council of Australia’s national 
Innovation & Excellence Awards 
in May 2018.

Planning award for 

Elsternwick Rifle 

Range project

In February 2019, we completed a 
$600,000 upgrade of the historic 
Queenscliff Station. This included 
restumping, re-roofing and painting, 
replacing and repairing timber, and 
fitting a new kitchen and toilet.

The works were completed as part  
of VicTrack’s Heritage Program,  
which protects significant buildings 
and structures to preserve Victoria’s 
rail history.

Built in 1881, the heritage-listed 
station is the oldest station building 
in Victoria. The Bellarine Railway 
has operated tourist heritage train 
rides from Queenscliff for around 40 
years. The building works will ensure 
the station can support heritage rail 
services for years to come. 

Queenscliff Station 
heritage preservation

The two mixed use buildings will be 
eight storeys and will contain ground 
floor retail and a total of 121 one,  
two and three bedroom apartments.

The new retail outlets will be open 
from early morning until late evening, 
increasing safety for residents and 
commuters, and providing new 
shopping facilities. 

Completion of the south building, 
which VicTrack is involved in, is 
anticipated in August 2019.

Construction on the second of 
the mixed use buildings, the north 
building, will commence in the second 
half of 2019 with the project set for 
completion in early 2021. 

The land for the north building was 
sold to the developer, who was 
targeting construction to commence 
in the 2019–20 financial year. 



VicTrack is leading the development 
of a Vintage Rolling Stock Strategy 
with the aim of preserving the 
state’s railway history and ensuring 
the extensive Tourist and Heritage 
(T&H) railway sector can flourish 
into the future. The strategy is 
being developed with a team across 
government. To help deliver this 
project, we have also seconded 
the Tourist and Heritage Railway 
Registrar from PTV.

Throughout the first half of 2019 we 
worked closely with the T&H sector to 
understand their plans for the future 
and how we can assist them. 

The Vintage Rolling Stock Strategy is 
expected to be delivered before the 
end of 2019.

Vintage Rolling Stock 
Strategy
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> Bellarine Railway train leaving Queenscliff Station
   Steam locomotive R711 at Steam Rail Victoria headquarters at Newport Railway Workshops 

< Queenscliff Station after the restoration works have been completed

 >
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Delivering projects  

for government



VicTrack works with transport sector partners to support 
the delivery of transport solutions for Victorians. We aim 

to maximise the use of the state’s transport resources 
and contribute to major transport projects. In 2018–19 
we contributed to the Victorian Government’s Station 

Car Park Upgrade Program, conducted works to improve 
information, access and safety for passengers at train 

and bus stations, and found new homes for retired trams. 
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The Road and Rail Minor Works 
Program was designed to provide 
improved access, usability and 
amenity for public transport 
users across regional Victoria, 
responding to priorities under the 
Regional Network Development 
Plan. Stakeholder and community 
feedback received has helped 
VicTrack understand key priorities 
and inform the final designs and 
plans for the works under this 
program.

In 2018–19, VicTrack delivered:

• 1,094 new and upgraded station 
car park spaces with enhanced 
lighting, CCTV, accessible parking 
and better pedestrian connections 
at Wendouree, Marshall, South 
Geelong, Clarkefield, Woodend, 
Warrnambool, Macedon, and 
Kangaroo Flat

• five new Parkiteer cages and  
bicycle hoops at nine stations

• 65 new bus, coach and taxi shelters 

• a new air-conditioned shelter at 
Macedon Station

• a new, dedicated coach bay and 
shelter at Portland

• a new self-maintaining public  
toilet at Leongatha Station

• new bus stop signage and 
timetables at 90 regional bus  
stops in Echuca and Bairnsdale.

The bus interchange upgrade at Koo 
Wee Rup was completed in mid-2019, 
and works on the Shepparton Station 
waiting room upgrade are ongoing.

VicTrack is delivering major upgrades 
to station carparks under a $60m 
program in the 2018–19 Victorian 
Budget. More than 2,000 new and 
upgraded car parking spaces will be 
delivered along with secure storage 
facilities for cyclists and better 
access for pedestrians at busy 
metropolitan train stations.

During 2018–19, VicTrack began 
planning and design work, carrying 
out numerous technical, site, 
environment, traffic, cultural and 
heritage assessments across six  
sites at Belgrave, Craigieburn, 
Epping, Hurstbridge, Sandown  
Park and Sunbury. We also engaged 
with stakeholders, including 
transport partners, MTM, local 
councils, government departments 
and agencies, local businesses and 
residents, to inform the  
development of the designs for  
these station car parks.

Broader community engagement 
also got underway, with community 
information sessions held at 
Belgrave, Hurstbridge and Sunbury, 
and online engagement with the 
Craigieburn community. Further 
engagement with key stakeholders, 
station users and the community will 
continue throughout 2019-20.

With new lighting, CCTV, footpaths 
and clearer signage, the station 
car park upgrades will make all six 
station precincts safer and easier to 
access.

Also in 2018–19, we completed 
delivery of the $20m Station Car 
Park Upgrades Program that was 
announced in the 2016–17  
Victorian Budget.

$22.5m Road and Rail  
Minor Works Program

$60m Station Car Park 
Upgrades Program

Works to revitalise Bendigo and 
Eaglehawk stations continued during 
2018–19 with construction starting at 
both stations to improve accessibility 
and usability.

At Bendigo Station, a new pedestrian 
overpass with lifts, ramps and stairs 
has been delivered to enable better 
pedestrian movement between 
platforms. The new pedestrian bridge 
was partially opened in December 
2018, with access via the ramps. In 
March 2019, the lifts and stairs were 
completed and the pedestrian bridge 
was officially opened by the Minister 
for Transport Infrastructure.

Development of the detailed design 
for improvements to the Bendigo 
Station commenced during the year, 
with the contract for design awarded 
to e+ Architecture in May 2019.

The platform extension has been 
partially delivered at Eaglehawk 
Station. At 30 June 2019, 
construction was underway to 
complete the platform extension  
and upgrade the station car park. 

These upgrades will deliver on 
community priorities in the  
Victorian Government’s Regional 
Network Development Plan, and  
are consistent with the City of 
Greater Bendigo’s integrated 
transport and land use strategy,  
the Bendigo Station Improvement 
Plan and the Eaglehawk Station 
Precinct Master Plan.

$15.8m Eaglehawk and  
Bendigo station upgrades

< Construction of the Bendigo Station pedestrian bridge
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Following the expression of interest 
last year as part of the Retired Trams 
Strategy, the first trams started to 
leave the Newport Workshops. 

The first tram became part of the set 
and storylines of Australia’s longest 
running drama series, Neighbours. 

Another two trams went to 
Launceston in Tasmania, where they 
will be refurbished to become part of 
a revamped precinct in the city.

In June 2019 two more trams were 
moved. One went to Diamond 
Creek to become a new community 
coffee shop, which will be used by 
community groups to raise funds for 
their organisations.

The other went to the Terang RSL, 
where it will be fitted out as a World 
War Two recruiting centre and 
become an educational facility for  
the local community. 

Around 130 trams were offered 
through the expression of interest 
and are going to community groups 
and commercial applicants. They are 
being progressively moved to their 
new homes over a two year period.

The new bus interchange at Ballarat 
Station is part of the Victorian 
Government’s major transport 
program for the city. It includes  
$32m for the Ballarat Station 
Precinct Redevelopment and builds 
on the new Ballarat Bus Network 
as part of a $100m investment in 
better bus services across Victoria. 
The new interchange will bring local 
buses closer to the station, making it 
easier for commuters to access the 
station precinct, and safer to change 
between transport services.

The approved reference design 
includes 12 new bus bays, pedestrian 
crossings for safer access between 
the car park and station entrance, 
and shelter for improved weather 
protection.

In November 2018 the reference 
design was granted heritage  
approval by Heritage Victoria. 
The public release and heritage 
approval of the reference design 
followed extensive consultation with 
stakeholders, and feedback from the 
Ballarat community. The reference 
design is being used as a basis for  
the detailed design.

New homes for retired 
trams

New Ballarat Station  
bus interchange

We continued to roll out our new 
Multimodal Public Information 
Display (MPID) system across 
Victoria’s bus network throughout 
the year, giving passengers real-time 
public transport running information.

During 2018–19, we successfully 
deployed MPIDs and Customer Help 
Points (CHPs) across the Frankston 
bus network, Craigieburn and the 
Cranbourne station bus interchanges. 
Passengers at these locations now 
have up-to-the-moment information 
about arrival and departure times of 
bus, tram and train services.

The new architecture complies 
with disability access legislation for 
visually impaired commuters and the 
Victorian Protective Data Security 
Standards (VPDSS) and will continue 
to be rolled out across the bus 
network.

Real-time information  
for bus passengers

< W Class tram arrives at Mount Perry Men's Shed, Queensland

> W Class tram leaving Newport for Launceston, Tasmania
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Strengthening our  

commercial asset portfolio
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VicTrack aims to boost the value of our asset 
portfolio and identifies opportunities to return 

revenue to the transport sector. In 2018–19 VicTrack 
achieved its land sales budget, added two billboards 

to the portfolio and generated revenue through 
commercial leases. 



The ongoing effort to grow VicTrack’s 
billboard portfolio delivered two new 
billboards at prominent sites across 
Melbourne in partnership with QMS 
Rail Media during 2018–19.

As a result of the third stage of 
the new development construction 
pipeline, the portfolio is forecast to 
grow by 7.4 per cent. The installations 
included large format digital 
billboards at Williams Landing and 
Spencer Street Viaduct.

The car park portfolio is forecast to 
grow by 1.4 per cent under VicTrack’s 
service provider Care Park, with the 
leasing of a new pay and display site 
at Broadmeadows.

Billboards and car parks
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 Flinders Street viaduct billboard
< Broadmeadows Station featuring the expanded Care Park site

> North Melbourne land made available to support the Metro Tunnel

<
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The leased portfolio comprises 
some 1,500 agreements, with 
revenue in 2018–19 of $27.1m.  
This is in line with budget forecast.

There were delays in bringing some 
commercial properties to the 
market, which has impacted the 
performance of the portfolio.  
Other leasable sites have been 
withdrawn from the portfolio and 
provided to various organisations 
as part of the West Gate Tunnel 
and Metro Tunnel, again impacting 
the portfolio’s performance. 
Despite this, the long-term outlook 
is very positive and continues to see 
the portfolio exceeding $30m over 
the next few years.

VicTrack received approval to lease 
particular areas within the site of 
the former Melbourne Markets on 
Footscray Road that are not being 
occupied by state projects. 

Commercial leases

VicTrack sells land no longer 
required for transport purposes 
under an annual land sales 
program. Land releases make an 
important contribution to economic 
development, housing availability  
and various infrastructure projects,  
as well as supporting state 
government policy and initiatives.

During 2018–19 the land sales team 
achieved its budget by transacting 
some 24 properties totalling 
approximately $9.5m, with  
significant sales in Glenroy, Box Hill, 
Bylands and Yarra Glen totalling 
approximately $7.5m.

The Glenroy sale was particularly 
significant due to the large sale price, 
but also given it was sold to the City 
of Moreland on the condition it was 
to be used by the community for 
parkland and open space. 

The team also successfully 
transferred a large number of 
sites occupied by VicRoads and will 
continue to release land to VicRoads 
to enable road and transport 
requirements.

Land sales program
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Reinvesting in  

communities
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VicTrack ensures that revenue from commercial activities 
is invested back into the community. In 2018–19 VicTrack 

continued its long standing support of Landcare and 
backed efforts to preserve habitats of endangered 

species and protect valuable wetlands. Work was also 
undertaken to remediate contaminated land and manage 

natural resources to the benefit of the community. 
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In 2018–19 VicTrack 

continued to enable 

local government and 

community initiatives 

giving new life to 

VicTrack-owned land 

and railway buildings 

through community 

leases and sponsorship 

arrangements. 

Community support programs

Community leases
VicTrack’s community lease program 
sees buildings and land leased 
to a range of local government 
and community groups to boost 
recreational space and facilitate 
community initiatives. Across Victoria 
our property is used for a diverse 
range of social and cultural activities 
and beautification works that 
improve local amenity. 

In 2018–19 VicTrack had 417 leases 
in the portfolio. Our lessees include 
councils, tourist and heritage groups, 
scouts and girl guides and community 
organisations such as Lions Clubs. 

In May 2019 VicTrack entered into 
a new 10-year lease with Yarra 
Ranges Shire for land along the 
former rail corridor between Lilydale 
and Yarra Glen. Under the lease, 
existing unused rail track is being 
transformed to a shared path, 
creating additional recreational 
space for the community. The project 
also creates the first section of the 
planned Yarra Valley Trail. 

In a new lease for 2018–19, a goods 
shed in Benalla has been sub-leased 
to the LG Boxing Club. The club is 
using the property to run boxing 
lessons and training for local youth 
and adult members to enhance 
participants’ health and wellbeing. 

Another youth program has found 
a home in a VicTrack property in 
Eaglehawk. Hiphopportunities for 
Youth is a community organisation 
striving to engage young people 
aged 12-25 in their communities 
through hip-hop dance, music and 
street art. It now operates its 
flagship Hip-Hop Drop program 
from the Goods Shed at Eaglehawk 
under a community lease with 
VicTrack. The project aims to 
increase young people’s self-esteem 
and means to express themselves in 
a safe and supported environment, 
at the same time heightening social 
connectedness. 

In Rochester, a building at Rochester 
Station has been refurbished and 
leased to the Rochester Lions Club. 
VicTrack spent around $50,000 
to upgrade the building, which will 
now house the Rochester Sports 
Museum holding the extensive 
private collection of sports 
memorabilia amassed by Mitiamo-
local John Forbes. The museum is 
set to become a tourist attraction 
for Rochester, encouraging visitors 
to the town. 

Keep Victoria  
Beautiful Stationeers 
Since 2008, VicTrack has supported 
the Keep Victoria Beautiful (KVB) 
Stationeers program, which 
organises volunteer groups to 
undertake beautification works 
including gardening and clearing 
around station precincts. VicTrack 
along with V/Line, MTM and DoT 
has partnered with KVB for  
another three years and is 
contributing $50,000 funding per 
year. There are currently 57 active 
volunteer groups working on 30 
Metro and 27 V/Line stations.  
. 

A volunteer at Lake Goldsmith Goods shed museum Beaufort  >
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Mary Jane Lewis 
Foundation Transport 
Sector Scholarships
During 2018–19 VicTrack contributed 
a further $10,000 to the Mary Jane 
Lewis Foundation Transport Sector 
Scholarships. The scholarships are  
an initiative of the Women in 
Transport Program. They are 
designed to assist young, financially 
disadvantaged women to undertake 
a transport-related undergraduate 
degree at a Victorian university.  
The final contribution will be made in 
2019-20, fulfilling our $30,000 total 
commitment. 

Collaboration with  
Study Melbourne 
We partnered with Study Melbourne: 
Live Projects to engage two teams 
of tertiary students to undertake 
short-term projects with our 
Telecommunications Group.

Live Projects engages teams of 
diverse university students to 
participate in immersive learning by 
providing them with real business 
challenges to solve. The program 
connects international students 
from various tertiary institutions 
with Victorian agencies, businesses 
and community organisations. The 
students learn to work in teams and 
engage with industry mentors while 
gaining valuable work experience.

We hosted nine students over 
three weeks in February 2019. Half 
formed a disruptive technologies 
team, examining the forward 
impact of technology changes and 
how VicTrack can be a future-ready 
telecommunications provider. The 
other students worked as a customer 
experience team, looking at how 
VicTrack can best gather and use 
insights to create value for our 
customers and grow our business.
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Environmental 

management plays a 

major role in VicTrack’s 

operations, as one of our 

major non-commercial 

activities, and as the 

asset owner of one of 

Victoria’s largest titled 

land holdings.
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Environmental program

Bellarine Tourist Rail (Bellarine 
Catchment Network, Drysdale)
The Bellarine Catchment Network 
has continued its community 
engagement work on VicTrack land 
in the region, targeting pest rabbit 
populations and weeds in priority 
areas from Drysdale to Queenscliff, 
including beside the Ramsar-listed 
Swan Bay wetland. The Network  
also continues to work closely with 
the Geelong Steam Preservation 
Society, to manage planting 
and growth of plants near rail 
infrastructure such as crossings,  
and important tourist vistas.

Habitat for the Southern Brown 
Bandicoot (Eastern population) 
(Western Port Catchment 
Landcare Network, Koo Wee Rup)
The Western Port Catchment 
Landcare Network (WCLN) 
has maintained its work in 
revegetation of Southern Brown 
Bandicoot habitat. Working closely 
with the Westernport Swamp 
Landcare Group, WCLN focused 
on weed control to maintain the 
environmental values along the 14 
hectares under management.

The site is a significant link of 
remnant vegetation due to its 
proximity to the Western Port 
Ramsar wetland and the former 
Westernport Swamp, and contains 
a number of threatened vegetation 
communities and threatened species 
listed under the Victorian Flora and 
Fauna Guarantee Act (1988) and 
the Commonwealth Environment 
Protection and Biodiversity 
Conservation Act (1999) (EPBC Act).

The Green Line (Basalt to Bay 
Landcare Network, Koroit)
The Basalt to Bay Landcare 
Network’s Green Line project, a six-
year VicTrack investment, supported 
a Landcare demonstration project 
in Western Victoria, managing and 
promoting the environmental and 
cultural heritage values along 37 
kilometres of VicTrack land between 
Minhamite and Koroit. The corridor 
encompasses four listed endangered 
ecological vegetation classes as well 
as rare and endangered species.

Works included cultural heritage 
management, ecological burns, 
grassland research, reptile surveys, 
aerial footage, camera trapping, 
woody weed control, revegetation, 
community events and social media 
communications. Moyne Shire 
Council, DELWP, VicRoads, CFA, 
Eastern Maar Aboriginal Corporation, 
corporate partners, local schools and 
adjacent landholders were all project 
partners.

Station Park Regeneration 
(Congupna-Tallygaroopna 
Landcare Group, Tallygaroopna)
Having been successfully planted 
out in 2017–18, the Tallygaroopna 
Station Park site did not require 
funding during 2018–19 but was 
instead maintained by the Congupna-
Tallygaroopna Landcare Group, with 
a focus on weed control. In April 
2019 the group received a Cultural 
Heritage Award for Interpretive 
Signage from the City of Greater 
Shepparton in recognition of its 
historic research and work with 
the Yorta Yorta Nation Aboriginal 
Corporation. The signage was 
created and installed as part of the 
Station Park Regeneration project.

Landcare Australia 
Partnership
VicTrack is a major sponsor of 
Landcare’s Grassroots Program and 
provides annual funding to support 
an extensive program to protect 
and restore native grasslands in and 
around railway corridors.

We have continued our long-standing 
support of Landcare Australia and 
numerous local Landcare community 
groups, through a partnership 
working on managing and improving 
the environmental values on VicTrack 
sites across the state. 

In 2018–19, VicTrack funding has 
supported the following Landcare 
projects, engaging local community 
groups, together with councils, 
Traditional Owners, Junior Landcare, 
schools and the Country Fire 
Authority (CFA) in a wide range of 
environmental projects.

The Great Victorian Rail  
Trail (Upper Goulburn Landcare 
Network, Yea)
The Upper Goulburn Landcare 
Network is working across 85 
kilometres of rail trail, from Tallarook 
to Mansfield, with habitat supporting 
four critically endangered vegetation 
communities, including native 
grasslands and grassy woodlands. 
These habitats contain regionally 
and nationally threatened species, 
such as the Striped Legless Lizard, 
Brush-tailed Phascogale and the 
Late-flower Flax-lily, and some focal 
species including Koalas, Diamond 
Firetail and Brown Treecreeper.

Project works have engaged local 
schools, corporate groups, the 
CFA and the Taungurung Land 
and Waters Council Traditional 
Owners to manage Box Gum grassy 
woodlands, through weed control 
and undertaking fauna surveys, 
revegetation, and installing nesting 
boxes.

< VicTrack staff members participating in a tree planting day
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Asbestos program

Survey and removal programs
Asbestos risk is managed in 
accordance with current OHS 
regulations.

VicTrack maintains an asbestos 
register and uses a risk matrix to 
assess the potential risk of harm 
to occupants from asbestos found 
in our buildings and on our land. 
Asbestos is removed immediately 
from sites identified as high risk. 
Where sites are deemed to be 
moderate risk, the asbestos is 
programmed for removal within  
six months and low-risk asbestos 
issues continue to be monitored  
and noted in the register.

In 2018–19, asbestos surveys were 
completed on 137 buildings at over 
62 locations as part of our five-year 
rolling asbestos survey program to 
manage asbestos risk.

Asbestos removal and remediation 
works were also undertaken at sites 
across Victoria, including Dynon, 
South Dynon and Spotswood.  
Works involved the removal of 
asbestos materials within buildings 
to make the areas safe and reduce 
ongoing asbestos management 
requirements into the future.

We also commenced major asbestos 
clean and remediation works at the 
Spotswood site to make the site safe 
for future refurbishment and use.

Works to remove asbestos from  
some trams as part of the Retired 
Trams Strategy were also undertaken 
in early 2019.

Contamination removal and land remediation

Asbestos data management
VicTrack continues to use and  
refine a web-based mobile 
application to capture and 
monitor asbestos and hazardous 
material information in assets. 
A number of system upgrades, 
including automation of workflow 
and integration with our asset 
management system, have been 
successfully implemented in 2018–19.

Implementation of site specific 
management measures
In 2018–19, site-specific asbestos 
management plans were developed 
or updated for Newport Workshops, 
Spotswood, Albion, Queenscliff, and 
Mildura Rail Precinct Development. 
Implementation of site-specific 
asbestos management plans involves 
annual asbestos inspections, update 
of site-specific registers and the 
asbestos management plan.

Contaminated land program

VicTrack completed contaminated 
land assessments at more than 
48 sites to identify potential 
environmental or health risks 
resulting from historical land use  
or poor environmental management 
practices. Sites where contamination 
is identified are investigated further, 
monitored and remediated where 
necessary in accordance with our 
contaminated land management 
plan.

South Dynon remediation
Groundwater remediation works 
at the South Dynon Rail Yards 
continued to safely remove the diesel 
light non-aqueous phase plume of 
contamination beneath the site. 
Approximately 280 litres of the diesel 
light non-aqueous phase liquid was 
removed from the groundwater 
through active total fluid remediation 
in 2018–19. The remediation works 
have removed over 32,990 litres 
of light non-aqueous phase liquid 
(LNAPL) and 1,300,000 litres of 
impacted groundwater since the 
commencement of the remediation 
trial in 2014, and subsequent 
remediation works between 2015  
and 2018.

The light non-aqueous phase liquid 
recovered from the groundwater 
has been separated, collected and 
sent to an offsite recycling facility. 
LNAPL recovery decreased over time 
and became increasingly ineffective 
in 2018. The remedial system was 
subsequently decommissioned in late 
2018. Further remediation while the 
area remains operational (i.e. access 
restraints) was assessed and not 
considered practicable.
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Groundwater monitoring program
We continued to implement our 
annual groundwater monitoring 
program in 2018–19 to assess the 
nature, extent and stability of 
groundwater contamination at 
sites across Victoria. Many of our 
sites require ongoing groundwater 
monitoring to ensure risks from 
contamination are managed. 
Groundwater contamination at these 
sites is a result of poor historical uses.

Routine groundwater monitoring 
works were completed at 11 
sites in 2018–19, including three 
which no longer require ongoing 
monitoring. We worked with expert 
contaminated land consultants to 
identify where sites no longer require 
regular groundwater monitoring, or 
where active management of the 
contamination may be required,  
based on the potential for risks to site 
users or the environment. 

Sensitive sites program
Throughout 2018–19 we continued 
to implement our sensitive sites 
program. This program assesses sites 
used for a sensitive purpose, such as 
child care facilities, playgrounds and 
residences, to understand if the land 
is impacted from former potentially 
contaminating activities, and to 
ascertain whether the land is suitable 
to be used for that sensitive use. 

We worked with expert contaminated 
land consultants to identify which 
sensitive sites required further 
management controls (if any). We 
undertook further environmental  
or human health risk assessment 
works at 19 rural residential sites,  
as well as installation of barrier 
controls at 10 residential or child  
care sites in 2018–19.

Major investigations and  
clean-up works
VicTrack carried out major 
investigations and clean-up 
works at three sites with active 
Environment Protection Authority 
(EPA) compliance notices: Horsham, 
Spotswood and Byrneside. 

At Horsham, we completed 
environmental assessment and 
groundwater remediation works 
in accordance with the auditor 
endorsed clean-up plan for the site. 
Groundwater remediation works 
included the pilot trial of remediation 
technologies and techniques to 
determine the best approach for full-
scale implementation. 

At Byrneside, we undertook works to 
assess, sort and segregate numerous 
stockpiles of industrial waste illegally 
dumped by a former tenant. These 
works are the first step in addressing 
the clean-up notice and will prepare 
the significant volume of waste for 
appropriate reuse or offsite disposal, 
in accordance with environmental 
regulations.

Annual monitoring of groundwater 
and the platform encapsulation 
structure containing contaminated 
soil continued at Spotswood, in 
accordance with the Environmental 
Auditor–approved plan for managing 
legacy contamination.

Portland fuel depot 
decommissioning
At Portland, we completed 
decommissioning of redundant 
above- and below-ground refuelling 
infrastructure, including eight 
above-ground storage tanks. 
Environmental assessment beneath 
the refuelling infrastructure did not 
identify gross impact on rail land or 
adjacent wetlands. 

North Geelong remediation  
pilot trial
A remediation pilot trial commenced 
at North Geelong. The works will 
pilot a number of remediation 
methods to clean up legacy 
contamination (dense non-aqueous 
liquid) from the groundwater 
associated with the former 
gasworks that operated at the site.
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Natural resource management

Biodiversity management
We continued to invest time 
and money into understanding 
biodiversity on VicTrack land.  
This included completion of 
biodiversity assessments or land 
management assessments at six 
locations/precincts across the  
state to understand significant 
flora and fauna values on VicTrack 
land and put in place measures for 
ongoing management.

Biodiversity mapping 
project
We completed a biodiversity mapping 
tool project which aimed to map 
known and modelled biodiversity 
values on VicTrack land, and depict 
these areas on our in-house mapping 
system. The tool assists us to identify 
biodiversity and manage risks to 
significant biodiversity values on sites 
where works are planned. Following a 
trial of the tool in 2017-18, a number 
of upgrades were made in 2018–19, 
including two updates of the data 
and integration of the system into 
our in-house geographic information 
system, RailMap.

South Morang Biodiversity 
protection area
VicTrack managed vegetation 
protected under the EPBC Act, 
including the Matted Flax-lily and 
Grassy Eucalypt Woodland on 
behalf of PTV under a Memorandum 
of Understanding and long-term 
management plan.

Fence repairs, biomass control, rabbit 
control, litter removal, vegetation 
monitoring and annual reporting 
were completed in 2018–19, and will 
continue for another two years.

We are working closely with 
environmental and land  
management consultants, as well as 
the Mernda Rail Extension Project, 
Parks Victoria and DELWP to ensure 
the protection and management of 
significant vegetation.

Caroline Springs 
Biodiversity protection area
VicTrack managed Commonwealth 
protected biodiversity values (listed 
under the EPBC Act), including the 
Striped Legless Lizard and Spiny 
Rice-flower on behalf of PTV under 
a Memorandum of Understanding, 
in accordance with Year 5 of 
the Commonwealth-approved 
conservation management plan 
and offset management plan. 
Management of the site is also 
required under a Trust for Nature 
conservation covenant.

Fence repairs, biomass control,  
rabbit control, litter removal, 
biodiversity surveys and monitoring, 
and annual reporting was completed 
in 2018–19, and will continue for 
another five years.

We worked closely with 
environmental and land management 
consultants, as well as PTV, V/Line 
and Trust for Nature to ensure the 
protection and management of 
significant vegetation.

Sunshine (Tottenham) 
biodiversity protection area
Areas of Sunshine vegetation are 
identified as Matters of National 
Environmental Significance (MNES) 
(listed under the EPBC Act), including 
the Natural Temperate Grassland 
of the Victorian Volcanic Plain 
community, Western Basalt Plains 
Grassland, Matted Flax-lily and 
habitat for the Golden Sun Moth  
and Striped Legless Lizard. 
Significant weed infestations listed 
under the Catchment and Land 
Protection Act were identified as 
requiring management.

Land management works, including 
weed control, litter removal, rabbit 
control, and installation of rabbit-
proof fencing around vegetation 
values, were completed in 2018–19. 

We are working closely with land 
management consultants, as well 
as Brimbank City Council and 
DELWP, to ensure the protection 
and management of significant 
vegetation.

 South Morang's Matted Flax Lily translocation area >
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This report represents the audited financial 
statements for VicTrack and its controlled 
entities for the year ended 30 June 2019. 
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Declaration by Chair, Accountable Officer and Executive  
General Manager Business Services 30 June 2019

The attached financial statements for Victorian Rail Track ("VicTrack") (as an individual entity and the 
Consolidated Entity comprising VicTrack and its Controlled Entities) have been prepared in accordance with 
Direction 5.2 of the Standing Directions of the Assistant Treasurer under the Financial Management Act 
1994, applicable Financial Reporting Directions, Australian Accounting Standards including Interpretations, 
and other mandatory professional reporting requirements.

We further state that, in our opinion, the information set out in the comprehensive operating statement, 
balance sheet, statement of changes in equity, cash flow statement, and notes to and forming part of the 
financial statements, presents fairly the financial transactions during the year ended 30 June 2019 and the 
financial position as at 30 June 2019 of VicTrack and the Consolidated Entity.

As at the time of signing we are not aware of any circumstance that would render any particulars included in 
the financial statements to be misleading or inaccurate.

We authorise the attached financial statements for issue on 29 August 2019.

Geraldine Gray 
Chair 
Dated: 29 August 2019

Campbell A. Rose AM 
Chief Executive 
Dated: 29 August 2019

Chris Olds 
Executive General Manager Business Services 
Dated: 29 August 2019

< V/Line passanger myki touch on is made avilable through our telecomunications network
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 Consolidated Parent

 
 

 
Note

2019
$'000

2018
$'000

2019
$'000

2018
$'000

Continuing Operations      

Income from transactions:      

Telecommunication services 2.1  56,590  55,473  56,590  55,473 

Property related income 2.2  35,915  34,022  35,915  34,022 

Services received free of charge 2.3  25,883  33,433  25,883  33,433 

Government contributions towards capital  

& related work
2.4  190,174  167,849  155  1,006 

Other income 2.5  81,522  97,047  51,862  67,207 

Capital asset charge 2.6  2,256,650  2,043,767  2,256,650  2,043,767 

Total income from transactions   2,646,734  2,431,591  2,427,055  2,234,908 

Expenses from transactions:      

Employee benefits 3.2  46,742  45,026  46,742  45,026 

Depreciation & amortisation 4.1.1  870,610  789,893  705,820  635,782 

Finance costs   11,046  44,094  57  32 

Capital asset charge 2.6  2,256,650  2,043,767  2,256,650  2,043,767 

Supplies & services 3.3  55,725  70,633  55,725  70,633 

Other expenses from ordinary activities 3.4  51,253  63,258  51,176  63,189 

Total expenses from transactions   3,292,026  3,056,672  3,116,170  2,858,429 

Net result from transactions (net operating balance)  (645,292) (625,081) (689,115) (623,521)

Other economic flows included in net result:      

Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets 8.4 (68,816) (4,364) (34,729)  2,608 

Other gains/(losses) from other economic flows 8.4 (579)  85 (579)  85 

Total other economic flows included in net result  (69,395) (4,279) (35,308)  2,693 

Net result from continuing operations before tax  (714,687) (629,360) (724,423) (620,828)

Tax equivalent benefit 3.5.1  190,182  186,641  203,129  186,186 

Net result    (524,505) (442,719) (521,294) (434,642)

Other economic flows - other comprehensive income      

Items that will not be reclassified to net results      

Changes in physical asset revaluation surplus  (29,700)  865,200 (29,700)  865,200 

Income tax on physical asset revaluation surplus 3.5.1  7,350  4,466  7,350  4,466 

Total other economic flows - other comprehensive income  (22,350)  869,666 (22,350)  869,666 

Comprehensive result  (546,855)  426,947 (543,646)  435,024 

The comprehensive operating statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the financial statements

Comprehensive operating statement for the year ended 30 June 2019
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 Consolidated Parent

 
 

 
Note

2019
$'000

2018
$'000

2019
$'000

2018
$'000

Assets      

Financial assets      

Cash & deposits 5.5  61,944  64,069  60,794  62,933 

Other financial assets   100  100  -  - 

Trade and other receivables 6.1  38,113  32,826  166,386  161,109 

Total financial assets   100,157  96,995  227,179  224,042 

Non-financial assets      

Prepayments   3,986  2,190  3,986  2,190 

Property, infrastructure, plant & equipment 4.1  38,858,181  36,660,552  34,703,439  32,685,804 

Non-financial assets classified as held for sale 8.5  8,677  10,118  8,677  10,118 

Intangible assets 4.2  -  34,087  -  - 

Total non-financial assets   38,870,845  36,706,947  34,716,103  32,698,112 

Total assets   38,971,002  36,803,942  34,943,283  32,922,154 

Liabilities      

Trade & other payables 6.2  79,285  68,513  78,532  67,701 

Employee related provisions 3.2.1  13,519  12,947  13,519  12,947 

Other provisions 6.3  6,767  -  6,767  - 

Borrowings 5.1  208,853  417,482  1,929  2,032 

Deferred tax liability 3.5.2  2,000,226  2,197,759  1,968,243  2,178,722 

Total liabilities   2,308,648  2,696,701  2,068,989  2,261,402 

Net assets   36,662,354  34,107,241  32,874,293  30,660,752 

Equity      

Contributed capital 5.4  27,769,302  24,667,334  24,231,426  21,474,241 

Physical asset revaluation surplus   11,590,990  11,613,340  11,237,256  11,259,606 

Retained profits/(accumulated losses)  (2,697,938) (2,173,433) (2,594,389) (2,073,095)

Net worth   36,662,354  34,107,241  32,874,293  30,660,752 

Commitments for expenditure 5.6     

Contingent assets & contingent liabilities 7.2     

The balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the financial statements

Balance sheet as at 30 June 2019
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 Contributed 

equity

Physical asset 

revaluation 

surplus

Retained profits/ 

(accumulated 

losses)

Total equity

  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Consolidated      

2019      

Balance as 1 July 2018   24,667,334  11,613,340 (2,173,433)  34,107,241 

Net result for the year   -  - (524,505) (524,505)

Other comprehensive income/(expense) for the year   - (22,350)  - (22,350)

Total comprehensive result for the year   - (22,350) (524,505) (546,855)

      

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:      

Contributions by owners during the year   3,101,968  -  -  3,101,968 

Capital returned during the year   -  -  -  - 

Balance at 30 June 2019   27,769,302  11,590,990 (2,697,938)  36,662,354 

      

2018      

Balance as 1 July 2017   20,287,662  10,743,674 (1,730,714)  29,300,622 

Net result for the year   -  - (442,719) (442,719)

Other comprehensive income/(expense) for the year   -  869,666  -  869,666 

Total comprehensive result for the year   -  869,666 (442,719)  426,947 

      

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:      

Contributions by owners during the year   4,379,672  -  -  4,379,672 

Capital returned during the year   -  -  -  - 

Balance at 30 June 2018   24,667,334  11,613,340 (2,173,433)  34,107,241 

Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 30 June 2019

The statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the financial statements
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 Contributed 

equity

Physical asset 

revaluation 

surplus

Retained profits/ 

(accumulated 

losses)

Total equity

  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Parent      

2019      

Balance as 1 July 2018   21,474,241  11,259,606 (2,073,095)  30,660,752

Net result for the year   -  - (521,294) (521,294)

Other comprehensive income/(expense) for the year   - (22,350)  - (22,350)

Total comprehensive result for the year   - (22,350) (521,294) (543,644)

      

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:     

Contributions by owners during the year   2,757,185  -  -  2,757,185

Capital returned during the year   -  -  -  - 

Balance at 30 June 2019   24,231,426  11,237,256 (2,594,389)  32,874,293

      

2018      

Balance as 1 July 2017   17,657,530  10,389,940 (1,638,455)  26,409,015

Net result for the year   -  - (434,642) (434,642)

Other comprehensive income/(expense) for the year   -  869,666  -  869,666

Total comprehensive result for the year   -  869,666 (434,642)  435,024

      

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:     

Contributions by owners during the year   3,816,711  -  -  3,816,711

Capital returned during the year   -  -  -  -

Balance at 30 June 2018   21,474,241  11,259,606 (2,073,095)  30,660,752

The statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the financial statements
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 Consolidated Parent

 
 

 
Note

2019
$'000

2018
$'000

2019
$'000

2018
$'000

Cash flows from operating activities      

Receipts   395,923  403,644  151,177  169,773 

Interest received   1,136  950  1,118  934 

Receipts from the Victorian Government for:      

- capital asset charge (*)   2,256,650  2,043,767  2,256,650  2,043,767 

- capital & related works (inclusive of GST)  

  & termination payments
  169  1,095  169  1,095 

Total receipts   2,653,878  2,449,456  2,409,114  2,215,569 

      

Payments      

Suppliers (inclusive of GST) & employees  (142,929) (172,472) (123,735) (138,036)

Borrowing costs paid  (11,046) (44,094) (57) (32)

Capital asset charge (*)  (2,256,650) (2,043,767) (2,256,650) (2,043,767)

Goods & services tax paid to the ATO  (7,298) (5,403) (917) (1,950)

Total Payments  (2,417,923) (2,265,736) (2,381,359) (2,183,785)

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities 5.5  235,955  183,720  27,755  31,784 

      

Cash flows from investing activities      

Proceeds from/(payments for):      

Payment for assets acquired using  

government capital contributions
 (3,101,968) (4,379,672) (2,757,185) (3,816,711)

Acquisition of property, plant & equipment  (40,894) (29,545) (40,894) (29,545)

Sale of property, plant & equipment   11,000  9,620  11,000  9,620 

Net cash from/(used in) investing activities  (3,131,862) (4,399,597) (2,787,079) (3,836,636)

      

Cash flows from financing activities       

Proceeds/(payments for):      

Government capital contributions   3,101,968  4,379,672  2,757,185  3,816,711 

Borrowings  (208,186) (151,942)  -  - 

Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities   2,893,782  4,227,730  2,757,185  3,816,711 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held & cash equivalent  (2,125)  11,853 (2,139)  11,859 

Cash & cash equivalent at the beginning  
of the financial year

  64,069  52,216  62,933  51,074 

Cash & cash equivalent at the end of the financial year  5.5  61,944  64,069  60,794  62,933 

Cash flow statement for the year ended 30 June 2019

The cash flow statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the financial statements

(*) The receipt and payment of the capital assets charge does not represent physical movements of cash between the Consolidated Entity and 

the Victorian Government. In accordance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 1994, the capital assets charge is considered a cash 

equivalent item and is therefore included in the Cash flow statement
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1. About this report

This report represents the audited general purpose financial statements for VicTrack and its controlled entities 
("Consolidated Entity") for the year ended 30 June 2019. The Consolidated Entity is a public statutory body  
established under section 8 of the Rail Management Act 1996 and continued in existence under section 116 of the 
Transport Integration Act 2010. The purpose of the report is to provide users with information about the Consolidated 
Entity's stewardship of resources entrusted to it. The nature of the operations and principal activities of the 
Consolidated Entity are described in the Report of operations, which does not form part of these financial statements.

The principal address is: Level 8, 1010 La Trobe Street, Docklands Victoria 3008.

Basis of preparation
These financial statements are in Australian dollars and the historical cost convention is used unless a different 
measurement basis is specifically disclosed in the note associated with the item measured on a different basis. 

The accrual basis of accounting has been applied in preparing these financial statements, whereby assets, liabilities, 
equity, income and expenses are recognised in the reporting period to which they relate, regardless of when cash is 
received or paid.

Consistent with the requirements of AASB 1004: Contributions, contributions by owners (that is, contributed capital 
and its repayment) are treated as equity transactions and, therefore, do not form part of the income and expenses of 
the Consolidated Entity.

Additions to net assets which have been designated as contributions by owners are recognised as contributed capital.

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about the carrying values of assets and liabilities 
that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on professional 
judgements derived from historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and also in future periods 
that are affected by the revision. Judgements and assumptions made by management in applying AAS that have 
significant effects on the financial statements and estimates are disclosed in the notes under the heading: 'Significant 
judgement or estimates'.

Basis of consolidation
In accordance with AASB 10: Consolidated Financial Statements the consolidated financial statements of the 
Consolidated Entity incorporates assets and liabilities of all reporting entities controlled by the Consolidated Entity as 
at 30 June 2019, and their income and expenses for that part of the reporting period in which control existed.

Where control of an entity is obtained during the financial period, its results are included in the comprehensive 
operating statement from the date on which control commenced. Where control ceases during a financial period, the 
entity's results are included for that part of the period in which control existed. Where dissimilar accounting policies 
are adopted by entities and their effect is considered material, adjustments are made to ensure consistent policies 
are adopted in these financial statements. In the process of preparing consolidated financial statements for the 
Consolidated Entity, all material transactions and balances between consolidated entities are eliminated. Entities 
consolidated into the Parent Entity are listed in Note 8.3 Related Parties.
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Going concern
These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the continuity of normal 
business operations and the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities in accordance with the normal course of 
business. The ability of the Consolidated Entity to continue paying its debts as and when they fall due is dependent 
on existing contractual arrangements for the provision of services to customers, acquisition of new rolling stock and 
payments to financiers with respect to rolling stock previously acquired under lease or finance, continuing to operate 
as originally intended. In respect of rolling stock previously acquired under lease or finance, the arrangements whereby 
PTV makes all payments to the lessors or financiers on behalf of the Consolidated Entity is confirmed by the Letter of 
Support provided by the Department of Transport ("DoT") dated 2 July 2019 covering the period until September 2020.

On the basis of the above factors, the Directors are of the opinion that the Consolidated Entity is a going concern and 
can pay its debts as and when they fall due.

Rounding
All amounts shown in the financial statements are expressed by reference to the nearest thousand dollars unless 
otherwise specified.

Compliance Information
These general-purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Financial Management Act 
1994, Australian Accounting Standards ("AAS") and other authoritative pronouncements issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board ("AASB").

The entity is a not-for-profit entity for reporting purposes under Australian Accounting Standards and FRD 108C 
Classification of entities as for profit. Where appropriate, those AAS's paragraphs applicable to not-forprofit entities 
have been applied. Accounting policies selected and applied in these financial statements ensure that the resulting 
financial information satisfies the concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of the 
underlying transactions or other events is reported.
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Introduction
The Consolidated Entity owns much of Victoria's public transport land, assets and infrastructure and works to protect 
and grow the value of the portfolio, to support a thriving transport system and make travel and living better for 
Victorians.

To enable the Consolidated Entity to fulfil its objectives and provide outputs, it receives income from telecommunication 
services, management of land set aside for transport purposes, including development and sale of land no longer 
required for transport and project management and civil engineering services for rail infrastructure projects.

Summary of income from transactions

 Consolidated Parent

 

 Note

2019

$'000

2018

$'000

2019

$'000

2018

$'000

Continuing operations      

Income from transactions:      

Telecommunication services 2.1  56,590  55,473  56,590  55,473 

Property related income 2.2  35,915  34,022  35,915  34,022 

Services received free of charge 2.3  25,883  33,433  25,883  33,433 

Government contributions towards  

capital & related work
2.4  190,174  167,849  155  1,006 

Other income 2.5  81,522  97,047  51,862  67,207 

Capital asset charge 2.6  2,256,650  2,043,767  2,256,650  2,043,767 

Total income from transactions   2,646,736  2,431,591  2,427,057  2,234,908 

Income is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Income is disclosed, where applicable, 
net of returns, allowances, duties and taxes.

The Consolidated Entity recognises income when the amount of income can be reliably measured, it is probable that 
future economic benefits will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been met for each of the Consolidated  
Entity's activities as described below. The Consolidated Entity bases its estimates on historical results, taking into 
consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

2. Funding delivery of our services
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2.1 Telecommunication services
Income from telecommunications services, property services, advertising, infrastructure management and lease of the 
interstate rail corridors is recognised when services are provided by the Consolidated Entity.

2.2 Property related income
Leasehold improvements/renewals undertaken by lessees/sub-lessees and assets provided by other parties are  
recognised as works are performed on the assets/improvements based on confirmations received from the other parties.

2.3 Services received free of charge
This relates to resources free of charge received by Public Transport Victoria ("PTV") for the operational use of myki 
assets. These are recognised at fair value when control is obtained over them, irrespective of whether these  
contributions are subject to restrictions or conditions over their use.

2.4 Government contributions towards capital and related work
Government contributions towards capital and related costs are recognised when the Consolidated Entity gains control 
of the underlying assets.

2.5 Other income

 Consolidated Parent

 

Note 

2019

$'000

2018

$'000

2019

$'000

2019

$'000

Interest income 2.5.1  1,136  950  1,118  934 

Rolling stock lease income  2.5.2  29,225  29,225  -  - 

Infrastructure management revenue 2.5.3  38,215  55,681  38,215  55,681 

Other   12,946  11,191  12,529  10,592 

Total other income   81,522  97,047  51,862  67,207 
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2.5.1 Interest income
Interest income includes unwinding over time of discounts on financial assets and interest received on bank term 
deposits and other investments.

Interest income is recognised on a time proportionate basis that takes into account the effective yield on the financial 
asset.

2.5.2 Rolling Stock lease income
Lease income from leases where the Consolidated Entity is the lessor is recognised on a straight- line basis over the 
term of the relevant lease. The respective leased assets are included in the balance sheet based on their nature.

The lessee does not have an option to purchase the rolling stock at the expiry of the lease period.

 

Non-cancellable operating lease receivables 
2019

$'000

2018

$'000

Not longer than one year   29,225  29,225 

Longer than one year but not longer than five years   10,396  39,620 

Longer than five years   -  - 

Total   39,621  68,845 

2.5.3 Infrastructure management revenue
Infrastructure management revenue includes income for customer construction projects. Customer construction 
projects are operating construction works on public transport sites where VicTrack is best placed to deliver these 
projects. They are often part of larger Government funded projects that may ultimately be transferred to VicTrack's 
asset base through an equity transfer eg. level crossing removals. The revenue is recognised as work is performed.

2.6 Capital asset charge
The capital asset charge is the estimate of the cost of capital investment in government assets i.e. the return that could 
be achieved were the government to direct its capital towards the next best investment of comparable risk.  
It is imposed on the Consolidated Entity by the Victorian Government's Department of Treasury and Finance ("DTF").

The purpose of this notional charge is to increase the awareness of the costs of assets for management to make 
improved resource allocation and investment decisions.

The capital asset charge is shown as both a revenue and an expense from ordinary activities in the comprehensive 
operating statement, meaning that there is no impact on the operating result for the year, nor on the balance sheet  
as at 30 June 2019.

Although the receipt and payment of the capital asset charge does not represent physical movements of cash, the 
capital asset charge has been disclosed in the cash flow statement as it is considered a cash equivalent item under the 
provisions of the Financial Management Act 1994.
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3. The cost of delivering services

Introduction
This section provides an account of the expenses incurred by the Consolidated Entity in delivering its services. In Section 
2, the funds that enable the provision of services were disclosed and in this note the cost associated with provision of 
services are recorded.

3.1 Expenses incurred in delivery of services

 Consolidated Parent

 

 Note

2019

$'000

2018

$'000

2019

$'000

2018

$'000

Employee benefits 3.2  46,742  45,026  46,742  45,026 

Supplies of services 3.3  55,725  70,633  55,725  70,633 

Other expenses from ordinary activities 3.4  51,253  63,259  51,176  63,189 

Capital asset charge 2.6  2,256,650  2,043,767  2,256,650  2,043,767 

   2,410,371  2,222,685  2,410,293  2,222,615 

3.2 Employee benefits in the comprehensive operating statement

Employee benefits      

 

 

 

Note 

Consolidated Parent

2019

$'000

2018

$'000

2019

$'000

2018

$'000

Salaries & wages, annual leave & long service leave   36,671  33,715  36,671  33,715 

Associated labour on-costs   3,226  3,222  3,226  3,222 

Increase in provision for employee entitlements   1,548  2,209  1,548  2,209 

Post- employment benefits      

Superannuation contributions 3.2.2  4,988  4,793  4,988  4,793 

Termination payments   308  1,087  308  1,087 

Total employee benefits   46,742  45,026  46,742  45,026 

These expenses include all costs related to employment (other than superannuation which is accounted for separately) 
including wages and salaries, fringe benefits tax, leave entitlements, redundancy payments and WorkCover premiums

The amount recognised in the comprehensive operating statement in relation to superannuation is employer 
contributions for members of both defined benefit and defined contribution superannuation plans that are paid or 
payable during the reporting period. The Consolidated Entity does not recognise any defined benefit liabilities because it 
has no legal or constructive obligation to pay future benefits relating to its employees. Instead DTF discloses in its annual 
financial statements the net defined benefit cost related to the members of these plans as an administered liability (on 
behalf of the State as the sponsoring employer).
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3.2.1 Employee benefits in the balance sheet
Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and long service 
leave (LSI) for services rendered to the reporting date and recorded as an expense during the period the services are 
delivered.

 

 
Consolidated Parent

2019

$'000

2018

$'000

2019

$'000

2018

$'000

Employee benefits 

Current provisions     

Annual leave     

Unconditional & expected to settle within 12 months   3,134  3,106  3,134  3,106 

Unconditional & expected to settle after 12 months   87  91  87  91 

Long service leave     

Unconditional & expected to settle within 12 months   563  539  563  539 

Unconditional & expected to settle after 12 months   5,951  5,255  5,951  5,255 

Other employee benefits     

Unconditional and expected to settle within 12 months   1,303  1,379  1,303  1,379 

   11,038  10,370  11,038  10,370 

Provision for on-costs     

Unconditional & expected to settle within 12 months  757  761  757  761 

Unconditional & expected to settle after 12 months  914  810  914  810 

   1,671  1,571  1,671  1,571 

Total current provisions 12,709  11,941  12,709  11,941 

     

Non-Current provisions     

Employee benefits  703  873  703  873 

On-costs   107  133  107  133 

Total non-current provisions  810  1,006  810 1,006

Total employee benefits provisions  13,519  12,947  13,519  12,947
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Employee benefits – wages, salaries and annual leave
Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect for wages and salaries, annual leave and long service for 
services provided during the reporting period.

Liabilities for wages and salaries and annual leave are all recognised in the provision for employee benefits as current liabilities, 
because the Consolidated Entity does not have an unconditional right to defer settlements of these liabilities.

Depending on the expectation of the timing of settlement, liabilities for wages and salaries and annual leave are measured at:

• nominal value – if the Consolidated Entity expects to wholly settle within 12 months; or

• present value – if the Consolidated Entity does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months.

Employee benefits – long service leave (LSL)
Liability for LSL is recognised in the provision for employee benefits.

Unconditional LSL is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements as a current liability, even where the 
Consolidated Entity does not expect to settle the liability within 12 months because it will not have the unconditional 
right to defer the settlement of the entitlement should an employee take leave within 12 months.

The components of this current LSL liability are measured at:

• nominal value – if the Consolidated Entity expects to wholly settle within 12 months; or

• present value – if the Consolidated Entity does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months.

Conditional LSL is disclosed as a non-current liability. There is an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the 
entitlement until the employee has completed the requisite years of service. This non-current LSL liability is measured 
at present value.

Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present value of non-current LSL liability is recognised in the 'net result 
from transactions', except to the extent that a gain or loss arises due to changes in bond interest rates for which it is 
then recognised in the net result as another economic flow.

On-costs on employee benefits
On-costs on employee benefits, including payroll tax, are recognised and included in employee benefit liabilities and 
costs when the employee benefits to which they relate are recognised as liabilities.
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3.2.2 Superannuation
Employees of the Consolidated Entity are entitled to receive superannuation benefits and the Consolidated Entity 
contributes to both defined benefit and defined contribution plans. The defined benefit plan(s) provides benefits based 
on years of service and final average salary.

As noted above, the defined benefit liability is recognised in DTF as an administered liability. However, superannuation 
contributions paid or payable for the reporting period are included as part of employee benefits in the comprehensive 
operating statement of the Consolidated Entity.

Details of major employee superannuation funds to which the Consolidated Entity contributes are as follows:

Superannuation fund (a)

 30 June 2019 

Contributions

Contributions 

outstanding 

as at 30 June 

2019

30 June 2018 

Contributions

Contributions 

outstanding 

as at 30 June 

2018

  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Defined benefit plans (b)

Transport superannuation scheme   452  9  398  7 

State superannuation scheme   357  5  308  4 

    

Defined contribution plans      

VicSuper   1,813  166  1,795  235 

Other   2,366  339  2,292  413 

   4,988  519  4,793  659 

(a) These superannuation contributions relate to VicTrack as the Parent Entity. Rolling Stock Holdings (Victoria) Pty Limited and its subsidiary companies, which form the 

Consolidated Entity with the Parent Entity, does not employ any staff

(b) The basis for determining the level of contributions is determined by the various actuaries of the defined benefit superannuation plans
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3.3 Supplies and services 
Supplies and services expenses are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are incurred.

 

 
Consolidated Parent

2019

$'000

2018

$'000

2019

$'000

2018

$'000

Property services (including land tax)   6,823  12,489  6,823  12,489 

Telecommunications expenses   9,576  9,343  9,576  9,343 

Contract & other payments   39,326  48,801  39,326  48,801 

Total supplies and services   55,725  70,633  55,725  70,633 

3.4 Other expenses from ordinary activities
Other operating expenses generally represent the day to day running costs incurred in normal operations and also 
includes customer construction expense. Customer construction expenses are operating construction projects on 
transport sites where VicTrack is best placed to deliver these projects. They are often part of larger Government funded 
projects that may ultimately be transferred to VicTrack's asset base through an equity transfer eg. level crossing 
removals. The expenses are recognised in the reporting period in which they are incurred.

 

 
Consolidated Parent

2019

$'000

2018

$'000

2019

$'000

2018

$'000

Bad debts   21  60  21  60 

Insurance premiums   550  481  550  481 

Legal fees   512  502  512  502 

Occupancy costs   2,125  2,206  2,125  2,206 

Customer construction expense   39,030  50,476  39,030  50,476 

Other expenses   9,015  9,534  8,938  9,464 

Total other operating expenses   51,253  63,259  51,176  63,189 
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3.5 National tax equivalent regime
By direction of the Treasurer of Victoria under the State-Owned Enterprises Act 1992, the Consolidated Entity is subject 
to the national tax equivalent regime ("NTER"), but limited to the income tax component of the NTER.

3.5.1 Tax equivalent expense
 

 
Consolidated Parent

2019

$'000

2018

$'000

2019

$'000

2018

$'000

Income Tax

Current income tax (expense)/benefit   90,727  110,270  107,754  90,459 

Adjustment in respect of current income tax of previous years  328 (38,931) -  - 

Deferred income tax   99,126  115,302  95,375  95,728 

Total income tax (expense)/benefit   190,182  186,641  203,129  186,186 

      

Income tax reconciliation      

Accounting profit/(loss) before tax  (714,687) (629,361) (724,423) (620,829)

Income tax (expense)/benefit at company tax rate of 30%  214,406  188,808  217,327 186,248

Non-allowable items  (24,224) (2,167) (14,197) (62)

   190,182  186,641  203,129  186,186 

Deferred income tax revenue/(expense) included in income tax expense

(Increase)/decrease in deferred tax liabilities   49,538  117,992  57  11,828 

Increase/(decrease) in deferred tax assets   49,588 (2,690)  95,318  83,899 

   99,126  115,302  95,375  95,728 

Amounts charged directly to equity      

Revaluation reserves      

Revaluation of plant and equipment   7,350  4,466  7,350  4,466 

Current tax
Current tax is calculated by reference to the amount of income taxes payable or recoverable in respect of the taxable 
profit or tax loss for the period. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted 
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior 
periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities.

Deferred tax
Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.



78    VicTrack Annual Report 2018-19

3.5.2 Deferred tax balances in the balance sheet
Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences except:

• when the liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a 
business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit 
or loss; or

• when the taxable temporary difference is associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates or interests in joint 
ventures, and the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled, and it is probable that the 
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that future 
taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. 

Significant judgement: Significant management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that 
can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and the level of future taxable profits over the next two years together with 
future tax planning strategies.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period. They are reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available and unrecognised deferred tax assets are recognised 
to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the 
Consolidated Entity intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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Consolidated Parent

2019

$'000

2018

$'000

2019

$'000

2018

$'000

Deferred tax assets      

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:     

Fair value of loan   63  169  -  - 

Finance lease liability   70,016  83,046  579  610 

Accrued leave   4,586  3,884  4,586  3,884 

Provision for asset decommissioning   -  3,001  3,001  3,001 

Accrued interest   4  -  4  - 

Doubtful debts   40  46  40  46 

Accelerated depreciation   133,925  68,900  178,383  83,734 

Losses available for offset   854,995  763,939  653,418  545,662 

Total deferred tax assets   1,063,628  922,984  840,010  636,937 

      

Deferred tax liabilities     

The balance comprises temporary differences 

attributable to:
     

Revaluation of plant & equipment  (2,970,683) (2,978,033) (2,807,676) (2,815,025)

Finance lease assets  (93,154) (142,654) (576) (608)

Fair value of loan  (19) (30)  -  - 

Accrued Interest   - (26)  - (26)

Total deferred tax liabilities  (3,063,856) (3,120,743) (2,808,252) (2,815,659)

      

Net deferred tax assets/(liabilities)  (2,000,226) (2,197,759) (1,968,243) (2,178,722)

      

Movement in deferred tax assets/(liabilities)      

Opening balance  (2,197,759) (2,388,865) (2,178,722) (2,369,374)

Charged to income tax expense   99,126  115,302  95,375  95,728 

Charged to equity   7,350  4,466  7,350  4,466 

Movement in tax losses   91,056  71,337  107,754  90,458 

Closing balance  (2,000,226) (2,197,759) (1,968,243) (2,178,722)
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The Consolidated Entity controls transport and communications assets that are utilised in fulfilling its objectives and 
conducting its activities. They represent the resources the Consolidated Entity utilises for delivery of its services. 

4.1 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are classified primarily by the 'purpose' for which the assets are used, according to 
one of six purpose groups based upon government purpose classifications. All assets in a purpose group are further 
sub categorised according to the asset's 'nature' (i.e. buildings, plant etc.) with each sub category being classified as 
a separate class of asset for financial reporting purposes. All of the Consolidated Entity's assets belong to the one 
purpose group for the purpose of FRD 103H: Non-financial physical assets.

 

 
Consolidated Parent

2019

$'000

2018

$'000

2019

$'000

2018

$'000

Land     

Rail corridor land - at fair value 3,116,615 3,118,458 3,116,615 3,118,458

Non-rail corridor land - at fair value 2,271,059 2,280,552 2,271,059 2,280,552

Total land 5,387,674 5,399,010 5,387,674 5,399,010

Buildings & structures     

Net fair value 7,228,664 7,231,530 7,228,664 7,231,530

Accumulated depreciation (591,975) (440,668) (591,975) (440,668)

Carrying amount 6,636,689 6,790,862 6,636,689 6,790,862
Cost & allocation statement valuation 3,629,948 3,074,557 3,629,948 3,074,557

Accumulated depreciation (56,325) (16,891) (56,325) (16,891)

Carrying amount 3,573,623 3,057,666 3,573,623 3,057,666
Total buildings & structures after depreciation 10,210,312 9,848,528 10,210,312 9,848,528

Track     

Net fair value 7,006,820 7,052,520 7,006,820 7,052,520

Accumulated depreciation (694,276) (526,488) (694,276) (526,488)

Carrying amount 6,312,544 6,526,032 6,312,544 6,526,032
Cost & allocation statement valuation 1,601,784 478,010 1,601,784 478,010

Accumulated depreciation (38,087) (6,878) (38,087) (6,878)

Carrying amount 1,563,697 471,132 1,563,697 471,132
Total track after depreciation 7,876,241 6,997,164 7,876,241 6,997,164

4. Key assets available to support service delivery

Purpose group - transportation and communications
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Signals & communication     

Net fair value 3,091,701 3,097,604 3,091,701 3,097,604

Accumulated depreciation (737,139) (562,033) (737,139) (562,033)

Carrying amount 2,354,562 2,535,571 2,354,562 2,535,571
Cost & allocation statement valuation 1,106,553 859,314 1,106,553 859,314

Accumulated depreciation (59,960) (24,625) (59,960) (24,625)

Carrying amount 1,046,593 834,689 1,046,593 834,689
Total signals & communication after depreciation 3,401,155 3,370,260 3,401,155 3,370,260

Plant & equipment     

Net fair value 4,507,227 4,251,405 1,101,524 1,103,724

Accumulated depreciation (878,008) (683,106) (252,909) (190,180)

Carrying amount 3,629,219 3,568,299 848,615 913,544
Finance lease net fair value 936,730 936,878 2,580 2,728

Accumulated depreciation (131,127) (98,553) (661) (703)

Carrying amount 805,603 838,325 1,919 2,025
Cost 308,590 132,670 308,590 132,670

Accumulated depreciation (17,825) (7,809) (17,825) (7,809)

Carrying amount 290,765 124,861 290,765 124,861
Total plant & equipment after depreciation 4,725,587 4,531,485 1,141,299 1,040,430

Intangibles software & licences     

Net fair value 270,068 266,159 270,068 266,159

Accumulated amortisation (175,998) (150,283) (175,998) (150,283)

Total intangibles software & licences after amortisation 94,070 115,876 94,070 115,876

Capital works in progress     

Leasehold improvements/renewals 6,459,899 5,807,045 6,459,899 5,807,045

Rolling stock under construction 570,453 483,693  -  - 

Other 132,788 107,491 132,788 107,491

Total capital works in progress 7,163,140 6,398,229 6,592,687 5,914,536
Total property, infrastructure, plant & equipment 38,858,181 36,660,552 34,703,439 32,685,804
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Land Buildings & structures Track Signals & communications Plant & equipment Intangible  

- software & licenses

WIP Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Consolidated         

2019

 Carrying amount at 1 July 2018 5,399,010 9,848,528 6,997,164 3,370,260 4,531,485 115,876 6,398,229 36,660,552

Additions  -  -  - 2,620 817  - 3,184,315 3,187,752

Disposals (7,576) (587) (50,738)  - (103)  - (32,253) (91,257)

Assets held for sale 1,441  -  -  -  -  -  - 1,441

Impairment of assets  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Revaluation movement (5,201) (1,758) (14,977) (5,672) (2,092)  -  - (29,700)

Depreciation charge for the year  - (190,262) (201,831) (213,339) (238,463) (25,715)  - (870,610)

Transferred from WIP  - 555,390 1,146,623 247,286 433,942 3,909 (2,387,151)  - 

Carrying value at 30 June 2019 5,387,674 10,210,312 7,876,241 3,401,155 4,725,587 94,070 7,163,140 38,858,181

2018         

 Carrying amount at 1 July 2017 4,375,845 7,443,108 6,851,238 2,916,609 4,249,781 140,579 6,216,082 32,193,242

Additions 144,000  -  -  - 1,240  - 4,258,648 4,403,888

Disposals (3,490)  -  -  - (566)  - - (4,056)

Assets held for sale (7,830)  -  -  -  -  -  - (7,830)

Impairment of assets  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Revaluation movement 883,000 (17,329)  - (471)  -  -  - 865,200

Depreciation charge for the year  - (164,310) (180,252) (196,906) (223,093) (25,331)  - (789,892)

Transferred from WIP 7,485 2,587,059 326,178 651,028 504,123 628 (4,076,501)  - 

Carrying value at 30 June 2018 5,399,010 9,848,528 6,997,164 3,370,260 4,531,485 115,876 6,398,229 36,660,552

Parent         

2019

Carrying amount at 1 July 2018 5,399,010 9,848,528 6,997,164 3,370,260 1,040,430 115,876 5,914,536 32,685,804

Additions  -  -  - 2,620 817  - 2,839,531 2,842,968

Disposals (7,576) (587) (50,738)  - (103)  - (32,253) (91,257)

Asset held for sale 1,441  -  -  -  -  -  - 1,441

Impairment of assets  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Revaluation movement (5,201) (1,758) (14,977) (5,672) (2,092)  -  - (29,700)

Depreciation charge for the year  - (191,262) (201,831) (213,339) (73,673) (25,715)  - (705,820)

Transferred from WIP  - 555,390 1,146,623 247,286 175,919 3,909 (2,129,127)  - 

Carrying value at 30 June 2019 5,387,674 10,210,312 7,876,241 3,401,155 1,141,299 94,070 6,592,687 34,703,439

2018

Carrying amount at 1 July 2017 4,375,845 7,443,108 6,851,238 2,916,609 1,035,479 140,579 5,864,485 28,627,343

Additions 144,000  -  -  - 1,240  - 3,695,688 3,840,928

Disposals (3,490)  -  -  - (566)  -  - (4,056)

Asset held for sale (7,830)  -  -  -  -  -  - (7,830)

Impairment of assets  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Reveluation movement 883,000 (17,329)  - (471)  -  -  - 865,200

Depreciation charge for the year  - (164,310) (180,252) (196,906) (68,982) (25,331)  - (635,781)

Transferred from WIP 7,485 2,587,059 326,178 651,028 73,259 628 (3,645,637)  - 

Carrying value at 30 June 2018 5,399,010 9,848,528 6,997,164 3,370,260 1,040,430 115,876 5,914,536 32,685,804

Reconciliation of carrying amounts at the beginning and end of the year
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Land Buildings & structures Track Signals & communications Plant & equipment Intangible  

- software & licenses

WIP Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Consolidated         

2019

 Carrying amount at 1 July 2018 5,399,010 9,848,528 6,997,164 3,370,260 4,531,485 115,876 6,398,229 36,660,552

Additions  -  -  - 2,620 817  - 3,184,315 3,187,752

Disposals (7,576) (587) (50,738)  - (103)  - (32,253) (91,257)

Assets held for sale 1,441  -  -  -  -  -  - 1,441

Impairment of assets  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Revaluation movement (5,201) (1,758) (14,977) (5,672) (2,092)  -  - (29,700)

Depreciation charge for the year  - (190,262) (201,831) (213,339) (238,463) (25,715)  - (870,610)

Transferred from WIP  - 555,390 1,146,623 247,286 433,942 3,909 (2,387,151)  - 

Carrying value at 30 June 2019 5,387,674 10,210,312 7,876,241 3,401,155 4,725,587 94,070 7,163,140 38,858,181

2018         

 Carrying amount at 1 July 2017 4,375,845 7,443,108 6,851,238 2,916,609 4,249,781 140,579 6,216,082 32,193,242

Additions 144,000  -  -  - 1,240  - 4,258,648 4,403,888

Disposals (3,490)  -  -  - (566)  - - (4,056)

Assets held for sale (7,830)  -  -  -  -  -  - (7,830)

Impairment of assets  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Revaluation movement 883,000 (17,329)  - (471)  -  -  - 865,200

Depreciation charge for the year  - (164,310) (180,252) (196,906) (223,093) (25,331)  - (789,892)

Transferred from WIP 7,485 2,587,059 326,178 651,028 504,123 628 (4,076,501)  - 

Carrying value at 30 June 2018 5,399,010 9,848,528 6,997,164 3,370,260 4,531,485 115,876 6,398,229 36,660,552

Parent         

2019

Carrying amount at 1 July 2018 5,399,010 9,848,528 6,997,164 3,370,260 1,040,430 115,876 5,914,536 32,685,804

Additions  -  -  - 2,620 817  - 2,839,531 2,842,968

Disposals (7,576) (587) (50,738)  - (103)  - (32,253) (91,257)

Asset held for sale 1,441  -  -  -  -  -  - 1,441

Impairment of assets  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Revaluation movement (5,201) (1,758) (14,977) (5,672) (2,092)  -  - (29,700)

Depreciation charge for the year  - (191,262) (201,831) (213,339) (73,673) (25,715)  - (705,820)

Transferred from WIP  - 555,390 1,146,623 247,286 175,919 3,909 (2,129,127)  - 

Carrying value at 30 June 2019 5,387,674 10,210,312 7,876,241 3,401,155 1,141,299 94,070 6,592,687 34,703,439

2018

Carrying amount at 1 July 2017 4,375,845 7,443,108 6,851,238 2,916,609 1,035,479 140,579 5,864,485 28,627,343

Additions 144,000  -  -  - 1,240  - 3,695,688 3,840,928

Disposals (3,490)  -  -  - (566)  -  - (4,056)

Asset held for sale (7,830)  -  -  -  -  -  - (7,830)

Impairment of assets  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Reveluation movement 883,000 (17,329)  - (471)  -  -  - 865,200

Depreciation charge for the year  - (164,310) (180,252) (196,906) (68,982) (25,331)  - (635,781)

Transferred from WIP 7,485 2,587,059 326,178 651,028 73,259 628 (3,645,637)  - 

Carrying value at 30 June 2018 5,399,010 9,848,528 6,997,164 3,370,260 1,040,430 115,876 5,914,536 32,685,804
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Initial recognition 
All non-financial physical assets are recognised initially at cost and subsequently revalued at fair value less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment in accordance with the requirements of FRD103H: Non-Financial Physical 
Assets. Where an asset is acquired for no or nominal cost, the cost is its fair value at the date of acquisition.

The cost of constructed non-financial physical assets includes the cost of all materials used in construction, direct 
labour on the project and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overheads. 

The initial cost for non-financial physical assets under a finance lease is measured at amounts equal to the fair value 
of the leased asset or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments, each determined at the inception of 
the lease.

Purchased intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. Subsequently, intangible assets with finite useful lives are 
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation and amortisation 
begins when the asset is available for use, that is, when it is in the location and condition necessary for it to be capable 
of operating in the manner intended by management.

Subsequent measurement
Property, plant and equipment are subsequently measured at fair value less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment. Fair value is determined with regard to the asset's highest and best use (considering legal or physical 
restrictions imposed on the asset, public announcements or commitments made in relation to the intended use of the 
asset) and is summarised by asset category above.

The last independent valuation of non-financial physical assets was at 30 June 2015 by the Valuer-General Victoria 
("VGV").

Intangible produced assets with finite useful lives, are depreciated as an 'expense from transactions' on a straight-line 
basis over their useful lives.

Specialised land 
The Consolidated Entity recognises two major classes of land - rail corridor land and non-rail corridor land. Non-rail 
corridor land is used for commercial purposes whilst rail corridor land is used as a rail reserve. 

Rail corridor land is based on the assessed market value of the land and is discounted by 75 per cent in accordance 
with the VGV's Community Service Obligations. The basis of the valuation of non-rail corridor land is market value, 
with adjustments being made, where appropriate, for variations in the size and quality of each land parcel.

Specialised buildings, infrastructure assets, and plant and equipment
Specialised buildings, infrastructure assets and plant and equipment assets are valued using the depreciated 
replacement cost method. This cost generally represents the replacement cost of the building/component after 
applying depreciation rates on a useful life basis.

Assets pledged as security
Security has been granted on assets under construction and subject to financing.



  85

4.1.1 Depreciation and amortisation
 

 
Consolidated Parent

2019

$'000

2018

$'000

2019

$'000

2018

$'000

Buildings & structures   191,262  164,310  191,262  164,310 

Track   201,831  181,179  201,831  181,179 

Signals & communications   213,339  195,980  213,339  195,980 

Plant & equipment   238,463  223,093  73,673  68,982 

Intangibles software & licences   25,715  25,331  25,715  25,331 

Total depreciation & amortisation   870,610  789,893  705,820  635,782 

Estimation of useful lives
The estimation of the useful lives of assets has been based on historical experience as well as manufacturers' 
warranties (for plant and equipment) and lease terms (for leased equipment). In addition, the condition of the assets 
is assessed at least once per year and considered against the remaining useful life. Adjustments to useful lives are 
made when considered necessary.

All infrastructure assets, buildings, plant and equipment and other non-financial physical assets (excluding items 
under operating leases, assets held for sale, land and investment properties) that have finite useful lives are 
depreciated. Depreciation is generally calculated on a straight-line basis, at rates that allocate the asset's fair value, 
less any estimated residual value, over its estimated useful life. Intangible non produced assets with finite lives are 
amortised as another economic flows on a systematic (typically straight-line) basis over the asset's useful life.

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting 
period, and adjustments made where appropriate. The range of depreciation rates used for each class of asset is as 
follows:

Asset class Depreciation rates Useful life

Buildings & structures 1.0% to 2.5% 40 to 100 years

Track 1.0% to 2.0% 50 to 100 years

Signals & communications 3.0% to 3.3% 30 to 33 years

Plant & equipment 2.5% to 10% 10 to 40 years

Software & licences 3.0% to 14% 7 to 33 years

Rolling stock 2.5% to 3.3% 30 to 40 years

The above rates are the same as those applied in the previous financial year. Land is considered to have indefinite life 
and is not depreciated.
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4.1.2 Impairment of non-financial physical assets
Non-financial assets, including items of property, plant and equipment, are tested for impairment whenever there is 
an indication that the asset may be impaired.

If there is an indication of impairment, the assets concerned are tested as to whether their carrying value exceeds 
their recoverable amount. Where an asset's carrying value exceeds its recoverable amount, the difference is written 
off as another economic flow, except to the extent that the write down can be debited to an asset revaluation 
surplus amount applicable to that class of asset.

If there is an indication that there has been a reversal in the estimate of an asset's recoverable amount since the last 
impairment loss was recognised, the carrying amount shall be increased to its recoverable amount. The impairment 
loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would 
have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised in prior years.

It is deemed that, in the event of the loss or destruction of an asset, the future economic benefits arising from the 
use of the asset will be replaced unless a specific decision to the contrary has been made. The recoverable amount 
for most assets is measured at the higher of depreciated replacement cost and fair value less costs to sell.

4.2 Intangible assets 

 Consolidated Parent

 

 

2019

$'000

2018

$'000

2019

$'000

2018

$'000

Opening balance  34,087  41,059 - -

Impairment (34,087) (6,972) - -

 -  34,087  -  - 

The total impairment loss recognised in the statement of comprehensive income during the year amounted to  
$34m and is separately presented in the statement of comprehensive income.

Goodwill is allocated to the Consolidated Entity's sole cash-generating unit, which is the leasing business. The 
recoverable amount of the cash generating unit is determined based on value-in-use calculations. During the year, 
goodwill has been fully impaired as the cash generating unit's value in use was determined to be less than the  
carrying amount.
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This section provides information on the sources of finance and assets contributed by PTV and DoT which are utilised 
by the Consolidated Entity during its operations, along with interest expenses (the cost of borrowings) and other 
information related to financing activities.

5.1 Borrowings

  Consolidated Parent

 

 

 

Note 

2019

$'000

2018

$'000

2019

$'000

2018

$'000

Secured loan   107,864  140,663  -  - 

Lease liability 5.2  100,989  276,819  1,929  2,032 

   208,853  417,482  1,929  2,032 

Reconciled by      

Current      

Secured loan   36,537  37,030  -  - 

Lease liability   100,060  176,717  1,000  990 

   136,597  213,747  1,000  990 

Non-current      

Secured loan   71,326  103,633  -  - 

Lease liability   929  100,102  929  1,042 

   72,255  203,735  929  1,042 

Total borrowings   208,853  417,482  1,929  2,032 

'Borrowings' refer to interest bearing liabilities mainly raised from public borrowings raised through the Treasury 
Corporation of Victoria ("TCV"), finance leases and other interest-bearing arrangements. 

Borrowings are classified as financial instruments. All interest-bearing borrowings are initially recognised at the fair 
value of the consideration received less directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequently they are recorded at 
amortised cost. Interest is accrued over the period it becomes due and is recorded as part of trade and other  
payables at year end.

The premium that arose on the secured loans as a result of being recorded at their fair value is being amortised over  
the repayment period of the secured loans. 

The loans in the Rolling Stock Holdings entities are secured by way of fixed charge over the assets.

Fair value, maturity and risks
The disclosures of the fair values of borrowings, maturity analysis and nature and extent of risks are disclosed in  
Note 7 Risks, contingencies and valuations.

Defaults and breaches
During the current and prior year, there were no defaults and breaches of any borrowings.

5. How we financed our operations
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5.2 Finance lease

Consolidated Entity as lessee

Consolidated Parent

  
2019

$'000

2018

$'000

2019

$'000

2018

$'000  

Within one year   113,776  212,652  1,048  1,022 

One year or later & not later than five years   945  113,810  945  1,082 

Later than five years   -  -  -  - 

Minimum finance lease payments   114,721  326,462  1,993  2,104 

Less:      

Recoverable GST  (9,906) (27,479)  -  - 

Future finance lease charges  (3,826) (22,164) (64) (72)

Present value of minimum finance lease payments   100,989  276,819  1,929  2,032 

At the commencement of the lease term, finance leases are initially recognised as assets and liabilities at amounts  
equal to the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payment, each 
determined at the inception of the lease. The leased asset is accounted for as a non-financial physical asset and 
depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the term of the lease. Minimum finance lease 
payments are apportioned between the reduction of the outstanding lease liability and the periodic finance expense 
which is calculated using the interest rate implicit in the lease and charged directly to the consolidated comprehensive 
operating statement.

Finance leases relating to the introduction of new rolling stock have an average lease term of 15 years (2018: 15 years) 
and an average implicit discount rate of 9.89 per cent (2018: 9.89 per cent).

The lease liabilities are effectively secured as the rights to the leased assets recognised in the financial statement as 
disclosed in Note 4.1 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment, and revert to the lessor in the event of default.

5.3 Finance costs
Interest expenses are recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred.

Borrowing costs represent interest incurred on loans taken out primarily for the purpose of acquiring new passenger 
rolling stock. Borrowing costs also includes the amortisation of discounts or premiums relating to these borrowings  
and interest charges on finance leases.

In accordance with the paragraphs of AASB 123: Borrowing Costs applicable to not-for-profit public sector entities,  
the Consolidated Entity continues to recognise borrowing costs immediately as an expense, to the extent that they  
are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset.
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5.4 Equity and movements in equity – Consolidated entity contributed capital
Consistent with the requirements of AASB 1004: Contributions, contributions by owners (that is, contributed capital  
and its repayment) are treated as equity transactions and, therefore, do not form part of the income and expenses of 
the Consolidated Entity.

Additions to net assets that have been designated as contributions by owners are recognised as contributed capital. 
Other transfers that are in the nature of contributions to or distributions by owners have also been designated as 
contributions by owners.

The Consolidated Entity's contributed capital comprises the value (at the date of transfer) of the majority of the  
state's rail and tram fixed infrastructure as well as leasehold improvements undertaken by lessees/sublessees.

 Capital

1 July 2018

Additional 

capital

Capital

30 June 2019
 

Assets $'000 $'000 $'000

Inventory  205  -  205 

Receivables  2,715  -  2,715 

Land  1,054,045  -  1,054,045 

Buildings & structures  888,708  -  888,708 

Track  1,303,643  -  1,303,643 

Signals & communications  653,018  -  653,018 

Plant & equipment  122,145  -  122,145 

Works in progress/other assets  20,649,815  3,101,968  23,751,783 

Total assets  24,674,294  3,101,968  27,776,262 

Liabilities    

Provision for employee benefits (6,959)  - (6,959)

Total liabilities (6,959)  - (6,959)

Contributed capital at the end of the year  24,667,334  3,101,968  27,769,302 

    

 Capital

1 July 2017

Additional 

capital

Capital

30 June 2018
 

Assets $'000 $'000 $'000

Inventory  205  -  205 

Receivables  2,715  -  2,715 

Land  1,054,045  -  1,054,045 

Buildings & structures  888,708  -  888,708 

Track  1,303,643  -  1,303,643 

Signals & communications  653,018  -  653,018 

Plant & equipment  122,145  -  122,145 

Works in progress/other assets  16,270,143  4,379,672  20,649,815 

Total assets  20,294,622  4,379,672  24,674,294 

Liabilities    

Provision for employee benefits (6,959)  - (6,959)

Total liabilities (6,959)  - (6,959)

Contributed capital at the end of the year  20,287,662  4,379,672  24,667,334 
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5.4 Equity and movements in equity – Parent Entity contributed capital cont.

 Capital

1 July 2018

Additional 

capital

Capital

30 June 2019
 

Assets $'000 $'000 $'000

Inventory  205  -  205 

Receivables  2,715  -  2,715 

Land  1,054,045  -  1,054,045 

Buildings & structures  888,708  -  888,708 

Track  1,303,643  -  1,303,643 

Signals & communications  653,018  -  653,018 

Plant & equipment  116,114  -  116,114 

Works in progress/other assets  17,462,751  2,757,185  20,219,936 

Total assets  21,481,199  2,757,185  24,238,384 

Liabilities    

Provision for employee benefits (6,959)  (6,959)

Total liabilities (6,959)  - (6,959)

Contributed capital at the end of the year  21,474,241  2,351,528  24,231,426 

    

 Capital

1 July 2017

Additional 

capital

Capital

30 June 2018
 

Assets $'000 $'000 $'000

Inventory  205  -  205 

Receivables  2,715  -  2,715 

Land  1,054,045  -  1,054,045 

Buildings & structures  888,708  -  888,708 

Track  1,303,643  -  1,303,643 

Signals & communications  653,018  -  653,018 

Plant & equipment  116,114  -  116,114 

Works in progress/other assets  13,646,040  3,816,711  17,462,751 

Total assets  17,664,488  3,816,711  21,481,199 

Liabilities    

Provision for employee benefits (6,959)  - (6,959)

Total liabilities (6,959)  - (6,959)

Contributed capital at the end of the year  17,657,530  3,816,711  21,474,241 
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5.5 Cash flow information and balances

Cash and deposits

  Consolidated Parent

 

 

2019

$'000

2018

$'000

2019

$'000

2018

$'000

General fund   10,412  5,511  10,343  5,441 

Investments Treasury Corporation of Victoria   51,531  58,558  50,450  57,492 

   61,944  64,069  60,794  62,933 

General fund account and Investments in TCV are carried at cost. These funds are ear marked for use on future 
infrastructure improvement projects. Cash in the general fund account is interest bearing equivalent to the 11.00am 
cash rate less a fixed premium agreed by the Consolidated Entity and the bank 0.36 per cent (2018: 0.40 per cent). 
Investment with TCV bears interest at 1.97 per cent (2018: 1.76 per cent).

Reconciliation of net result for the reporting period to net cash flow from operating activities

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash includes short-term deposits that are readily convertible to cash on 
hand and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, net of outstanding cheques yet to be presented. 
The Consolidated Entity had no non-cash financing and investment activities during the year. The Consolidated Entity 
does not have any unused credit facilities in place at 30 June 2019 (2018: Nil).

  Consolidated Parent

 

 

 2019

$'000

2018

$'000

2019

$'000

2018

$'000

Net result for the period after tax  (524,505) (442,719) (521,294) (434,642)

Adjustments for:      

Depreciation/amortisation   870,610  789,893  705,820  635,782 

Fair value adjustments  (340) (529)  -  - 

Impairment of property, plant & equipment   71,309  11,963  37,279  4,990 

Net gain on disposal or property, plant & equipment (2,550) (7,599) (2,550) (7,599)

Changes in assets/liabilities:      

Increase/(decrease) in deferred tax liability  (197,332) (191,169) (210,479) (190,637)

Increase/(decrease) in provisions   7,339  429  7,339  429 

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments  (1,796)  254 (1,796)  254 

(Increase)/decrease in receivables   216 (1,623) (5,277) (1,638)

Increase/(decrease) in other payables   13,003  24,820  18,716  24,845 

Net cash flow from/(used in) operating activities   235,955  183,720  27,755  31,784 
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5.6 Commitments
Commitments for future expenditure include operating and capital commitments arising from contracts. These 
commitments are recorded below at their nominal value and inclusive of GST. Where it is considered appropriate and 
provides additional relevant information to users, the net present values of significant individual projects are stated. 
These future expenditures cease to be disclosed as commitments once the related liabilities are recognised in the 
balance sheet.

The capital expenditure commitments primarily relate to construction of telecommunications and property assets.

Operating lease commitments are for office equipment and premises - these leases provide for a right of renewal at 
which time all terms are negotiated.

  Consolidated Parent

 

 

 2019

$'000

2018

$'000

2019

$'000

2018

$'000

Capital commitments

Within one year   9,848  18,318  9,848  18,318 

One year or later & not later than five years   12  458  12  458 

Later than five years   -  -  -  - 

Total capital commitments   9,860  18,776  9,860  18,776 

Operating lease commitments

Operating leases payable  

Within one year   2,214  2,300  2,214  2,300 

One year or later & not later than five years   4,034  6,248  4,034  6,248 

Later than five years   -  -  -  - 

Total operating lease commitments   6,248  8,548  6,248  8,548 
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6. Other assets and liabilities

This section sets out those assets and liabilities that arose from the Consolidated Entity's operations.

6.1 Trade and other receivables

  Consolidated Parent

 

 

 2019

$'000

2018

$'000

2019

$'000

2018

$'000

Contractual

Receivables   38,247  32,977  166,519  161,261 

Allowance for impairment losses of contractual receivables (134) (152) (134) (152)

   38,113  32,825  166,385  161,109 

Reconciled by:      

Current      

Receivables   38,169  32,903  166,441  161,187 

Allowance for impairment losses of contractual receivables (134) (152) (134) (152)

   38,035  32,751  166,307  161,035 

Non-current      

Receivables   78  74  78  74 

Allowance for impairment losses of contractual receivables - - - -

Total receivables   38,113  32,825  166,385  161,109 

Contractual receivables are classified as financial instruments and categorised as 'financial assets at amortised costs'. 
They are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. The Consolidated Entity 
holds the contractual receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment.

Impairment of financial assets under AASB 9 - applicable from 1 July 2018
From 1 July 2018, the Department has been recording the allowance for expected credit loss for the relevant financial 
instruments, replacing AASB 139's incurred loss approach with AASB 9's Expected Credit Loss approach. Subject to 
AASB 9 impairment assessment include the Consolidated Entity's contractual receivables, statutory receivables and  
its investment in debt instruments. 

Equity instruments are not subject to impairment under AASB 9. Other financial assets mandatorily measured or 
designated at fair value through net result are not subject to impairment assessment under AASB 9. While cash and 
cash equivalents are also subject to the impairment requirements of AASB 9, the identified impairment loss was 
immaterial.

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 day terms from the date of invoicing. Where debts 
become past due, an assessment is made of collectability. When there is objective evidence that an individual trade 
receivable is impaired, a provision for impairment is recognised. A provision of $134,000 (2018: $152,000) has been 
recognised by the Consolidated Entity and $134,000 (2018: $152,000) by the Parent Entity in the current year. These 
amounts have been included in "other operating expenses" in the comprehensive operating statement. No individual 
amount within the provision for impairment of receivables is material.

Receivables past due but not considered impaired are: Consolidated Entity $5,178,705 (2018: $2,020,695); Parent 
$5,178,705 (2018: $2,020,695). 
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Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables were as follows:

  Consolidated Parent

 

 

 2019

$'000

2018

$'000

2019

$'000

2018

$'000

At 1 July   152  200  152  200 

Increase in provision for impairment recognised during the year  134  152  134  152 

Receivables written down during the year  (21) (60) (21) (60)

Amounts reversed during the year  (131) (140) (131) (140)

Total   134  152  134  152 

Risk exposure and maturity analysis
Refer to Note 7.3.3 Financial risk management, for more information on the risk management policy of the  
Consolidated Entity and the credit quality of the Consolidated Entity's receivables.

6.2 Trade and other payables

  Consolidated Parent

 

 

 2019

$'000

2018

$'000

2019

$'000

2018

$'000

Trade & other payables   79,285  68,513  78,532  67,701 

  79,285  68,513  78,532  67,701 

      

Reconciled by:      

Current trade & other payables      

Contractual      

Supplies & services   40,361  30,789  40,361  29,977 

Amounts payable to government & agencies   17,332  18,281  16,579  18,281 

Other contractual payables   1,186  1,177  1,186  1,177 

   58,879  50,247  58,126  49,435 

Statutory      

FBT payable   66  66  66  66 

GST payable   2,467  2,072  2,467  2,072 

Other statutory payables   15,128  13,203  15,128  13,203 

  17,661  15,341  17,661  15,341 

Total current trade & other payables   76,540  65,588  75,787  64,776 

      

Non-current trade & other payables      

Contractual      

Supplies & services  2,745 2,925 2,745 2,925

Amounts payable to government & agencies   -  -  -  - 

 2,745 2,925 2,745 2,925

Total non-current trade & other payables  2,745 2,925 2,745 2,925

    

Total trade & other payables  79,285 68,513 78,532 67,701
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Payables consist of:
 • Contractual payables, classified as financial instruments and measured at amortised cost. Accounts payable 

represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Consolidated Entity prior to the end of the financial  
year that are unpaid; and

• Statutory payables, that are recognised and measured similarly to contractual payables, are not classified as 
financial instruments and not included in the category of financial liabilities at amortised cost, because they do  
not arise from contracts.

Payables for supplies and services have an average credit period of 45 days. No interest is charged on the 'other 
payables'.

The terms and conditions of amounts payable to the government and agencies vary according to the particular 
agreements and as they are not legislative payables, they are not classified as financial instruments.

Risk exposure and maturity analysis
Refer to Note 7.3.3 Financial risk management, for more information on the risk management policy of the 
Consolidated Entity and the nature and extent of risks arising from contractual payables.

6.3 Other provisions
Other provisions amount to $6.8m (2018: nil). Provisions are recognised when the Consolidated Entity has a present 
obligation, the future sacrifice of economic benefits is probable, and the amount of the provision can be measured 
reliably.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 
obligations in relation to legal matters and future maintenance obligations at the end of the reporting period, taking 
into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows 
estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows, using discount 
rate that reflects the time value of money and risks specific to the provision.
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7. Risks, contingencies and valuations

The Consolidated Entity is exposed to risk from its activities and outside factors. In addition, it is often necessary to 
make judgements and estimates associated with recognition and measurement of items in the financial statements. 
This section sets out financial instrument specific information, (including exposures to financial risks) as well as those 
items that are contingent in nature or require a higher level of judgement to be applied, which for the Consolidated 
Entity related mainly to fair value determination.

7.1 Fair value determinations
Significant judgement: Fair value determination requires judgement and the use of assumptions. This section 
discloses the most significant assumptions used in determining fair values. Changes to assumptions could have  
a material impact on the results and financial position of the Consolidated Entity.

This section sets out information on how the Consolidated Entity determined fair value for financial reporting 
purposes. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

The Consolidated Entity's property, infrastructure, plant and equipment assets are carried at fair value.

In addition, the fair values of other assets and liabilities that are carried at amortised cost, also need to be 
determined for disclosure purposes.

The Consolidated Entity determines the policies and procedures for determining fair values for both financial  
and non-financial assets and liabilities as required.

Fair value hierarchy
In determining fair values a number of inputs are used. To increase consistency and comparability in the financial 
statements, these inputs are categorised into three levels, also known as the fair value hierarchy. The levels are as 
follows:

• Level 1 – quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

• Level 2 – valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 
directly or indirectly observable; and

• Level 3 – valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 
unobservable.

The Consolidated Entity determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing 
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the  
end of each reporting period.

The VGV is the Consolidated Entity's independent valuation agency.

How this section is structured
For those assets and liabilities for which fair values are determined, the following disclosures are provided:

• carrying amount and the fair value (which would be the same for those assets measured at fair value)

• which level of the fair value hierarchy was used to determine the fair value

• in respect of those assets and liabilities subject to fair value determination using Level 3 inputs: 
– a reconciliation of the movements in fair values from the beginning of the year to the end; and 
– details of significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value determination.

This section is divided between disclosures in connection with fair value determination for non-financial physical  
assets (refer to Note 7.1.1) and financial instruments (refer to Note 7.1.2).
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7.1.1 Fair value of non-financial assets

2019

Carrying amount 

$000

Level 1

$'000

Level 2

$'000

Level 3

$'000

Total

$'000

Consolidated
Land  5,387,674  -  -  5,387,674  5,387,674 

Buildings & structures  10,210,312  -  -  10,210,312  10,210,312 

Track  7,876,241  -  -  7,876,241  7,876,241 

Signals & communications  3,401,155  -  -  3,401,155  3,401,155 

Pant & equipment  4,725,587  -  -  4,725,587  4,725,587 

Total non-financial assets  31,600,969  -  -  31,600,969  31,600,969 

      

Parent

Land  5,387,674  -  -  5,387,674  5,387,674 

Buildings & structures  10,210,312  -  -  10,210,312  10,210,312 

Track  7,876,241  -  -  7,876,241  7,876,241 

Signals & communications  3,401,155  -  -  3,401,155  3,401,155 

Pant & equipment  1,141,299  -  -  1,141,299  1,141,299 

Total non-financial assets  28,016,681  -  -  28,016,681  28,016,681 

2018

Carrying amount 

$000

Level 1

$'000

Level 2

$'000

Level 3

$'000

Total

$'000

Consolidated

Land  5,399,010  -  -  5,399,010  5,399,010 

Buildings & structures  9,848,528  -  -  9,848,528  9,848,528 

Track  6,997,164  -  -  6,997,164  6,997,164 

Signals & communications  3,370,260  -  -  3,370,260  3,370,260 

Pant & equipment  4,531,485  -  -  4,531,485  4,531,485 

Total non-financial assets  30,146,447  -  -  30,146,447  30,146,447 

Parent

Land  5,399,010  -  -  5,399,010  5,399,010 

Buildings & structures  9,848,528  -  -  9,848,528  9,848,528 

Track  6,997,164  -  -  6,997,164  6,997,164 

Signals & communications  3,370,260  -  -  3,370,260  3,370,260 

Pant & equipment  1,040,430  -  -  1,040,430  1,040,430 

Total non-financial assets  26,655,392  -  -  26,655,392  26,655,392 

The Consolidated Entity's policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as at the 
end of the reporting period.

There were no transfers between levels 1 and 2 for recurring fair value measurements during the year. There were no 
transfers in and out of level 3 measurements during the year.
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Valuation techniques used to determine fair values
Specialised land and specialised buildings: The market approach is also used for specialised land, although is  
adjusted for the community service obligation ("CSO") to reflect the specialised nature of the land being valued.

The CSO adjustment is a reflection of the valuer's assessment of the impact of restrictions associated with an 
asset to the extent that is also equally applicable to market participants. This approach is in light of the highest 
and best use consideration required for fair value measurement, and takes into account the use of the asset that is 
physically possible, legally permissible, and financially feasible. As adjustments of CSO are considered as significant 
unobservable inputs, specialised land would be classified as Level 3 assets. 

For the Consolidated Entity's specialised buildings, the depreciated replacement cost method is used, adjusting 
for the associated depreciation. As depreciation adjustments are considered as significant, unobservable inputs in 
nature, specialised buildings are classified as Level 3 fair value measurements.

An independent valuation of the Consolidated Entity's specialised land and specialised buildings was performed by 
VGV. The valuation was performed using the market approach adjusted for CSO. The effective date of the valuation 
is 30 June 2015. In accordance with the requirements of FRD103H: Non-financial physical assets, management 
assess the compounded movement in the fair value inputs since the last full revaluation date. As at 30 June 2019, 
the compounded movement in the fair value inputs for specialised land were less than 10 per cent and therefore no 
adjustment to the carrying amount of specialised land was required. The VGV 2019 land indices were used as fair 
value inputs.

Infrastructure assets: Infrastructure assets are valued using the depreciated replacement cost method.  
This cost generally represents the replacement cost of the building/component after applying depreciation  
rates on a useful life basis. 

An independent valuation of the Consolidated Entity's infrastructure assets was performed by VGV.  
The valuation was performed based on the depreciated replacement cost of the assets. The effective date of  
the valuation is 30 June 2015.

As at 30 June 2019, the compounded movement in the fair value for infrastructure assets were less than 10 per cent  
and therefore no adjustment to the carrying amount of infrastructure assets was required. 

Plant and equipment: Plant and equipment is held at fair value. When plant and equipment is specialised in use,  
such that it is rarely sold other than as part of a going concern, fair value is determined using the depreciated 
replacement cost method.

There were no changes in valuation techniques throughout the period to 30 June 2019.

For all assets measured at fair value, the current use is considered the highest and best use.

Fair value measurements (Level 3)
The following table presents the changes in level 3 items for the period ended 30 June 2019 for recurring fair value 
measurements:

Parent & Consolidated

 Land Buildings &  

structures

Track Signals &  

communications

 

 

2019

$'000

2019

$'000

2019

$'000

2019

$'000

Opening balance 1 July 2018  5,399,010  9,848,528  6,997,164  3,370,260 

Additions  -  -  -  2,620 

Other adjustments -  -  -  - 

Disposals (7,576) (587) (50,738)  - 

Asset held for sale  1,441  -  -  - 

Revaluation movement (5,201) (1,758) (14,977) (5,672)

Depreciation  - (191,262) (201,831) (213,339)

Transfers from WIP  -  555,390  1,146,623  247,286 

Total  5,387,674  10,210,312  7,876,241  3,401,155 
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Parent Consolidated

 Plant & equipment Plant & equipment

 

 

2019

$'000

2019

$'000

Opening balance 1 July 2018  1,040,430  4,531,485 

Additions  817  817 

Disposals (103) (103)

Revaluation movement (2,092) (2,092)

Depreciation (73,673) (238,463)

Transfer from WIP  175,919  433,942 

Total  1,141,299  4,725,587 

Parent & Consolidated

 Land Buildings &  

structures

Track Signals &  

communications

 

 

2018

$'000

2018

$'000

2018

$'000

2018

$'000

Opening balance 1 July 2017  4,375,845  7,443,108  6,851,238  2,916,609 

Additions  144,000  -  -  - 

Other adjustments  -  -  -  - 

Disposals (3,490)  -  -  - 

Assets held for sale (7,830)  -  -  - 

Revaluation movement  883,000 (17,329)  - (471)

Depreciation  - (164,310) (180,252) (196,906)

Transfers from WIP  7,485  2,587,059  326,178  651,028 

Total  5,399,010  9,848,528  6,997,164  3,370,260 

Parent Consolidated

 Plant & equipment Plant & equipment

 

 

2018

$'000

2018

$'000

Opening balance 1 July 2017  1,035,479  4,249,781 

Additions  1,240  432,104 

Disposals (566) (566)

Revaluation movement  -  - 

Depreciation (68,982) (223,093)

Transfer from WIP  73,259  73,259 

Total  1,040,430  4,531,485 

Description of significant unobservable inputs to level 3 valuations
The following table summarises the quantitative information about the significant unobservable inputs used in  
recurring level 3 fair value measurements. See above for the valuation techniques adopted.

Description Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs

Parent & consolidated - Land Market approach Community service obligation discount-

ed by 75%

Parent & consolidated - Buildings & structures

 

Depreciated replacement cost

 

Direct cost per square metre 

Useful life of buildings & structures

Parent & consolidated - Track Depreciated replacement cost Cost per unit 

Useful life of track

Parent & consolidated - Signals & communications Depreciated replacement cost Cost per unit 

Useful life of signals & communications

Parent & consolidated - Plant & equipment Depreciated replacement cost Cost per unit 

Useful life of plant & equipment
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7.1.2 Net fair value of financial assets and liabilities
The fair values and net fair values of financial assets and liabilities are determined as follows:  

• Level 1 – the fair value of financial instrument with standard terms and conditions and traded in active liquid markets 
are determined with reference to quoted market prices;

• Level 2 – the fair value is determined using inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the financial asset 
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

• Level 3 – the fair value is determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash 
flow analysis using unobservable market inputs.

The Consolidated Entity currently holds a range of financial instruments that are recorded in the financial statements 
where the carrying amounts are a reasonable approximation of fair value, either due to their shortterm nature or with 
the expectation that they will be paid in full by the end of the 2019-20 reporting period.

Where the fair value of the financial instruments is different from the carrying amounts, the following information has 
been included to disclose the difference.

Fair value of financial instruments at measured

Consolidated 2019 2018

Carrying amount 

$'000

Net fair value 

$'000

Carrying amount 

$'000

Net fair value 

$'000

Financial assets     

Cash assets  61,944  61,944  64,069  64,069 

Other financial assets  100  100  100  100 

Trade & other receivables  38,113  38,113  32,826  32,826 

Total financial assets  100,157  100,157  96,995  96,995 

Financial liabilities     

Trade & other payables (61,624) (61,624) (53,172) (53,172)

Borrowings (208,853) (216,550) (417,482) (390,411)

Total financial liabilities (270,477) (278,174) (470,654) (443,583)

Net financial assets (170,320) (178,017) (373,659) (346,588)
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Parent 2019 2018

Carrying amount 

$'000

Net fair value 

$'000

Carrying amount 

$'000

Net fair value 

$'000

Financial assets     

Cash assets  60,794  60,794  62,933  62,933 

Other financial assets  -  -  -  - 

Trade & other receivables  166,386  166,386  161,109  161,109 

Total financial assets  227,180  227,179  224,042  224,042 

Financial liabilities     

Trade & other payables (60,871) (60,871) (52,360) (52,360)

Borrowings (1,929) (1,929) (2,032) (2,032)

Total financial liabilities (62,800) (62,800) (54,392) (54,392)

Net financial assets  164,380  164,379  169,650  169,650 

7.2 Contingent assets and contingent liabilities
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the balance sheet but are disclosed and, if  
quantifiable, are measured at nominal value.

Contingent assets and liabilities are presented inclusive of GST receivable or payable respectively.

Contingent assets
The Consolidated Entity has no contingent assets as at 30 June 2019 and 30 June 2018.

Contingent liabilities

Environmental and property contingent liabilities

Upon the Consolidated Entity's establishment, and in subsequent asset allocations, the former Public Transport 
Corporation did not grant indemnities in relation to any consequences of environmental contamination of land and 
property or compliance with building code regulations that may have been transferred along with the ownership of  
the land and property.

An action plan has been prepared to address environmental contamination at a number of high priority sites.  
The Consolidated Entity does not have a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past events and  
is unable to reliably estimate future expenditure levels that are expected to be required to address environmental  
issues, including remediation activities. Due to the absence of a present obligation and the uncertainty regarding  
the actual quantum of expenditure, no provision for these costs has been included in the financial statements.
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Indemnities
Infrastructure leases with the Director of Public Transport (now Head, Transport for Victoria)

The Consolidated Entity has entered into a number of leases under which its assets are made available to various 
transport operators and track access providers. These leases are entered into either with the Director of Public 
Transport (and which were subsequently allocated to PTV when it commenced operations on 2 April 2012) or with 
PTV directly (and which have all now been allocated to Head, Transport for Victoria). Under certain of these leases 
the Consolidated Entity provides various indemnities to PTV (now Head, Transport for Victoria), for example 
in relation to the exercise of certain powers under the respective leases. In turn, PTV (now Head, Transport for 
Victoria) provides an indemnity to the Consolidated Entity against any losses that may result from the use of the 
land and infrastructure by its sub-lessees (transport operators and track access providers). Under the Metropolitan 
Infrastructure and OCMS Head Lease - Train and the Metropolitan Infrastructure and OCMS Head Lease - Tram 
(MR4 Head Leases), the Consolidated Entity provides certain environmental indemnities to PTV (now Head, 
Transport for Victoria) in relation to clean-up notices and preexisting contamination. No indemnities are provided 
in turn back to the Consolidated Entities under the MR4 Head Leases. Pursuant to the Government policy and 
guidelines: indemnities and immunities, June 2008, it is noted that the use of contractual indemnities between 
Government entities is not recommended. 

Subject to the note below relating to current litigation and other indemnities, the Directors of the Consolidated 
Entity are unaware of any circumstances that would lead them to believe that these contingent liabilities will result 
in any material actual liability, and consequently no provisions are included in the financial statements in respect of 
these matters.

The Consolidated Entity is currently involved in a number of court proceedings and/or formal litigation or arbitral 
proceedings. The majority of these relate either to third party public liability claims for personal injury arising from 
use of or access to VicTrack owned station and rail infrastructure, or to disputes arising under contracts for works.

At this stage, it is too early to predict the outcome of these actions and whether any significant liabilities will be 
incurred by the Consolidated Entity as a result. The exposure to a number of these claims is limited by the excess 
stated in the relevant insurance policy that is held with the Victorian Managed Insurance Authority. The maximum 
financial effects in all the above cases cannot be reasonably estimated at the time of print.
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7.3 Financial instruments
Financial instruments arise out of contractual agreements that give rise to a financial asset of one entity and a  
financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. Due to the nature of the Consolidated Entity's activities, certain 
financial assets and financial liabilities arise under statute rather than a contract (for example taxes). Such assets and 
liabilities do not meet the definition of financial instruments in AASB 132: Financial Instruments: Presentation.

Guarantees issued on behalf of the Consolidated Entity are financial instruments because, although authorised under 
statute, terms and conditions for each financial guarantee may vary and are subject to an agreement. From 1 July 2018, 
the Consolidated Entity applies AASB9: Financial Instruments and classifies all of its financial assets based on the 
business model for managing the assets and the asset's contractual terms.

Categories of financial assets under AASB9: Financial Instruments

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised costs if both of the following criteria are met and the assets are not 
designated as fair value through net result:

• the assets are held by the Consolidated Entity to collect the contractual cash flows; and

•  the assets' contractual terms give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interests.

These assets are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment.

The Consolidated Entity recognises the following assets in this category:

•  cash and deposits;

•  receivables (excluding statutory receivables);

•  term deposits; and

•  certain debt securities.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Debt investments are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income if both of the following criteria are 
met and the assets are not designated as fair value through net result:

•  the assets are held by the Consolidated Entity to achieve its objective both by collecting the contractual cash flows 
and by selling the financial assets; and

•  the assets' contractual terms give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interests.

Equity investments are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income if the assets are not held for  
trading and the Consolidated Entity has irrevocably elected at initial recognition to recognise in this category.

These assets are initially recognised at fair value with subsequent change in fair value in other comprehensive income.

Upon disposal of these debt instruments, any related balance in the fair value reserve is reclassified to profit or loss. 
However, upon disposal of these equity instruments, any related balance in fair value reserve is reclassified to retained 
earnings.

The Consolidated Entity recognises certain unlisted equity instruments within this category.

Financial assets at fair value through net result
Equity instruments that are held for trading as well as derivative instruments are classified as fair value through net 
result. Other financial assets are required to be measured at fair value through net result unless they are measured at 
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income as explained above.

However, as an exception to those rules above, the Consolidated Entity may, at initial recognition, irrevocably 
designate financial assets as measured at fair value through net result if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces a 
measurement or recognition inconsistency ('accounting mismatch') that would otherwise arise from measuring assets  
or liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases.

The Consolidated Entity recognises listed equity securities as mandatorily measured at fair value through net result  
and designated all of its managed investment schemes as well as certain 5-year government bonds as fair value  
through net result.
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Categories of financial assets previously under AASB139: Financial Instruments: Presentation
Loans and receivables and cash are financial instrument assets with fixed and determinable payments that are 
not quoted on an active market. These assets and liabilities are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly 
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial measurement, loans and receivables are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method (and for assets, less any impairment). The Consolidated Entity recognises the 
following assets in this category:

•  cash and deposits;

•  receivables (excluding statutory receivables);

•  term deposits; and

•  certain debt securities.

Available-for-sale financial instrument assets are those designated as available-for-sale or not classified in any 
other category of financial instrument asset. Such assets are initially recognised at fair value. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, they are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value, recognised in 
'Other economic flows - other comprehensive income' until the investment is disposed. Movements resulting from 
impairment and foreign currency changes are recognised in the net result as other economic flows. On disposal, the 
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in 'Other economic flows - other comprehensive income' is transferred 
to other economic flows in the net result. The Consolidated Entity recognises investments in equities and managed 
investment schemes in this category. 

Held to maturity financial assets: If the Consolidated Entity has the positive intent and ability to hold nominated 
investments to maturity, then such financial assets may be classified as held to maturity. These are recognised initially 
at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, held to maturity 
financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

The Consolidated Entity makes limited use of this classification because any sale or reclassification of more than an 
insignificant amount of held to maturity investments not close to their maturity, would result in the whole category 
being reclassified as available-for-sale. The held to maturity category includes term deposits and debt securities for 
which the Consolidated Entity intends to hold to maturity. 

Categories of financial liabilities under AASB9: Financial Instruments and previously  
under AASB139: Financial instruments: presentation
Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through net result are categorised as such at trade date, or if they are 
classified as held for trading or designated as such upon initial recognition. Financial instrument assets are designated 
at fair value through net result on the basis that the financial assets form part of a group of financial assets that 
are managed based on their fair values and have their performance evaluated in accordance with documented 
risk management and investment strategies. Financial instruments at fair value through net result are initially 
measured at fair value; attributable transaction costs are expensed as incurred. Subsequently, any changes in fair 
value are recognised in the net result as other economic flows unless the changes in fair value relate to changes 
in the Consolidated Entity's own credit risk. In this case, the portion of the change attributable to changes in the 
Consolidated Entity's own credit risk is recognised in other comprehensive income with no subsequent recycling to net 
result when the financial liability is derecognised. The Consolidated Entity recognises some debt securities that are 
held for trading in this category and designated certain debt securities as fair value through net result in this category.
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Financial liabilities at amortised cost are initially recognised on the date they are originated. They are initially 
measured at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these 
financial instruments are measured at amortised cost with any difference between the initial recognised amount 
and the redemption value being recognised in profit and loss over the period of the interest bearing liability, using the 
effective interest rate method. The Consolidated Entity recognises the following liabilities in this category:

•  payables (excluding statutory payables); and

•  borrowings (including finance lease liabilities).

Derivative financial instruments are classified as held for trading financial assets and liabilities. They are initially 
recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into. Derivatives are carried as assets 
when their fair value is positive and as liabilities when their fair value is negative. Any gains or losses arising from 
changes in the fair value of derivatives after initial recognition are recognised in the consolidated comprehensive 
operating statement as an 'other economic flow' included in the net result.

Offsetting financial instruments: Financial instrument assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented 
in the consolidated balance sheet when, and only when, the Consolidated Entity concerned has a legal right to offset 
the amounts and intend either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

Some master netting arrangements do not result in an offset of balance sheet assets and liabilities. Where the 
Consolidated Entity does not have a legally enforceable right to offset recognised amounts, because the right to 
offset is enforceable only on the occurrence of future events such as default, insolvency or bankruptcy, they are 
reported on a gross basis.

De-recognition of financial assets: A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group 
of similar financial assets) is derecognised when:

•  the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

•  the Consolidated Entity retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to 
pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a 'pass through' arrangement; or

•  the Consolidated Entity has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either:

  - has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; or

  - has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred 
control of the asset.

Where the Consolidated Entity has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards or 
transferred control, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Consolidated Entity's continuing involvement in  
the asset.

De-recognition of financial liabilities: A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is 
discharged, cancelled or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or 
the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a de-
recognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying 
amounts is recognised as an 'other economic flow' in the comprehensive operating statement.

Reclassification of financial instruments: Subsequent to initial recognition reclassification of financial liabilities is 
not permitted. Financial assets are required to reclassified between fair value through net result, fair value through 
other comprehensive income and amortised cost when and only when the Consolidated Entity' business model for 
managing its financial assets has changes such that its previous model would no longer apply.

If under rare circumstances an asset is reclassified, the reclassification is applied prospectively from the 
reclassification date and previously recognised gains, losses or interest should not be restated. If the asset is 
reclassified to fair value, the fair value should be determined at the reclassification date and any gain or loss arising 
from a difference between the previous carrying amount and fair value is recognised in net result.
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Cash and deposits

Financial assets/ 

liabilities designated  

at fair value through 

profit/loss (FVTPL)

Financial assets/ 

liabilities mandatorily 

measured at fair value 

through profit/loss 

(FVTPL)

Financial assets 

measured at fair 

value through other 

comprehensive  

income (FVOCI)

Financial assets at 

amortised cost (AC)

Contractual financial 

assets – loans & 

receivable

Financial liabilities at 

amortised cost (AC)

Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Consolidated 2019
Contractual financial assets       

Cash & deposits 61,944  -  -  - - - - 61,944

Investments & other contractual financial assets
Other financial assets -  -  -  - 100 -  - 100

Receivables
Trade & other receivables  -  -  -  -  38,113 -  - 38,113

Total contractual financial assets 61,944  -  -  -  38,213 - - 100,157

Contractual financial liabilities       

Payables
Trade & other payables  -  -  -  -  - -  61,624  61,624 

Borrowings
Secured loan  -  -  -  -  - -  107,864 107,864

Lease liability  -  -  -  -  - -  100,989 100,989

Total contractual liabilities  -  -  - - - -  270,477 270,477
    

Consolidated 2018      
Contractual financial assets      

Cash & deposits -  -  - - - 64,069  - 64,069

Investments & other contractual financial assets
Other financial assets -  -  - -  - 100  - 100

Receivables

Trade & other receivables -  -  - -  - 32,826  - 32,826

Total contractual financial assets -  -  - -  - 96,995  - 96,995

Contractual financial liabilities     

Payables
Trade & other payables -  -  - -  - 53,172  - 53,172

Borrowings
Secured loan -  -  - -  -  140,663  - 140,663

Lease liability -  -  - -  -  276,819  - 276,819

Total contractual liabilities -  -  - -  -  470,654 - 470,654

7.3.1 Categorisation of financial instruments:
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Cash and deposits

Financial assets/ 

liabilities designated  

at fair value through 

profit/loss (FVTPL)

Financial assets/ 

liabilities mandatorily 

measured at fair value 

through profit/loss 

(FVTPL)

Financial assets 

measured at fair 

value through other 

comprehensive  

income (FVOCI)

Financial assets at 

amortised cost (AC)

Contractual financial 

assets – loans & 

receivable

Financial liabilities at 

amortised cost (AC)

Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Consolidated 2019
Contractual financial assets       

Cash & deposits 61,944  -  -  - - - - 61,944

Investments & other contractual financial assets
Other financial assets -  -  -  - 100 -  - 100

Receivables
Trade & other receivables  -  -  -  -  38,113 -  - 38,113

Total contractual financial assets 61,944  -  -  -  38,213 - - 100,157

Contractual financial liabilities       

Payables
Trade & other payables  -  -  -  -  - -  61,624  61,624 

Borrowings
Secured loan  -  -  -  -  - -  107,864 107,864

Lease liability  -  -  -  -  - -  100,989 100,989

Total contractual liabilities  -  -  - - - -  270,477 270,477
    

Consolidated 2018      
Contractual financial assets      

Cash & deposits -  -  - - - 64,069  - 64,069

Investments & other contractual financial assets
Other financial assets -  -  - -  - 100  - 100

Receivables

Trade & other receivables -  -  - -  - 32,826  - 32,826

Total contractual financial assets -  -  - -  - 96,995  - 96,995

Contractual financial liabilities     

Payables
Trade & other payables -  -  - -  - 53,172  - 53,172

Borrowings
Secured loan -  -  - -  -  140,663  - 140,663

Lease liability -  -  - -  -  276,819  - 276,819

Total contractual liabilities -  -  - -  -  470,654 - 470,654
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Cash and deposits

Financial assets/ 

liabilities designated  

at fair value through 

profit/loss (FVTPL)

Financial assets/ 

liabilities mandatorily 

measured at fair value 

through profit/loss 

(FVTPL)

Financial assets 

measured at fair 

value through other 

comprehensive  

income (FVOCI)

Financial assets at 

amortised cost (AC)

Contractual financial 

assets – loans & 

receivable

Financial liabilities at 

amortised cost (AC)

Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Parent 2019
Contractual financial assets       

Cash & deposits 60,794  -  -  - - - - 60,794 

Investments & other contractual financial assets
Other financial assets -  -  -  - - -  - -

Receivables
Trade & other receivables  -  -  -  -  166,386 -  -  166,386 

Total contractual financial assets 60,794  -  -  -  166,386 - -  227,180 

Contractual financial liabilities       

Payables
Trade & other payables  -  -  -  -  - -  60,871  60,871 

Borrowings
Secured loan  -  -  -  -  - -  - -

Lease liability  -  -  -  -  - -  1,929  1,929 

Total contractual liabilities  -  -  - - - -  62,800  62,800 
    

Parent 2018      
Contractual financial assets      

Cash & deposits -  -  - - - 62,933  -  62,933 

Investments & other contractual financial assets
Other financial assets -  -  - -  - -  - -

Receivables

Trade & other receivables -  -  - -  - 161,109  -  161,109 

Total contractual financial assets -  -  - -  - 224,042  -  224,042 

Contractual financial liabilities     

Payables
Trade & other payables -  -  - -  -  52,360 -  53,360 

Borrowings
Secured loan -  -  - -  - -  - -

Lease liability -  -  - -  -  2,032 -  2,032 

Total contractual liabilities -  -  - -  -  54,392 -  54,392 
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Cash and deposits

Financial assets/ 

liabilities designated  

at fair value through 

profit/loss (FVTPL)

Financial assets/ 

liabilities mandatorily 

measured at fair value 

through profit/loss 

(FVTPL)

Financial assets 

measured at fair 

value through other 

comprehensive  

income (FVOCI)

Financial assets at 

amortised cost (AC)

Contractual financial 

assets – loans & 

receivable

Financial liabilities at 

amortised cost (AC)

Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Parent 2019
Contractual financial assets       

Cash & deposits 60,794  -  -  - - - - 60,794 

Investments & other contractual financial assets
Other financial assets -  -  -  - - -  - -

Receivables
Trade & other receivables  -  -  -  -  166,386 -  -  166,386 

Total contractual financial assets 60,794  -  -  -  166,386 - -  227,180 

Contractual financial liabilities       

Payables
Trade & other payables  -  -  -  -  - -  60,871  60,871 

Borrowings
Secured loan  -  -  -  -  - -  - -

Lease liability  -  -  -  -  - -  1,929  1,929 

Total contractual liabilities  -  -  - - - -  62,800  62,800 
    

Parent 2018      
Contractual financial assets      

Cash & deposits -  -  - - - 62,933  -  62,933 

Investments & other contractual financial assets
Other financial assets -  -  - -  - -  - -

Receivables

Trade & other receivables -  -  - -  - 161,109  -  161,109 

Total contractual financial assets -  -  - -  - 224,042  -  224,042 

Contractual financial liabilities     

Payables
Trade & other payables -  -  - -  -  52,360 -  53,360 

Borrowings
Secured loan -  -  - -  - -  - -

Lease liability -  -  - -  -  2,032 -  2,032 

Total contractual liabilities -  -  - -  -  54,392 -  54,392 
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7.3.2 Net holding gain/(loss) on financial instruments by category

Net holding  

gain/(loss)

Total interest 

income/expense

Fee income/ 

(expense)

Impairment 

 loss

Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Consolidated 2019

Contractual financial assets     

Debt investments mandatorily measured 

at fair value through profit/loss
- - - - -

Equity investments designated at fair 

value through profit/loss
- - - - -

Equity investments designated at fair 

value through other comprehensive 

income – recognised in other 

comprehensive income

- - - - -

Financial assets at amortised cost – 

other than on derecognition
 -  1,136  - (134)  1,002 

Total contractual financial assets  -  1,136  - (134)  1,002 

Contractual financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortised cost - 11,046 - - 11,046

Financial liabilities designated at fair 

value through profit/loss
 - -  -  - -

Total contractual liabilities  -  11,046   -  - 11,046 

 

Consolidated 2018

Contractual financial assets

Debt investments mandatorily measured 

at fair value through profit/loss
- - - - -

Equity investments designated at fair 

value through profit/loss
- - - - -

Equity investments designated at fair 

value through other comprehensive 

income – recognised in other comprehen-

sive income

- - - - -

Financial assets at amortised cost –  

other than on derecognition
-  950 - (152)  798 

Total contractual financial assets  -  950  - (152)  798 

Contractual financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortised cost - - - - -

Financial liabilities designated at fair 

value through profit/loss
 - 44,094  -  - 44,094 

Total contractual liabilities  - 44,094  -  - 44,094 
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Net holding  

gain/(loss)

Total interest 

income/expense

Fee income/ 

(expense)

Impairment  

loss

Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Parent 2019

Contractual financial assets     

Debt investments mandatorily measured 

at fair value through profit/loss
- - - - -

Equity investments designated at fair 

value through profit/loss
- - - - -

Equity investments designated at fair 

value through other comprehensive 

income – recognised in other 

comprehensive income

- - - - -

Financial assets at amortised cost – 

other than on derecognition
 -  1,118  - (134)  984 

Total contractual financial assets  -   1,118   - (134)  984 

Contractual financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortised cost - 57 - - 57

Financial liabilities designated at fair 

value through profit/loss
 - -  -  - -

Total contractual liabilities  -  57   -  - 57

 

Parent 2018

Contractual financial assets

Debt investments mandatorily measured 

at fair value through profit/loss
- - - - -

Equity investments designated at fair 

value through profit/loss
- - - - -

Equity investments designated at fair 

value through other comprehensive 

income – recognised in other comprehen-

sive income

- - - - -

Financial assets at amortised cost –  

other than on derecognition
-  934 - (152)  782 

Total contractual financial assets  -  934  - (152)  782

Contractual financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortised cost - 32 - - 32

Financial liabilities designated at fair 

value through profit/loss
 -  -  - -

Total contractual liabilities  - 32  -  - 32

The net holding gains or losses disclosed above are determined as follows:

• for cash and cash deposits, loans or receivables and availabie-for-sale financial assets, the net gain or loss is 
calculated by taking the interest income, plus or minus foreign exchange gains or losses arising from revaluation of 
the financial assets, and minus any impairment recognised in the net result;

• for financial liabilities measured at amortised cost, the net gain or loss is calculated by taking the interest expense, 
plus or minus foreign exchange gains or losses arising from the revaluation of financial liabilities measured at 
amortised cost.
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7.3.3 Financial risk management

As a whole, the Consolidated Entity's financial risk management program seeks to manage these risks and the 
associated volatility of its financial performance.

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis 
of measurement, and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, with respect to each class of financial 
asset, financial liability and equity instrument above are disclosed in Note 7.3 Financial instruments.

The main purpose in holding financial instruments is to prudentially manage the Consolidated Entity's financial risks 
within the government policy parameters.

The Consolidated Entity's main financial risks include credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The Consolidated 
Entity's manages these financial risks in accordance with its financial risk management policy. 

The Consolidated Entity's uses different methods to measure and manage the different risks to which it is exposed. 
Primary responsibility for the identification and management of financial risks rests with management of the 
Consolidated Entity.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market prices. Market risk embodies the potential for both losses and gains and includes currency risk, 
interest rate risk and other price risks.

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk arises from the interest bearing financial assets and liabilities that the Consolidated Entity uses. 
Minimisation of risk is achieved by utilising short term interest bearing financial assets with TCV and established 
financial institutions. 

Exposure to interest rate risk on liabilities is through the loan borrowing and finance lease of Rolling Stock Holdings. 
Minimisation of risk is achieved by utilising fixed interest rate liabilities. 

Interest earned on cash assets is equivalent to the 11.00am cash rate less a fixed premium agreed by the 
Consolidated Entity and the bank. The weighted average interest rate for the year ended 30 June 2019 was 1.67 per 
cent (2018: 1.66 per cent). Earnings from interest vary according to movements in the 11.00am cash rate.

Interest income from funds on deposit is fixed at the rate of 5.15 per cent (2018: 5.15 per cent).
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Weighted 

average effective 

interest rate %

Carrying  

amount

Fixed  

interest rate 

Variable  

interest rate

Non interest 

bearing 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Consolidated 2019

Financial assets      

Cash assets 1.67  61,944  -  61,944  - 

Investments & other contractual  
financial assets

Other financial assets 5.15  100  100  -  - 

Receivables

Trade & other receivables n/a  38,113  -  -  38,113 

Total financial assets   100,157  100  61,944  38,113 

Financial liabilities      

Payables  

Trade & other payables n/a  61,624  -  -  61,624 

Borrowings

Secured loan 5.37 - 6.59  107,864  107,864  -  - 

Finance lease 10.08  100,989  100,989  -  - 

Total financial liabilities   270,477  208,853  -  61,624 

      

Consolidated 2018      

Financial assets      

Cash assets 1.66  64,069  -  64,069  - 

Investments & other contractual  
financial assets

Other financial assets 5.15  100  100  - - 

Receivables

Trade & other receivables n/a  32,826  -  -  32,826 

Total financial assets   96,995  100  64,069  32,826 

Financial liabilities      

Payables

Trade & other payables n/a  53,172  -  -  53,172 

Borrowings

Secured loan 5.37 - 6.59  140,663  140,663  -  - 

Finance lease 10.10  276,819  276,819  -  - 

Total financial liabilities   470,654  417,482  -  53,172 
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Interest rate exposure of financial instruments

Weighted 

average effective 

interest rate %

Carrying  

amount

Fixed  

interest rate 

Variable  

interest rate

Non interest 

bearing 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Parent 2019

Financial assets      

Cash assets 1.68  60,794  -  60,794  - 

Investments & other  
contractual financial assets

Other financial assets n/a  -  -  -  - 

Receivables

Trade & other receivables n/a  166,386  -  -  166,386 

Total financial assets   227,180  -  60,794  166,386 

Financial liabilities      

Payables

Trade & other payables n/a  60,871  -  -  60,871 

Borrowings

Secured loan n/a  -  -  -  - 

Finance lease 3.18  1,929  1,929  -  - 

Total financial liabilities   62,800  1,929  -  60,871 

      

Parent 2018      

Financial assets      

Cash assets 1.66  62,933  -  62,933  - 

Investments & other  
contractual financial assets

Other financial assets n/a  -  -  -  - 

Receivables

Trade & other receivables n/a  161,109  -  -  161,109 

Total financial assets   224,042  -  62,933  161,109 

Financial liabilities      

Payables

Trade & other payables n/a  52,360  -  -  52,360 

Borrowings

Secured loan n/a  -  -  -  - 

Finance lease 3.67  2,032  2,032  -  - 

Total financial liabilities   54,392  2,032  -  52,360 
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Sensitivity analysis and assumptions
The Consolidated Entity's sensitivity to market risk is determined based on the observed range of actual historical data 
for processing five year period, with all variable other than the primary risk variable held constant. The Consolidated 
Entity's management cannot be expected to predict movements in market rates and prices, sensitivity analyses shown 
for illustrative purposes only. The following movements are 'reasonably possible' over the next 12 months;

• a movement of 100 basis points up and 100 basis points down (2018: 100 basis points up and 100 basis points down) 
in market interest rates (AUD).

The tables that follow show the impact on the Consolidated Entity's net result and equity for each category of financial 
instrument held at the end of the reporting period, if the above movements were to occur.

Carrying amount 

subject to 

interest   

$’000

Interest rate risk

-1% 1%

Net 
result

$'000

Revaluation 
reserve
$'000

Net 
result

$'000

Revaluation 
reserve
$'000

Consolidated 2019

Financial assets      

Cash assets  61,944 (679)  -  679  - 

Total increase/(decrease)  (679)  -  679  - 

Consolidated 2018

Financial assets      

Cash assets  64,069 (572)  -  572  - 

Total increase/(decrease)  (572)  -  572  - 

Parent 2019

Financial assets      

Cash assets  60,794 (664)  -  664  - 

Total increase/(decrease)  (664)  -  664  - 

Parent 2018

Financial assets      

Cash assets  62,933 (564)  -  564  - 

Total increase/(decrease)  (564)  -  564  - 
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Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the possibility that a borrower will default on its financial obligations as and when they fall due.  
The Consolidated Entity's exposure to credit risk arises from the potential default of a counter party on their 
contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Consolidated Entity. Credit risk is measured at fair value and  
is monitored on a regular basis.

Credit risk associated with the Consolidated Entity's contractual financial assets is minimal because the main debtor 
is the Victorian Government. For debtors other than the Government, it is the Consolidated Entity's policy to only 
deal with entities with high credit ratings of a minimum triple-B rating and to obtain sufficient collateral or credit 
enhancements, where appropriate.

In addition, the Consolidated Entity's does not engage in hedging for its contractual financial assets and mainly  
obtains contractual financial assets that are on fixed interest, except for cash and deposits, which are mainly cash at 
bank. As with the policy for debtors, the Consolidated Entity's policy is to only deal with banks with high credit ratings.

Provision of impairment for contractual financial assets is recognised when there is objective evidence that the 
Consolidated Entity's will not be able to collect a receivable. Objective evidence includes financial difficulties of the 
debtor, default payments, debts that are more than 60 days overdue, and changes in debtor credit ratings.

Contract financial assets are written off against the carrying amount when there is no reasonable expectation of 
recovery. Bad debt written off by mutual consent is classified as a transaction expense. Bad debt written off following 
a unilateral decision is recognised as other economic flows in the net result.

Except as otherwise detailed in the following table, the carrying amount of contractual financial assets recorded in 
the financial statements, net of any allowances for losses, represents the Consolidated Entity's maximum exposure to 
credit risk without taking account of the value of any collateral obtained. 

There has been no material change to the Consolidated Entity's credit risk profile in 2018-19.

< The rail corridor between Richmond and South Yarra stations
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Credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired
The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to external 
credit ratings (if available) or to historical information about counterparty default rates. All receivables are non 
default customers which have been customers of the Consolidated Entity for more than one year.

Financial Institutions 

(AA- credit rating) 

Government agencies 

(AAA credit rating) 

Other (unrated) Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Consolidated 2019

Cash & cash deposits  10,412  51,531  -  61,944 

Trade & other receivables  -  -  38,113  38,113 

Other financial assets  100  -  -  100 

 10,512  51,531  38,113  100,157 

Parent 2019

Cash & cash deposits  10,343  50,450  -  60,794 

Trade & other receivables  -  -  166,386  166,386 

Other financial assets  -  -  -  - 

 10,343  50,450  166,386  227,180 

Consolidated 2018

Cash & cash deposits  5,511  58,558  -  64,069 

Trade & other receivables  -  -  32,826  32,826 

Other financial assets  100  -  -  100 

 5,611  58,558  32,826  96,995 

Parent 2018

Cash & cash deposits  5,441  57,492  -  62,933 

Trade & other receivables  -  -  161,109  161,109 

Other financial assets  -  -  -  - 

 5,441  57,492  161,109  224,042 
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Ageing analysis of contractual financial assets
Carrying

amount 

Not past 

due & not 

impaired 

Past due but not impaired

Impaired 

financial 

assets

$’000 $’000

31-90  
days

$’000

91-180  
days

$’000

Over 180 
days

$’000 $’000

Consolidated 2019

Financial assets

Cash assets  61,944  61,944  -  -  -  - 

Other financial assets  100  100  -  -  -  - 

Trade & other receivables  38,113  32,934  4,789  154  236 (134)

Total financial assets  100,157  94,978  4,789  154  236 (134)

 

Parent 2019

Financial assets

Cash assets  60,794  60,794  -  -  -  - 

Other financial assets  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Trade & other receivables  166,386  161,341  4,789  154  236 (134)

Total financial assets  227,180  222,135  4,789  154  236 (134)

 

Consolidated 2018

Financial assets

Cash assets  64,069  64,069  -  -  -  - 

Other financial assets  100  100  -  -  -  - 

Trade & other receivables  32,826  30,805  1,947  102 (28) (152)

Total financial assets  96,995  94,974  1,947  102 (28) (152)

Parent 2018

Financial assets

Cash assets  62,933  62,933  -  -  -  - 

Other financial assets  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Trade & other receivables  161,109  159,088  1,947  102 (28) (152)

Total financial assets  224,042  222,021  1,947  102 (28) (152)
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Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises when the Consolidated Entity is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fell due. The 
Consolidated Entity operates under a payment policy of settling obligations within 30 days from date of invoice. To 
minimise the exposure of liquidity risk the Consolidated Entity has a short term cash management investment policy 
allowing for adequate holding of high quality liquid assets to meet future cash flows. Notwithstanding the deficiency 
in the net current assets of $120m (2018: $182m), the exposure to liquidity risk is deemed insignificant. The ability of 
the Consolidated Entity to continue paying its debts as and when they fall due is dependent upon existing contractual 
arrangements continuing to operate as originally intended. Such agreements ensure sufficient contributions are made 
by the Victorian Government to cover the Consolidated Entity's contractual commitments. There are no financial 
liabilities that are past due.

Maturity of financial assets/liabilities
The tables below analyse the Consolidated Entity's and Parent Entity's cash inflows and outflows of nonderivative 
financial instruments. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Contractual maturities 

of financial instruments

Less than 1 year Between 1 year  

& 5 years

Over 5 years Total contractual 

cash flows

Carrying 

amount

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Consolidated 2019      

Liquid financial assets      

Cash assets  61,944 - -  61,944  61,944 

Trade & other receivables  38,113 - -  38,113  38,113 

Other financial assets   100 -  100  100 

Total financial assets  99,657  100  -  99,657  100,157 

Financial liabilities      

Trade & other payables  61,264 - -  61,264  61,264 

Secured loan  36,537  71,326 -  107,863  107,863 

Finance lease  100,060  929 -  100,989  100,989 

Total financial liabilities  197,861  72,255  -  270,116  270,116 

Net inflow/(outflow) (98,204) (72,155)  - (170,459) (169,959)

      

Consolidated 2018      

Liquid financial assets      

Cash assets  64,069  -  -  64,069  64,069 

Trade & other receivables  32,826  -  -  32,826  32,826 

Other financial assets  100  -  -  100  100 

Total financial assets  96,995  -  -  96,995  96,995 

Financial liabilities      

Trade & other payables  68,513  -  -  68,513  68,513 

Secured loan  37,030  81,818  21,815  140,663  140,663 

Finance lease  176,714  100,105  -  276,819  276,819 

Total financial liabilities  282,257  181,923  21,815  485,995  485,995 

Net inflow/(outflow) (185,262) (181,923) (21,815) (389,000) (389,000)
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Contractual maturities 

of financial instruments

Less than 1 year Between 1 year  

& 5 years

Over 5 years Total contractual 

cash flows

Carrying 

amount

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Parent 2019      

Liquid financial assets      

Cash assets  60,794  -  -  60,794  60,794 

Trade & other receivables  166,386  -  -  166,386  166,386 

Other financial assets  -  -  -  -  - 

Total financial assets  227,180  -  -  227,180  227,180 

Financial liabilities      

Trade & other payables  60,871  -  -  60,871  60,871 

Secured loan  -  -  -  -  - 

Finance lease  1,000  929  -  1,929  1,929 

Total financial liabilities  61,871  929  -  62,800  62,800 

Net inflow/(outflow)  165,309 (929)  -  164,380  164,380 

 

Parent 2018      

Liquid financial assets      

Cash assets  62,933  -  -  62,933  62,933 

Trade & other receivables  161,109  -  -  161,109  161,109 

Other financial assets  -  -  -  -  - 

Total financial assets  224,042  -  -  224,042  224,042 

Financial liabilities      

Trade & other payables  67,701  -  -  67,701  67,701 

Secured loan  -  -  -  -  - 

Finance lease  987  1,045  -  2,032  2,032 

Total financial liabilities  68,688  1,045  -  69,733  69,733 

Net inflow/(outflow)  155,354 (1,045)  -  154,309  154,309 
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* Date quoted is last date office held (inclusive)

8. Other disclosures

8.1 Responsible persons
In accordance with the Ministerial Directions issued by the Assistant Treasurer under the Financial Management Act 
1994 (FMA), the following disclosures are made regarding responsible persons for the reporting period.

The names of persons who were Responsible Persons of the Consolidated Entity at any time during the financial year 
and until the date of this report are as follows:

Responsible Minister
The Hon Jacinta Allan MP, Minister for Transport Infrastructure

The Hon Melissa Horne MP, Minister for Public Transport

The Hon Tim Pallas MP, Treasurer

Directors

Director Appointment Retired

Geraldine Gray 1 July 2018-Chair

1 April 2018- Deputy Chair

1 July 2015-Director

Alan Hall 1 July 2018 - Deputy Chair

1 April 2018 - Director

Paula Allen 1 April 2016 – Director  

Dr Collette Burke 1 July 2015 – Director  

Randall Straw 1 September 2017 – Director

Michael Trumble 4 December 2012 – Director  31 October 2018*

Dan O'Brien 1 August 2018

Accountable Officer 
Campbell A. Rose AM
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Remuneration of responsible persons:
Remuneration paid or payable to Responsible Persons during the year was as follows:

Income band Consolidated Parent

2019  

No.

2018  

No.

2019  

No.

2018  

No.

Less than $10,000  1  2  1  2 

$10,000 to $19,999  1  1  1  1 

$30,000 to $39,999  -  1  -  1 

$40,000 to $49,999  5  4  5  4 

$50,000 to $59,999  -  1  -  1 

$60,000 to $69,999  -  1  -  1 

$90,000 to $99,999  1  -  1  - 

$480,000 to $489,999  - 1  - 1 

$500,000 to $509,999 1 - 1 -

Total remuneration of responsible persons: $854,332 (2018: $832,316)

Responsible Persons' remuneration shown in aggregate above includes Directors' fees and superannuation 
contributions paid on behalf of Directors by the Consolidated Entity. The amount excludes insurance premiums 
paid by the Consolidated Entity in respect of Directors and Officers insurance contracts. The Accountable Officer's 
remuneration for the 30 June 2019 year included the total salary package received during the year and a performance 
bonus relating to the 30 June 2018 year.

8.2 Executive Officers’ remuneration
The number of executive officers, other than the Ministers and the accountable officer, and their total remuneration 
during the reporting period are shown in the table below. Total annualised employee equivalents provides a measure of 
full time equivalent executive officers over the reporting period. 

Remuneration comprises employee benefits in all forms of consideration paid, payable or provided by the entity, or on 
behalf of the entity, in exchange for services rendered, and is disclosed in the following categories.

Short-term employee benefits include amounts such as wages, salaries, annual leave, bonuses or sick leave that are 
usually paid or payable on a regular basis, as well as non-monetary benefits such as allowances and free or subsidised 
goods or services.

Post-employment benefits include pensions and other retirement benefits paid or payable on a discrete basis when 
employment has ceased.

Other long-term benefits include long service leave, other long service benefits or deferred compensation. 

Termination benefits include termination of employment payments, such as severance packages.

Several factors affected total remuneration payable to executives over the year. A number of employment contracts 
were completed and renegotiated and a number of executive officers, resigned in the past year.

The Executive Officer's remuneration amounts for the Consolidated Entity and the Parent Entity are the same.
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Total remuneration

Remuneration of executive officers

2019 

$000

2018 

$000

Short term employee benefits  4,413  4,025 

Post employment benefits  374  333 

Other long term benefits  (10)  48 

Termination benefits 60 n/a

Total remuneration  4,837  4,406 

Total number of executives  26  24 

Total annualised employee equivalents  20.0  19.3 

8.3 Related parties
VicTrack is a wholly owned and controlled statutory corporation of the State of Victoria. 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries:

Name Country of incorporation Percentage of equity interest held by  

the Consolidated Entity

2019 2018

Rolling Stock Holdings (Victoria) Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100%

Rolling Stock (Victoria - VL) Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100%

Rolling Stock (VL-1) Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100%

Rolling Stock (VL-2) Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100%

Rolling Stock (VL-3) Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100%

Related parties of the Consolidated Entity include:

•  all key management personnel and their close family members and personal business interests (controlled entities, 
joint ventures and entities they have significant influence over);

•  all cabinet ministers and their close family members; and

• all departments and public sector entities that are controlled and consolidated into the whole of state consolidated 
financial statements.
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Significant transactions with government-related entities
Significant transactions with government-related entities during the year are disclosed below:

Descriptions

2019

$000

2018

$000

Public Transport Victoria (PTV)
Contributions received for repayment  

of borrowings in relation to acquisition of rolling stocks
190,019 166,843

Equity contributions received 419,287 492,561

Infrastructure management, construction  

& other services provided
6,510 19,328

Receivables for infrastructure management,  

construction & other services provided
1,245 1,450

Department of Transport (DoT)

Equity contributions received 2,682,681 3,887,110

Infrastructure management, construction  

& other services provided
13,450 27,004

Receivables for infrastructure management,  

construction & other services provided
2,093 110

Treasury Corporation of Victoria (TCV)
Interest expense paid during the financial year  

for loans in relation to acquisition of rolling stocks
4,428 4,586

Cash & deposits with TCV as at 30 June 51,531 58,558

Loan balances owed to TCV as at 30 June 70,485 77,316

V/Line Corporation
Leasing of rolling stock to V/Line Corporation  

through the State of Victoria
29,225 29,225

Telecommunication & other services provided 17,975 15,596

Receivables for telecommunication & other services provided 2,742 1,225

Department of Treasury and Finance (DTF)

Capital asset charge 2,256,650 2,043,767
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Key management personnel
The Directors (as listed in note 8.1) and senior management forms part of the key management personnel of the 
Consolidated Entity.

Senior management during the financial year and until the date of this report are as follows:

Name Position

Campbell A. Rose AM Chief Executive & Accountable Officer 

Garry Button
Deputy Chief Executive

To 3 August 2018

Chris Olds 
Executive General Manager Business Services

From 23 July 2018

Anna Vourtsis Executive General Manager Communications & Engagement

Kristen Georgakopoulos Executive General Manager People & Culture

Peter Chau Executive General Manager Property Group

Bruce Moore Executive General Manager Telecommunications Group

Daniel Van Oosterwijck

Acting Executive General Manager Business Services

To 23 July 2018 

Executive General Manager Project Delivery Group

24 July 2018 to 14 September 2018

Nick Fisher
Acting Executive General Manager Project Delivery Group

From 14 September 2018 to 25 February 2019

Ian Burton
Executive General Manager Project Delivery Group

From 25 February 2019

Key management personnel compensation

Compensation of KMPs 

2019

$’000

2018

$’000

Short-term employee benefits  2,041  1,875 

Post employment benefits  133  126 

Other long term benefits  (2)  42 

Total  2,172  2,043 

The compensation for key management personnel for the Consolidated Entity and the Parent Entity are the same.

Transactions and balances with key management personnel
No Director or other key management personnel have entered into a material contract or other material transactions 
with the Consolidated Entity since the end of the previous financial year and there were no contracts or balances 
involving key management personnel interests existing at 30 June 2019 (2018: nil).
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8.4 Other economic flows included in net result
Other economic flows are changes in the volume or value of an asset or liability that does not result from transactions.

 

 

Note

Consolidated Parent

2019

$'000

2018

$'000

2019

$'000

2018

$'000

Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets

Impairment of property, plant and equipment  (37,279) (4,990) (37,279) (4,990)

Impairment of goodwill 4.2   (34,087) (6,972) - -

Net gain on disposal of property, plant & equipment   2,550  7,599  2,550  7,599 

Total net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets  (68,819) (4,364) (34,729)  2,608 

Other gains/(losses) from other economic flows

Other gains/(losses) from revaluation of long service liability  (597)  37 (597)  37 

Allowance for impairment losses of contractual receivables   18  48  18  48 

Total other gains/(losses) from other economic flows  (579)  85 (579)  85 

Total gain/(loss) on non-financial assets  (37,142) (4,279) (3,057)  2,693 

Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets
Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets and liabilities includes realised and unrealised gains and losses as follows:

•  Any gain or loss on the disposal of non-financial assets is recognised at the date of disposal and is determined after 
deducting the proceeds from the carrying value of the asset at the time.

•  Impairment on non-financial assets as described in Note 4.1.2 Impairment of non-financial physical assets.

Other gains/(losses) from other economic flows
Other gains/(losses) from other economic flows include the gains or losses from:

•  the revaluation of the present value of the long service leave liability due to changes in the bond interest rates or other 
assumptions.

8.5 Non-financial assets classified as held for sale
 

 
Consolidated Parent

2019

$'000

2018

$'000

2019

$'000

2018

$'000

Non-current assets

Land held for sale  8,677  10,118  8,677  10,118 

Total non-financial assets classified as held for sale  8,677  10,118  8,677  10,118 

Measurement of non-financial physical assets 
Non-financial physical assets are treated as current and classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be 
recovered through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use.

This condition is regarded as met only when:

•  the asset is available for immediate use in the current condition; and 

•  the sale is highly probable and the asset's sale is expected to be completed within 12 months from the date of  
 classification.

These non-financial physical assets, related liabilities and financial assets are measured at the lower of carrying amount 
and fair value less costs to sell, and are not subject to depreciation or amortisation.
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8.6 Functional and presentation currency
The consolidated financial statements are denominated in Australian dollars, which is the functional and presentation 
currency of the Consolidated Entity.

8.7 Audit fees
Audit fees paid or payable to the Victorian Auditor-General's Office for the audit of the financial statements were 
$157,700 (2018: $153,000) for the Consolidated Entity and $97,500 (2018: $95,000) for the Parent Entity.

8.8 Events after the reporting period
Assets, liabilities, income or expenses arise from past transactions or other past events. Where the transactions result 
from an agreement between the Consolidated Entity and other parties, the transactions are only recognised when the 
agreement is irrevocable at or before the end of the reporting period. Adjustments are made to amounts recognised 
in the financial statements for events which occur between the end of the reporting period and the date when the 
financial statements are authorised for issue, where those events provide information about conditions which existed 
at the reporting date. Note disclosure is made about events between the end of the reporting period and the date the 
financial statements are authorised for issue where the events relate to conditions which arose after the end of the 
reporting period that are considered to be of material interest.

No events have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or may significantly affect the 
operations of the Consolidated Entity, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Consolidated Entity 
in future financial years.
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8.9 Other accounting policies

Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax ("GST"), except where  
the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office ("ATO"). In these circumstances, the 
GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense.

Receivables and payables are recognised inclusive of GST.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included as a current asset or liability in the 
balance sheet.

Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising 
from investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are classified as  
operating cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed inclusive of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO.

Dividends
Section 36 of the Rail Corporations Act 1996, provides for a rail corporation to pay to the state amounts as directed 
by the Treasurer of Victoria after consultation with the Board of the Consolidated Entity and the Minister.

No determination was received from the Treasurer requiring the Consolidated Entity to make a dividend payment in 
respect to the years ended 30 June 2018 and 30 June 2019.

Prepayments
Prepayments represent payments in advance of receipt of goods or services or that part of expenditure made in one 
accounting period covering a term extending beyond that period.

Other financial assets
Other financial assets consists of funds on deposit. The use of funds on deposit is restricted to payments of interest 
on borrowings and payments to suppliers in relation to the construction of new rolling stock. The amount on deposit 
is subject to a fixed interest rate of 5.15 per cent (2018: 5.15 per cent) with quarterly payments of interest.

Physical asset revaluation surplus
The physical asset revaluation surplus is used to record increases and decreases in the fair value of property, 
infrastructure, plant and equipment.

8.10 New and amended standards adopted by the Consolidated Entity
The Consolidated Entity has adopted all of the new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued 
by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) that are mandatory for the current reporting period. On 
initial application of AASB 9 Financial Instruments on 1 July 2018, the accounting for financial assets and liabilities 
remains largely the same as it was under AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. Any new 
or amended Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been early adopted.
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8.11 New accounting standards and interpretations
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations applicable to the Consolidated Entity that have recently been 
issued or amended but are not yet effective, have not been early adopted by the Consolidated Entity for the annual 
reporting period ended 30 June 2019. These are outlined in the table below:

Topic Key requirements Effective dates Impact

AASB 1059 Service 

Concession Arrangements: 

Grantor

This standard prescribes the accounting 

treatment of public private partnership (PPP) 

arrangements involving a private sector operator 

providing public services related to a service 

concession asset on behalf of the State, for a 

specified period of time. For social infrastructure 

PPP arrangements, this would result in an earlier 

recognition of financial liabilities progressively 

over the construction period rather than at 

completion date. For economic infrastructure 

PPP arrangements that were previously not 

on balance sheet, the standard will require 

recognition of these arrangements on balance 

sheet. 

1 January 2020 The assessment has 

identified that the 

amendments are not 

likely to result in any 

significant impact on the 

entity’s financial position. 

AASB 2018-5 Amendments 

to Australian Accounting 

Standards – Deferral of 

AASB 1059

This standard defers the mandatory effective 

date of AASB 1059 from 1 January 2019 to 1 

January 2020.

1 January 2019 The assessment has 

indicated that there will 

be no significant impact 

for the entity.

AASB 16 Leases The key changes introduced by AASB 16 include 

the recognition of most operating leases (which 

are currently not recognised) on balance sheet, 

which has an impact on net debt.

1 January 2019 Management are 

currently assessing the 

impact of the leasing 

standard in particular is 

likely to have a significant 

impact.

AASB 15 Revenue from 

Contracts with Customers

The core principle of AASB 15 requires an  

entity to recognise revenue when the entity 

satisfies a performance obligation by 

transferring a promised good or service to a 

customer. Note that amending standard AASB  

2015-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting 

Standards – Effective Date of AASB 15 has 

deferred the effective date of AASB 15 to 

annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 

January 2018, instead of 1 January 2017.

1 January 2019 The assessment has 

indicated that there will 

be no significant impact 

for the entity.

AASB 2016-8 Amendments 

to Australian Accounting 

Standards – Australian 

Implementation Guidance 

for Not-for-Profit Entities

This standard amends AASB 9 and AASB 15 

to include requirements and implementation 

guidance to assist not-for-profit entities in 

applying the respective standards to particular 

transactions and events.

The amendments:

• require non-contractual receivable arising from 

statutory requirements (i.e. taxes, rates and 

fines) to be initially measured and recognised in 

accordance with AASB 9 as if those receivables 

are financial instruments; and clarifies 

circumstances when a contract with a customer 

is within the scope of AASB 15.

1 January 2019 The assessment has 

indicated that there will 

be no significant impact 

for the entity. 
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Topic Key requirements Effective dates Impact

AASB 2018-4 Amendments 

to Australian Accounting 

Standards – Australian 

Implementation Guidance 

for Not-for-Profit Public-

Sector Licensors

AASB 2018-4 provides the following guidance:

• matters to consider in distinguishing between a 

tax and a licence, with all taxes being accounted 

for under AASB 1058;

• IP licences are to be accounted for under AASB 

15; and

• non-IP, such as casino licences, are to be 

accounted for in accordance with the principles 

of AASB 15, after first having determined 

whether any part of the arrangement should be 

accounted for as a lease under AASB 16.

1 January 2019 The assessment has 

indicated that there will 

be no significant impact 

for the entity.

AASB 1058 Income of Not-

for-Profit Entities

This standard will replace AASB 1004 

Contributions and establishes principles for 

transactions that are not within the scope of 

AASB 15, where the consideration to acquire 

an asset is significantly less than fair value to 

enable not-for-profit entities to further their 

objectives. The restructure of administrative 

arrangement will remain under AASB 1004.

1 January 2019 The assessment has 

indicated that there will 

be no significant impact 

for the entity.

AASB 2018-8 Amendments 

to Australian Accounting 

Standards – Right of use 

asset

This standard amends various AASB standards 

to provide an option for not-for-profit entities 

to not apply the fair value initial measurement 

requirements to a class or classes of right of 

use assets arising under leases with significantly 

below-market terms and conditions principally 

to enable the entity to further its objectives. 

This Standard also adds additional disclosure 

requirements to AASB 16 for not-for-profit 

entities that elect to apply this option.

1 January 2019 The assessment has 

indicated that there will 

be no significant impact 

for the entity.

AASB 17 Insurance 

Contracts

The new Australian standard eliminates 

inconsistencies and weaknesses in existing 

practices by providing a single principle based 

framework to account for all types of insurance 

contracts, including reissuance contract that 

an insurer holds. It also provides requirements 

for presentation and disclosure to enhance 

comparability between entities.

This standard does not currently apply to not-for-

profit public sector entities. The

AASB is undertaking further outreach to 

determine the applicability of this standard to

: the not-for-profit public sector.

1 January 2021 The assessment has 

indicated that there will 

be no significant impact 

for the entity.
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Topic Key requirements Effective dates Impact

AASB 2018-6 Amendments 

to Australian Accounting 

Standards – Definition of a 

Business

This standard amends AASB 3 Business 

Combinations to clarify the definition of a 

business, assisting entities to determine whether 

a transaction should be accounted for as a 

business combination or as an asset acquisition. 

The amendments: 

• clarify that to be considered a business, 

an acquired set of activities and assets 

must include, at a minimum, an input and a 

substantive process that together significantly 

contribute to the ability to create outputs;

• remove the assessment of whether market 

participants are capable of replacing any 

missing inputs or processes and continuing to 

produce outputs;

• add guidance and illustrative examples to help 

entities assess whether a substantive process 

has been acquired;

• narrow the definitions of a business and of 

outputs by focusing on goods and services 

provided to customers and by removing the 

reference to an ability to reduce costs; and

• add an optional concentration test that permits 

a simplified assessment of whether an acquired 

set of activities and assets is not a business.

1 January 2020 The assessment has 

indicated that there will 

be no significant impact 

for the entity.

AASB 2018-7 Amendments 

to Australian Accounting 

Standards – Definition of 

Material

This standard amends AASB 101 Presentation of 

Financial Statements and AASB 108 Accounting 

Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and 

Errors. The amendments refine the definition 

of material in AASB 10 Events after the 

Reporting Period, include some supporting 

requirements in AASB 101 in the definition to give 

it more prominence and clarify the explanation 

accompanying the definition of material. The 

amendments also clarify the definition of 

material and its application by improving the 

wording and aligning the definition across AASB 

standards and other publications.

1 January 2020 The assessment has 

indicated that there will 

be no significant impact 

for the entity.

The following accounting pronouncements are also issued but not effective for the 2018-19 reporting period.  
At this stage, the preliminary assessment suggests they may have insignificant impacts on Consolidated Entity.

•  AASB 2017-4 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

•  AASB 2017-6 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation

•  AASB 2017-7 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures

•  AASB 2018-1 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Annual Improvements 2015 - 2017 Cycle

•  AASB 2018-2 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Plan Amendments, Curtailment or Settlement

•  AASB 2018-3 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Reduced Disclosure Requirements
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Leases
AASB 16 Leases replaces AASB 117 Leases, AASB Interpretation 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a 
Lease, AASB Interpretation 115 Operating Leases-Incentives and AASB Interpretation 127 Evaluating the Substance  
of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease.

AASB 16 sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and requires 
lessees to account for all leases on the balance sheet by recording a Right-Of-Use (Roll) asset and a lease liability 
except for leases that are shorter than 12 months and leases where the underlying asset is of low value (deemed to be 
below $10,000).

AASB 16 also requires the lessees to separately recognise the interest expense on the lease liability and the 
depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset, and remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence of certain  
events (e.g. a change in the lease term, a change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or 
rate used to determine those payments). The amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability will generally be 
recognised as an adjustment to the RoU asset. 

Lessor accounting under AASB 16 is substantially unchanged from AASB 117. Lessors will continue to classify all  
leases using the same classification principle as in AASB 117 and distinguish between two types of leases: operating 
and finance leases.

The effective date is for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The Consolidated Entity 
intends to adopt AASB 16 in 2019-20 financial year when it becomes effective. 

The Consolidated Entity will apply the standard using a modified retrospective approach with the cumulative effect  
of initial application recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of accumulated surplus at 1 July 2019, with 
no restatement of comparative information.

Various practical expedients are available on adoption to account for leases previously classified by a lessee as 
operating leases under AASB 117. The Consolidated Entity will elect to use the exemptions for all shortterm leases 
(lease term less than 12 months) and low value leases (deemed to be below $10,000). 

In addition, AASB 2018-8 - Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Right-of-Use Assets (RoU) of Not-for-
Profit Entities allows a temporary option for not-for-profit entities to not measure RoU assets at initial recognition 
at fair value in respect of leases that have significantly below-market terms, since further guidance is expected to be 
developed to assist not-for-profit entities in measuring RoU assets at fair value. The Standard requires an entity that 
elects to apply the option (i.e. measures a class or classes of such RoU assets at cost rather than fair value) to include 
additional disclosures. The Consolidated Entity intends to choose the temporary relief to value the RoU asset at the 
present value of the payments required (at cost).

Management are currently assessing the impact of the leasing standard in particular is likely to have a significant 
impact. 
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8.12 Glossary of technical terms
The following is a summary of the major technical terms used in this report.

Actuarial gains or losses on superannuation defined benefit plans are changes in the present value of

the superannuation defined benefit liability resulting from:

(a) experience adjustments (the effects of differences between the previous actuarial assumptions and what has 
actually occurred); and

(b)the effects of changes in actuarial assumptions.

Amortisation is the expense that results from the consumption, extraction or use over time of a non-produced physical 
or intangible asset. This expense is classified as an ‘other economic flow’.

Borrowings refers to interest bearing liabilities mainly raised from public borrowings raised through the Treasury 
Corporation of Victoria, finance leases and other interest bearing arrangements. Borrowings also include non-interest 
bearing advances from government that are acquired for policy purposes.

Commitments include those operating, capital and other outsourcing commitments arising from non-cancellable 
contractual or statutory sources.

Comprehensive result is the amount included in the operating statement representing total change in net worth other 
than transactions with owners as owners.

Current grants are amounts payable or receivable for current purposes for which no economic benefits of equal value 
are receivable or payable in return.

Depreciation is an expense that arises from the consumption through wear or time of a produced physical or intangible 
asset. This expense is classified as a ‘transaction’ and so reduces the ‘net result from transaction’.

Effective interest method is the method used to calculate the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating 
interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Employee benefits expenses include all costs related to employment including wages and salaries, fringe benefits 
tax, leave entitlements, redundancy payments, defined benefits superannuation plans, and defined contribution 
superannuation plans.

Financial asset is any asset that is:

(a) cash

(b) an equity instrument of another entity

(c)   a contractual right: 
– to receive cash or another financial asset from another entity; or 
–  to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are potentially 

favourable to the entity; or

(d)   a contract that will or may be settled in the entity’s own equity instruments and is: 
– a non-derivative for which the entity is or may be obliged to receive a variable number of the entity’s own  
   equity instruments; or 
–  a derivative that will or may be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial 

asset for a fixed number of the entity’s own equity instruments.

Financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity 
instrument of another entity. 
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Financial liability is any liability that is:

(a)   a contractual obligation: 
– to deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity 
–  to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are potentially 

unfavourable to the entity; or

(b)  a contract that will or may be settled in the entity’s own equity instruments and is: 
– a non-derivative for which the entity is or may be obliged to deliver a variable number of the entity’s own 
   equity instruments; or 
–  a derivative that will or may be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial 

asset for a fixed number of the entity’s own equity instruments. For this purpose, the entity’s own equity 
instruments do not include instruments that are themselves contracts for the future receipt or delivery of the 
entity’s own equity instruments. 

Financial statements comprises:

(a) a balance sheet as at the end of the period

(b) a comprehensive operating statement for the period

(c) a statement of changes in equity for the period

(d) a cash flow statement for the period

(e) notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information

(f)  comparative information in respect of the preceding period as specified in paragraph 38 of AASB 101 Presentation 
of Financial Statements

(g)  a statement of financial position as at the beginning of the preceding period when an entity applies an accounting 
policy retrospectively or makes a retrospective restatement of items in its financial statements, or when it 
reclassifies items in its financial statements in accordance with paragraphs 41 of AASB 101.

Grant expenses and other transfers are transactions in which one unit provides goods, services, assets (or extinguishes 
a liability) or labour to another unit without receiving approximately equal value in return. Grants can either be 
operating or capital in nature.

While grants to governments may result in the provision of some goods or services to the transferor, they do not give 
the transferor a claim to receive directly benefits of approximately equal value. For this reason, grants are referred to 
by the AASB as involuntary transfers and are termed non-reciprocal transfers. Receipt and sacrifice of approximately 
equal value may occur, but only by coincidence. For example, governments are not obliged to provide commensurate 
benefits, in the form of goods or services, to particular taxpayers in return for their taxes.

Grants can be paid as general purpose grants, which refer to grants that are not subject to conditions regarding their 
use. Alternatively, they may be paid as specific purpose grants, which are paid for a particular purpose and/or have 
conditions attached regarding their use.

Infrastructure systems provide essential services used in the delivery of final services or products. They are generally a 
complex interconnected network of individual assets and mainly include sewerage systems, water storage and supply 
systems, and public transport assets owned by the State.

Interest expense represents costs incurred in connection with borrowings. It includes interest on advances, loans, 
overdrafts, bonds and bills, deposits, interest components of finance lease repayments, and amortisation of discounts 
or premiums in relation to borrowings.

Interest income includes unwinding over time of discounts on financial assets and interest received on bank term 
deposits and other investments. 
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Leases are rights to use an asset for an agreed period of time in exchange for payment. Leases are classified at their 
inception as either operating or finance leases based on the economic substance of the agreement so as to reflect the 
risks and rewards incidental to ownership. Leases of infrastructure, property, plant and equipment are classified as 
finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership from the 
lessor to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Net financial liabilities is calculated as liabilities less financial assets. This measure is broader than net debt as it 
includes significant liabilities, other than borrowings (e.g. accrued employee liabilities such as superannuation and long 
service leave entitlements). 

Net financial worth is equal to financial assets minus liabilities. It is a broader measure than net debt as it incorporates 
provisions made (such as superannuation, but excluding depreciation and bad debts) as well as holdings of equity. Net 
financial worth includes all classes of financial assets and liabilities, only some of which are included in net debt. 

Net operating balance or net result from transactions is a key fiscal aggregate and is revenue from transactions minus 
expenses from transactions. It is a summary measure of the ongoing sustainability of operations. It excludes gains 
and losses resulting from changes in price levels and other changes in the volume of assets. It is the component of the 
change in net worth that is due to transactions and can be attributed directly to government policies. 

Net result is a measure of financial performance of the operations for the period. It is the net result of items of 
revenue, gains and expenses (including losses) recognised for the period, excluding those classified as ‘other non-owner 
movements in equity’. 

Net worth is calculated as assets less liabilities, which is an economic measure of wealth. 

Non-financial assets are all assets that are not financial assets. It includes inventories, land, buildings, infrastructure, 
road networks, land under roads, plant and equipment, cultural and heritage assets, intangibles and biological assets 
such as commercial forests.

Non-produced assets are assets needed for production that have not themselves been produced. They include land, 
subsoil assets, and certain intangible assets. Non-produced intangibles are intangible assets needed for production that 
have not themselves been produced. They include constructs of society such as patents. 

Operating result is a measure of financial performance of the operations for the period. It is the net result of items of 
revenue, gains and expenses (including losses) recognised for the period, excluding those that are classified as ‘other 
non-owner movements in equity’. Refer also ‘net result’. 

Other economic flows included in net result are changes in the volume or value of an asset or liability that do not result 
from transactions. In simple terms, other economic flows are changes arising from market remeasurements. They 
include gains and losses from disposals, revaluations and impairments of non-current physical and intangible assets; 
fair value changes of financial instruments and agricultural assets; and depletion of natural assets (non-produced) from 
their use or removal. 

Other economic flows – other comprehensive income comprises items (including reclassification adjustments) that are 
not recognised in net result as required or permitted by other Australian Accounting Standards. They include changes 
in physical asset revaluation surplus; share of net movement in revaluation surplus of associates and joint ventures; and 
gains and losses on remeasuring available-for-sale financial assets.

Payables includes short and long-term trade debt and accounts payable, grants, taxes and interest payable.

Produced assets include buildings, plant and equipment, inventories, cultivated assets and certain intangible assets. 
Intangible produced assets may include computer software, motion picture films and research and development costs 
(which does not include the start-up costs associated with capital projects).
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Receivables include amounts owing from government through appropriation receivable, short and long-term trade 
credit and accounts receivable, accrued investment income, grants, taxes and interest receivable.

Sales of goods and services refers to income from the direct provision of goods and services and includes fees and 
charges for services rendered, sales of goods and services, fees from regulatory services and work done as an agent 
for private enterprises. It also includes rental income under operating leases and on produced assets such as buildings 
and entertainment, but excludes rent income from the use of non-produced assets such as land. User charges includes 
sale of goods and services income. 

Supplies and services generally represent cost of goods sold and the day to day running costs, including maintenance 
costs, incurred in the normal operations of the Consolidated Entity. 

Transactions are those economic flows that are considered to arise as a result of policy decisions, usually an 
interaction between two entities by mutual agreement. They also include flows into an entity such as depreciation, 
where the owner is simultaneously acting as the owner of the depreciating asset and as the consumer of the 
service provided by the asset. Transactions can be in kind (e.g. assets provided/given free of charge or for nominal 
consideration) or where the final consideration is cash. In simple terms, transactions arise from the policy decisions of 
the government.
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Board of Victorian Rail Track 

Opinion I have audited the consolidated financial report of Victorian Rail Track (the entity) and its controlled 
entities (together the consolidated entity), which comprises the: 

• consolidated entity and entity balance sheet as at 30 June 2019 
• consolidated entity and entity comprehensive operating statement for the year then ended 
• consolidated entity and entity statement of changes in equity for the year then ended 
• consolidated entity and entity cash flow statement for the year then ended 
• notes to the financial statements, including significant accounting policies 
• declaration by chair, accountable officer and executive general manager business. 

In my opinion, the financial report presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial positions of 
the consolidated entity and the entity as at 30 June 2019 and their financial performance and cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with the financial reporting requirements of Part 7 of 
the Financial Management Act 1994 and applicable Australian Accounting Standards. 

Basis for 
Opinion 

I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which incorporates the Australian 
Auditing Standards. I further describe my responsibilities under that Act and those standards in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of my report.  

My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and I are independent of the 
entity and the consolidated entity in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting 
Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the 
Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in Victoria. My staff and I have also 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
my opinion. 

Board’s 
responsibilities 
for the 
financial 
report 

The board of the entity is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Financial Management Act 1994, 
and for such internal control as the board determines is necessary to enable the preparation and fair 
presentation of a financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the financial report, the board is responsible for assessing the entity and the 
consolidated entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless it is inappropriate to do so. 
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2 

Auditor’s 
responsibilities 
for the audit 
of the financial 
report 

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report 
based on the audit. My objectives for the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing 
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:  

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 
or the override of internal control. 

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity and the consolidated entity’s internal control 

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the board 

• conclude on the appropriateness of the board's use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity and the consolidated 
entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I 
am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial 
report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events 
or conditions may cause the entity and the consolidated entity to cease to continue as a going 
concern.  

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation 

• obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities 
or business activities within the entity and consolidated entity to express an opinion on the 
financial report. I remain responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the 
audit of the entity and the consolidated entity. I remain solely responsible for my audit 
opinion. 

I communicate with the board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I 
identify during my audit. 

 

MELBOURNE 
30 August 2019 

Simone Bohan 
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria 
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To ensure the best interests of VicTrack, the 
Victorian Government, the Victorian public and 

other stakeholders are best being served, VicTrack is 
committed to high standards of corporate governance. 

VicTrack has developed and maintains corporate 
governance policies and structures, having regard to 
applicable statutory requirements and relevant best 

practice recommendations, to achieve this. 
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Board role and responsibilities
The VicTrack Board of Directors is responsible for the strategic oversight of VicTrack’s affairs, including corporate 
governance practices and overall business performance. The Directors are appointed by the Governor-in-Council and 
are accountable to the Minister for Public Transport, Minister for Transport Infrastructure and the Treasurer. The role 
and responsibilities of the Board are set out in a formal Board Charter.

Each subsidiary company within the Rolling Stock Holdings group of companies also has the same Board of Directors 
with responsibility for the relevant company.

Board composition
At 30 June 2019, the Board comprised six independent, non-executive Directors: Geraldine Gray (Chair), Alan Hall 
(Deputy Chair), Paula Allen, Dr Collette Burke, Dan O’Brien and Randall Straw. Each Director has wide experience 
across various sectors and organisations, and together they bring a diverse range of knowledge and business expertise 
to VicTrack.

Michael Trumble retired as a VicTrack director with effect from close 31 October 2018. Dan O’Brien was appointed as a 
VicTrack director with effect from 1 August 2018.

Board meetings
VicTrack held seven Board meetings during the 2018–19 financial year.

Corporate Plan
VicTrack is required, under the Transport Integration Act 2010 and the State Owned Enterprises Act 1992, to prepare a 
corporate plan for Ministerial approval. The purpose of the plan is to establish the framework for business strategies 
and performance monitoring, to be agreed between the Board, the Minister for Transport Infrastructure, Minister for 
Public Transport and the Treasurer. The corporate plan is prepared annually and covers a four-year period starting from 
the current financial year.

Board performance
In accordance with the Board Charter, the Board is required to conduct an annual review to evaluate its performance 
and identify areas for improvement.

Delegation to management
Day-to-day management of VicTrack is delegated to the Chief Executive and other senior managers pursuant 
to a formal delegations policy and the delegations are set out in the accompanying Authorisations Register. Any 
amendments to delegations set out in the Authorisations Register are approved by the Board.
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Board committees
Five Board committees and one advisory group assisted the Board to perform its role during the year. Each is chaired by 
a Director, and has a formal charter or terms of reference setting out its roles and responsibilities.

At 30 June 2019, the members of the five Board sub-committees and the one advisory group were:

Audit and Risk Management Committee (ARMC)
Paula Allen (Chair), Geraldine Gray, Dan O’Brien (appointed 17 October 2018) and non-director member Paul White 
(appointed 23 August 2018). 

Remuneration and Human Resources Committee (RHRC)
Geraldine Gray (Chair) and Alan Hall (appointed 30 August 2018).

Property, Environment and Heritage Committee (PEHC)
Alan Hall (Chair), Paula Allen (appointed 18 October 2018), Michael Trumble (retired as director member and appointed 
as a non-director member on 1 November 2018). 

Telecommunications Committee (TLC)
Randall Straw (Chair), Dr Collette Burke, non-director member Dr Frank Heibel (reappointed 19 September 2018) and 
non-director member Richard Tait (appointed 5 March 2019).

Projects Committee (PROJC) (formerly the Projects and Freight Committee)
Dr Collette Burke (Chair), Geraldine Gray and Alan Hall. 

Freight and Logistics Advisory Group (FLAG)
Alan Hall (Chair), non-director members Professor Hermione Parsons, Ingilby Dickson and Michael Trumble (resigned as 
director member and appointed as a non-director member on 1 November 2018).
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Board and committee meetings

Member Note Board ARMC PEHC TLC RHRC PROJ^ FLAG

Directors

Geraldine Gray (i) 7 5 - - 3 3 -

Alan Hall (ii) 7 - 4 3 4 4

Paula Allen (iii) 7 5 1 2 - - -

Dr Collette Burke 5 - - 4 - 4 -

Dan O’Brien (iv) 7 4 - - - - -

Randall Straw (v) 7 1 - 5 - - -

Michael Trumble (vi) 3 - 2 - - - 2

Non Directors  

Michael Trumble (vi) n/a - 2 - - - 2

Frank Heibel (vii) n/a - - 5 - - -

Sally McLean (viii) n/a - 4 - - - -

Ingilby Dickson n/a - - - - - 4

Hermione Parsons n/a - - - - - 4

Paul White (ix) n/a 5 - - - - -

Richard Tait (x) n/a - - 2 - - -

(i) Appointed as Board Chair 1 July 2018 (existing director member); appointed Chair RHRC (existing member) 1 July 2018

(ii) Appointed as Board Deputy Chair (existing director member) on 1 July 2018; appointed RHRC member 30 August 2018; appointed PEHC Chair (existing member) on 18 

October 2018; appointed FLAG Chair (existing member) on 18 October 2018

(iii) Resigned as a TLC member on 18 October 2018; appointed PEHC member 18 October 2018

(iv) Appointed Board director 1 August 2018; appointed ARMC member 17 October 2018

(v) Resigned as ARMC member on 17 October 2018

(vi) Retired as Board member with effect from close 31 October 2018; retired as a director member and appointed as a non-director member of PEHC on 1 November 2018; 

retired as a director member and appointed as a non-director member of FLAG on 1 November 2018

(vii) Re-appointed non-director member of TLC on 19 September 2018

(viii) Resigned as member of PEHC on 14 March 2019

(ix) Appointed as ARMC member 23 August 2018

(x) Appointed as TLC member on 5 March 2019

Ministerial Directions and Orders in Council
During the reporting period, one Order in Council notice was given to VicTrack. The notice received related to the 
appointment of a Director. 
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VicTrack’s overarching goal is to embed a comprehensive safety program that focuses on meeting our legal obligations, 
and fostering a strong sense of care for the health and wellbeing of employees and the environment in which VicTrack 
operates.  

During the 2018–19 financial year, VicTrack developed the first company-wide safety strategy in consultation with key 
stakeholders from across the business. Through the effective implementation of this strategy, VicTrack will continue its 
ongoing journey towards best practice to ensure the continued health and safety of all of its employees.

A summary of noteworthy incidents that have occurred during the financial year include 14 notifiable incidents to the 
Office of the National Rail Safety Regulator (ONRSR) and 0 lost time injuries.

Year 2018-19 2017-18 2016-17 2015-16

Rail safety notifiable occurrences 14 16 20 9

Lost time injuries 0 2 1 3

Occupational Health and Safety

< Safety induction as part of the Bendigo Station pedestrian bridge lift
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The updated VicTrack 

safety strategy is 

comprised of a variety 

of significant initiatives, 

which include the 

following:
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Health and Wellness
Following last year’s development 
of a VicTrack Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy, the 2018–19 year was 
focused on implementing initiatives 
designed to improve the overall 
health and wellbeing of employees. 
These initiatives included the 
delivery of resilience training to 
better prepare employees to deal 
with potentially stressful events in 
both their work and personal lives. 
To support this, a series of mental 
health awareness speakers (from 
SANE Australia) were brought 
into the VicTrack offices to provide 
employees with tools to help them 
to manage their mental health. In 
support of these initiatives, VicTrack 
also ran a successful Rail Industry R U 
OK Day that further highlighted the 
importance of looking out for your 
workmates.

While mental health was a strong 
focus for 2018–19, there were also 
a number of programs that were 
focused on the physical health 
of employees. These included in-
house Pilates classes, work health 
assessments and the delivery of flu 
vaccinations. These initiatives were 
further supported by the introduction 
of a strengthened Flexible Work 
Policy designed to help employees 
better achieve a successful work-life 
balance.

Rail Safety Accreditation
A comprehensive review was 
conducted throughout the financial 
year to verify that VicTrack is 
compliant with the 29 elements 
of Rail Safety National Law. This 
review focused primarily on the 
Telecommunications part of the 
business to ensure that both 
corporate safety procedures 
and business group operational 
procedures are fit for purpose and 
comply with regulatory requirements.

A steering committee was 
established to ensure that proper 
governance was in place throughout 
the project with regular updates 
provided to both the Executive 
Committee and the Board. While 
there are still some actions to be 
completed, the state of VicTrack’s 
Rail Safety Accreditation with 
specific reference to its Trunk 
Telecommunication Infrastructure 
(TTI) component is compliant with 
ONRSR requirements.  

Health and Safety Training 
Program
One of the key elements of a 
robust safety program is to ensure 
that employees have the essential 
knowledge and skills required to 
conduct their daily roles in the safest 
manner possible. To help support this, 
the VicTrack safety training program 
was updated to include both core 
safety requirements, as well as the 
technical competencies required for 
employees to perform their roles. 
This included the introduction of a 
new induction program to ensure 
that office-based, field-based and 
employees who manage contractors 
are provided with a full overview of 
safety requirements.

As part of this update, a new record 
keeping system was also introduced 
that will improve the efficiency of 
the program and allow for individual 
manager/supervisors to have a 
clearer view of the training that their 
teams need to complete throughout 
the year. This will enable each 
individual team within VicTrack to 
more closely manage their training 
requirements, raising the level of 
accountability of both managers and 
employees at the operational level.

Health and Safety Risk 
Management
Managing safety risk lies at the 
core of any successful safety 
program.  During 2018–19, VicTrack 
invested heavily in this part of 
the safety program by bringing a 
number of dedicated risk experts 
into the business. This has acted to 
dramatically expand the business’ 
capability to review and update all 
of the risk processes into a more 
effective framework that aligns with 
the wider, overarching Enterprise Risk 
Management Framework.  

As part of this refresh, workshops 
were held with stakeholders from 
across the business to help embed 
the new processes. In conjunction 
with this, business group risk 
registers were updated to capture 
all significant safety-related risks 
within each operational area. These 
updated risk registers were then 
compiled into a single principal risk 
register designed to provide senior 
management with a clear and 
transparent view of how effectively 
safety risks are being controlled to 
protect the health and safety of 
employees.

Health and Safety Strategy Initiatives

< Breath testing as part of the safety requirements during the Bendigo Station pedestrian bridge lift
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Measure Notes 2018-19 2017-18 2016-17 2015-16

Incidents No. of Incidents 99 111 Data not 

available

3

Rate per 100 FTE 25.85* 29.06 0

No. of incidents 

requiring first aid  

&/or further  

medical treatment

11 20 0

Claims Number of standard 

claims 

2 3 2 3

Rate per 100 FTE 0.52* 0.79 0.55 0.94

No. of lost time claims 1 1 Data not available Purchasing 

guidelines contain 

OHS criteria

Rate per 100 FTE 0.26* .26 100% of planned 

workplace 

inspections 

completed

Number of claims 

exceeding 13 weeks

1 2 0 0

Rate per 100 FTE 0.26* 0.52 0 0

Fatalities Fatalities claims 0 0 0 0

Claim Costs Average cost per 

standard claim

$4,129 $17,979 $4,117 $3,070

Average claim costs do not include the reimbursed wages portion 

of the claim

Return to work
Percentage of claims 

with return to work plan 

>30 days

50%

0 RTW <30 days

0%

3 RTW <30 days

100% 100%

VicTrack OHS performance
A summary of VicTrack OHS performance is as follows:

* Based on 383 FTEs



  153

Measure Notes 2018-19 2017-18 2016-17 2015-16

Management 

commitment

Evidence of OHS policy, 

OHS objectives, regular 

reporting to senior 

management on OHS, 

and OHS plans (signed 

by CEO or equivalent)

3 policies have 

been reviewed & 

approved by the 

ELT/Board

1st Company-

wide HSE 

Strategy was 

approved by ELT/

Board

Statement of 

commitment 

signed by CE.

Monthly reporting 

to senior 

executives.

Statement of 

commitment 

signed by CE.

Monthly reporting 

to senior 

executives.

Statement of 

commitment 

signed by CE.

Monthly reporting 

to senior 

executives.

Evidence of OHS 

criteria in purchasing 

guidelines (including 

goods, services and 

personnel).

Procurement 

& purchasing 

process include 

OHS criteria

Procurement 

& purchasing 

process expanded 

to include OHS 

criteria

Procurement 

process was 

reviewed 

and updated 

to include 

improvements to 

the OHS criteria

Procurement 

process was 

reviewed & 

updated in 

accordance with 

recent revisions 

to Ministerial 

Direction

Consultation and 

participation

Evidence of agreed 

structure of designated 

workgroups (DWGs), 

Health & Safety 

Representatives (HSRs), 

& Issue Resolution 

Procedures

There are 10 

Designated Work 

Groups

10 HSRs

2 Deputy HSRs

All HSRs 

have received 

accredited HSR 

Training

A HSR 

Consultative 

Forum is 

conducted bi-

monthly

The Consultative 

Forum has an 

approved Terms 

of Reference

The Forums are 

documented 

with minutes of 

meetings

10 x designated 

work groups

12 HSRs

3 Deputy HSRs

Review of 

consultation 

process 

commenced along 

with Governance 

structures of OHS 

Committee

7 designated work 

groups

14 HSRs & Deputy 

HSRs

6 designated work 

groups

11 HSRs & Deputy 

HSRs

OHS consultation, 

communication, 

& issue resolution 

procedure was 

reviewed in

Safety 

Committee terms 

of reference was 

reviewed, updated 

& endorsed by 

the Executive 

Committee 

& the Safety 

Committee.
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Measure Notes 2018-19 2017-18 2016-17 2015-16

Consultation & 

participation 

continued

Compliance with 

agreed structure on 

DWGs, HSRs, and IRPs

100%

(6 meetings 

scheduled and 6 

meetings held)

All DWGs 

have HSR 

representation & 

have access to the 

OHS consultation, 

communication, 

& issue resolution 

procedure.

All DWGs 

have HSR 

representation & 

have access to the 

OHS consultation, 

communication, 

& issue resolution 

procedure.

All DWGs 

have HSR 

representation & 

have access to the 

OHS consultation, 

communication, 

& issue resolution 

procedure.

No. of Quarterly OHS 

Committee Meetings

4 4 4 4

Safety risk 

management

Percentage of internal 

audits/inspections 

conducted as planned

96%

Number of audits & 

inspections completed 

for 2018-2019 period

16 Inspections (of 

16 scheduled)

8 Audits (of 9 

scheduled)

Percentage of reported 

incidents investigated

33% (33 of 99 

investigated)

No. of Improvement 

Notices issued across 

the Organisation by 

Worksafe Inspector

0 0 2 0

Percentage of issues 

identified & actioned 

arising from

- Internal audits

- HSR PINs

- Worksafe Notices

100%

(29 issues 

actioned of 

29 total issues 

identified)

Data not 

available

Data not 

available

Data not 

available

VicTrack OHS performance cont.
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Measure Notes 2018-19 2017-18 2016-17 2015-16

Training Percentage of 

managers & staff that 

have received OHS 

training:

100% 100% 100% 100%

New starter Induction 100% 100% 100% 100%

Management training 0%

(Officer due 

diligence training 

scheduled for 

Sept 2019)

Data not 

available

Data not 

available

Data not 

available

Contractors & temps 100% 100% 100% 100%

Percentage of HSRs 

trained

0 100% 100% 100%

Upon acceptance of 

the role

0%

(refresher HSR 

training scheduled 

for Sept & Dec 

2019)

100% 100% 100%

Re-trained (annual 

refresher)

0%

(refresher HSR 

training scheduled 

for Sept & Dec 

2019)

Data not 

available

Data not 

available

Data not 

available
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data
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VicTrack aims to attract and develop highly 

capable leaders and staff to deliver outcomes 

for Victorians. We do this through measures to 

strengthen workforce and leadership capabilities. 

Our employment principles are guided by our 

workforce inclusion policies, Enterprise Agreement 

and organisational values.
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Comparative workforce data (i) (ii) 

Table 1. Full time equivalents (FTE) staffing trends from 2014 to 2018

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

383 382 367 319 319

Table 2. Summary of employment levels in June of 2018 and 2017

Ongoing employees (iii)
Fixed term & 

casual employees 

Employees 

(headcount)

Full time  

(headcount)

Part time  

(headcount)

FTE FTE

June 2019 388 293 11 300 83

June 2018 387 293 8 297 85

(i) All figures reflect employment levels during the last full pay period in June of each year

(ii) Excluded are those on leave without pay or absent on external secondment, external contractors/consultants, and temporary staff employed by employment agencies

(iii) Ongoing employees includes people engaged on an open-ended contract of employment and executives engaged on a standard executive contract who were active in  

the last full pay period of June

Employment and conduct principles
VicTrack is committed to applying equity principles when recruiting and selecting staff. Rigorous selection processes and 
probity checks ensure that applicants are assessed and evaluated fairly and on the basis of key selection criteria and 
other accountabilities without discrimination. Employees have been correctly classified in the workforce data collection.

Highly capable, resilient and engaged workforce
VicTrack seeks a goal of highly capable leaders and staff to deliver outcomes for Victorians. We seek to do this through 
strengthening workforce and leadership capabilities and by implementing strategies to deliver long-term success. 

Enterprise Agreement
The VicTrack Enterprise Agreement 2015–19 was fully implemented in February 2019 with the introduction of job 
families and associated classification levels.

Workforce inclusion policy
VicTrack is guided by its value, provides a collaborative environment and commits to fostering a respectful culture 
where everyone can thrive. VicTrack continues to work towards achieving an inclusive workplace that is safe, free from 
discrimination, bullying and harassment and where equal opportunity and diversity are valued.

Public administration values and employment principles
VicTrack adheres to and upholds the values, principles and conduct of the Victorian Public Sector Commission (VPSC). 
VicTrack employment practices are underpinned by the VPSC Code of Conduct which articulate the values and 
principles of Responsiveness, Integrity, Impartiality, Accessibility, Respect, Leadership, and Human Rights.

VicTrack’s policies are underpinned by the six VPSC standards defining employment principles:

Fair and reasonable treatment 
Merit in employment 
Equal employment opportunity 
Human rights 
Reasonable avenue of redress 
Career public service.
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Table 3. Details of employment levels in June of 2018 and 2017

2019 2018

Ongoing

Fixed term &  

casual employees Ongoing

Fixed term & 

casual employ-

ees

Employees 

(headcount) FTE FTE

Employees 

(headcount) FTE FTE

Gender

Male 208 207 63 214 213 63

Female 96 93 20 87 84 21

Self-Described (iv) n n n n n n

Age

15-24 3 3 1 4 4 1

25-34 38 38 11 45 45 8

35-44 102 101 27 94 91 26

45-54 104 102 26 101 101 33

55-64 49 49 14 53 53 15

65+ 8 7 4 4 3 2

Total 304 300 83 301 297 85

Classification

VPS 1 0 0 0 0 0 0

VPS 2 11 9 1 8 7 1

VPS 3 18 18 2 23 22 1

VPS 4 52 51 4 46 45 7

VPS 5 94 93 11 94 93 8

VPS 6 127 127 15 130 130 28

STS 2 2 29 0 0 19

Executive 0 0 21 0 0 21

Total 304 300 83 301 297 85

(iv) This data has not previously been captured
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Executive officer data 
An executive officer (EO) is defined as a person employed as a public service body head or other executive under Part 
3, Division 5 of the Public Administration Act 2004 (Vic), or is a person for whom the Victorian Government’s Policy on 
Executive Remuneration in Public Entities applies.

Table 4. Annualised total salary, by $20,000 bands, for Executives and other senior technical staff (STS) (v)

Income band (salary) Executives STS Other

< $160,000 - 11 -

$160,000 to $179,999 7 14 -

$180,000 to $199,999 7 5 -

$200,000 to $219,999 2 1 -

$220,000 to $239,999 1 - -

$240,000 to $259,999 1 - -

$260,000 to $279,999 2 - -

$280,000 to $299,999 - - -

$300,000 to $319,999 - - -

$320,000 to $339,999 - - -

$340,000 to $359,999 - - -

$360,000 to $379,999 - - -

$380,000 to $399,999 - - -

$400,000 to $419,999 1 - -

Total 21 31 -

(v) The salaries reported above reflect the full financial year and exclude superannuation

VicTrack staff members  >
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The following pages provide VicTrack's  

disclosures on government policies and our report 

on office-based environmental impacts. 
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Local Jobs First – Victorian Industry Participation Policy
The Victorian Industry Participation Policy Act 2003 requires departments and public sector bodies to report on the 
implementation of the Local Jobs First – Victorian Industry Participation Policy (Local Jobs First – VIPP).  
Departments and public sector bodies are required to apply the Local Jobs First – VIPP in all procurement activities 
valued at $3m or more in metropolitan Melbourne and for state wide projects, or $1m or more for procurement 
activities in regional Victoria.

During 2018-19, VicTrack commenced one Local Jobs First – VIPP applicable procurement totalling $12.8m.  
This project is located in the Melbourne Metropolitan area, with a commitment of 95 per cent of local content.  
The outcomes expected from the implementation of the Local Jobs First – VIPP to this project, where information  
was provided, are as follows:

• An average of 95 per cent of local content commitment was made.

• A total of zero jobs (annualised employee equivalent [AEE]) were committed, however retained 13 existing jobs (AEE).

• A total of three positions for apprentices/trainees were committed.

The commitments to the Victorian economy in terms of skills and technology transfer include training and skills 
development of apprentices and R&D Programs.

During 2018-19, VicTrack did not complete any Local Jobs First – VIPP applicable projects.  

Engagement of consultants

Details of consultancies (valued at $10,000 or greater)
In 2018-19, there were 29 consultancies where the total fees payable to the consultants were $10,000 or greater. 
The total expenditure incurred during 2018-19 in relation to these consultancies was $851,541 (excl. GST). Details of 
individual consultancies can be viewed at victrack.com.au/annualreports

Details of consultancies (valued at less than $10,000)
In 2018–19, there were 25 consultancies engaged during the year, where the total fees payable to the individual 
consultancies was less than $10,000. The total expenditure incurred during 2018–19 in relation to these consultancies 
was $126,358 (excl. GST).

Disclosure of major contracts
Under normal circumstances, VicTrack discloses all contracts greater than $10m in value in accordance with the 
requirements of government policy and accompanying guidelines.  During the 2018-19 financial year, VicTrack entered 
into one contract greater than $10m in value which was not disclosed. This contact was not disclosed as there were 
external stakeholder sensitivities associated with the award of this contract. 

Information and communication technology expenditure
For the 2017-18 reporting period, VicTrack had a total ICT expenditure of $97.807m with the details shown below.

Expenditure $ 000

Business as usual ICT expenditure 77,318

Non-business as usual ICT expenditure 20,489

Operational expenditure 9

Capital expenditure 20,480

VicTrack staff member meeting with external stakeholders >
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Freedom of information
The Freedom of Information Act 1982 (FOI Act) allows the public a right of access to documents held by VicTrack. 

VicTrack’s Freedom of Information (FOI) Part II Information Statement outlines VicTrack’s role, and makes it easy to  
find information about VicTrack’s key services and functions. It sets out what information is available to the public,  
and reduces the need for you to submit requests under the FOI Act.

Further information regarding VicTrack’s accountabilities and procedures are available on the VicTrack website at: 
victrack.com.au/about/policies-and-disclosures

FOI Requests – Year ending 30 June 2018

Requests received

Requests received in 2017–18 & finalised in 2018–19 1

Requests received in 2018–19  8

Requests received in 2018–19 but not yet finalised 0

Source of requests

Member of Parliament 1

Media 0

General public 7

Private corporation 1

Decisions on FOI requests in 2018–19 

Access granted in full 0

Access granted in part 1

Access refused 0

Documents not located/do not exist 0

Requests transferred to other department (pursuant to s18 of the FOI Act) 7

Invalid requests 1

Other 0

Processing time

Decisions made within the 30 day time frame requirements of section 21 of the FOI Act 9

Decisions made outside the 30 day time frame requirements of section 21 of the FOI Act 0

Reviews and complaints

Information Commissioner 1

VCAT 0
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Making a request
Access to documents may be obtained through a written request to the FOI Officer as detailed in s17 of the FOI Act.

In summary, the requirements for making a request are:

• it should be in writing

• it should identify as clearly as possible which document is being requested

• it should be accompanied by the appropriate application fee ($28.90), which may be waived in certain 
circumstances.

Requests should be submitted to:

The Freedom of Information Officer 
VicTrack 
GPO Box 1681 
Melbourne Victoria 3001

Additional information available on request
In compliance with the requirements of the Standing Directions 2018 under the Financial Management Act 1994, 
details in respect of the items listed below have been retained and are available to relevant Ministers, Members  
of Parliament and the public on request, subject to the provisions of the Freedom of Information Act 1982:

a) a statement that declarations of pecuniary interests have been duly completed by all relevant officers

b) details of shares held by a senior officer as nominee or held beneficially in VicTrack or a subsidiary

c) details of publications produced by VicTrack itself and how these can be obtained

d) details of changes in price, fees, charges, rates and levies charged by VicTrack

e) details of any major external reviews carried out on VicTrack

f)  details of major research and development activities undertaken by VicTrack

g) details of overseas visits undertaken including a summary of the objectives and outcomes of each visit

h)  details of major promotional, public relations and marketing activities undertaken by VicTrack to develop 
community awareness of VicTrack and its services

i) details of assessments and measures undertaken to improve the occupational health and safety of employees

j) a general statement on industrial relations within VicTrack and details of time lost through industrial accidents  
and disputes

k)  a list of major committees sponsored by VicTrack, the purposes of each committee and the extent to which the 
purposes have been achieved

l) details of all consultancies and contractors, including consultants/contractors engaged, services provided and 
expenditure committed to for each engagement.

The information is available on request from the Company Secretary at the address on the back cover of this report.

Compliance with the Building Act 1993
VicTrack is continuously managing its buildings and assets in accordance with the Building Act 1993.  
VicTrack’s asset management system includes a robust compliance program in order to meet these requirements  
and relevant guidelines.
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National Competition Policy
Under the National Competition Policy, the guiding legislative principle is that legislation, including future legislative 
proposals, should not restrict competition unless it can be demonstrated that the benefits of the restriction to the 
community as a whole outweigh the costs or the objectives of the legislation can only be achieved by restricting 
competition.

Competitive neutrality requires government businesses to ensure where services compete, or potentially compete with 
the private sector, any advantage arising solely from their government ownership be removed if they are not in the 
public interest. Government businesses are required to cost and price these services as if they were privately owned 
and thus be fully cost reflective. Competitive neutrality policy provides government businesses with a tool to enhance 
decisions on resource allocation. This policy does not override other policy objectives of government and focuses on 
efficiency in the provision of service.

VicTrack periodically reviews its policies and processes to ensure alignment with the Victorian Competitive Neutrality 
Policy.

The infrastructure leases with Public Transport Victoria provide for open access to Victoria’s rail infrastructure.  
PTV sub-leases to national, regional and suburban train and tram operators to facilitate the state’s open access regime, 
fostering competition among intrastate and interstate transport companies.

VicTrack also manages the Dynon Rail Freight Terminal. Critical rail facilities fall within the Victorian rail access regime 
and others compete on a commercial basis.

VicTrack has approached its other non-transport opportunities within the framework of maintaining an open track 
access regime. That is, no one party is given exclusive rights to the rail corridor to the detriment of competition.
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Compliance with the Protected Disclosure Act 2012 
The Protected Disclosure Act 2012 (Vic) (PD Act) encourages and assists people in making disclosures of improper 
conduct by public officers and public bodies. The PD Act provides protection to people who make disclosures in 
accordance with the PD Act and establishes a system for the matters disclosed to be investigated and rectifying  
action to be taken.

VicTrack does not tolerate improper conduct by employees, or the taking of reprisals against those who come 
forward to disclose such conduct. It is committed to ensuring transparency and accountability in its administrative 
and management practices and supports the making of disclosures that reveal corrupt conduct, conduct involving 
a substantial mismanagement of public resources, or conduct involving a substantial risk to public health and 
safety or the environment.

VicTrack will take all reasonable steps to protect people who make such disclosures from any detrimental action 
in reprisal for making the disclosure. It will also afford natural justice to the person who is the subject of the 
disclosure to the extent it is legally possible.

Disclosures of improper conduct or detrimental action by VicTrack or any of its employees and/or officers may also 
be made directly to the Independent Broad-Based Anti-Corruption Commission (IBAC):

Level 1, North Tower, 459 Collins Street 
Melbourne Victoria 3000

Phone: 1300 735 135

Internet: ibac.vic.gov.au (which has a secure form for making anonymous complaints).

Alternatively, disclosures of improper conduct or detrimental action by VicTrack or any of its employees and/or 
officers may be made to:

• the Protected Disclosure Coordinator, being the Company Secretary

• the Chief Executive

• General Counsel

• a manager or supervisor of a VicTrack employee who chooses to make a disclosure

• a manager or supervisor of a VicTrack employee about whom a disclosure has been made.

Disclosures made to IBAC about improper conduct or detrimental action by VicTrack and/or its employees will 
be afforded protection under the Act. However, disclosures made to VicTrack will not be guaranteed the same 
protections. 

Further information 
The Protected Disclosure Policy and Procedures, which outline the system for reporting disclosures of improper 
conduct or detrimental action by the Department or any of its employees and/or officers, are available on 
VicTrack’s website at victrack.com.au/about/policies-and-disclosures 

Disclosures under the Protected Disclosure Act 2012
During the year, there were no disclosures made to VicTrack, nor disclosed matters referred to the Ombudsman.
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Office-based environmental impacts
VicTrack monitored the environmental impacts of its operations for 2018–19. Paper consumption was monitored 
throughout the year, while energy, waste, and travel data was collected and reviewed at the end of the year.

Throughout 2018–19, VicTrack maintained an environmental management system (EMS) in line with its Sustainability 
Strategy (2017-2021) and the international standard ISO14001. The EMS focuses on four themed areas: 

(1)  understanding our environmental impacts and building resilience 
(2)  protecting and conserving our natural assets  
(3)  contamination management 
(4) empowering our employees. 

The EMS is used to monitor office and operational environmental impacts, and to assist with influencing external 
stakeholders.

A Sustainability Committee comprising staff members from across the organisation met monthly to progress the EMS 
and related actions. Highlights for 2018-2019 include

• Waste reduction campaign through the introduction of coffee cup recycling as well as zero waste recycling boxes for 
snack wrappers, office supplies, and mailroom supplies.

• Reusable coffee cup campaign through the subsidy of reusable rCUP’s to staff, which are made from the coffee cups 
VicTrack is currently recycling.

• Sustainable procurement of office supplies campaign through updating the default supply options to more 
environmentally friendly / sustainable items.

• Staff volunteer biodiversity planting day in conjunction with Landcare Australia and Friends of Stony Creek, which 
included an information session on native flora and fauna found on VicTrack land.

• Collaboration with social enterprises interested in the donation of VicTrack’s e-waste.

• Investigating alternative uses of available VicTrack land for Carbon Offsetting.

The Sustainability Strategy (2017-2021) comprises targets and key performance indicators with a baseline year of  
2015-2016 and target year of 2020-2021. Performance against the targets and key performance indicators are 
summarised in the sections below. The suite of environmental indicators presented below is based on Financial 
Reporting Direction 24D. Unless noted elsewhere in the report, the data predominantly represents VicTrack’s  
office-based activities at 1010 La Trobe Street, which represents approximately 98 per cent of VicTrack’s staff. 
Operational sites have also been considered for energy consumption and emission. However, the consumption of 
resources and associated generation of waste and greenhouse gas emissions are primarily due to office-based 
activities.

VicTrack’s greenhouse gas inventory has been prepared using Australia’s Department of the Environment and  
Energy’s National Greenhouse Accounts Factors, updated in July 2018. In addition, to estimate emissions associated 
with air travel, the United Kingdom’s Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy’s Greenhouse gas 
reporting: conversion factors 2019 was used.

VicTrack staff members >
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Energy
VicTrack consumed energy at multiple corporate and operational facilities including: 1010 La Trobe Street Docklands, 
595 Collins Street Melbourne, the Sunshine Warehouse and North Dynon Terminal. 

Changes to office and operational facilities for 2018-2019 include staff moving out from 595 Collins St which is held 
vacant, and the McLister Street Store moving to Sunshine Warehouse.

Energy data was collected from energy retailer’s billing information. The 1010 La Trobe St building has a 5 Star Green 
Star Office Design Rating and a 4.5 NABERS Energy Rating.

Energy consumed for base building amenities such as heating, cooling, fire and security systems at the 1010 La Trobe 
Street and 595 Collins Street office locations was not metered separately for each tenant within the building. Energy 
use was charged to building management and subsequently apportioned to each occupier within the building based 
on occupied floor space. As such, the amount of energy consumed by VicTrack for base building amenities at these 
locations has not been included in the energy usage report since 2014-15. 

VicTrack owned and operated multiple data centres which were used for VicTrack’s unified communications system 
and to operate information and communication technology. The data centres were for VicTrack’s operational use and 
external customer use. VicTrack’s energy use is presented in Table 1. This data represents all of VicTrack’s staff and 
operational/corporate sites.

Table 1. Energy use

Indicator 2018–19 2017-18 2016-17 2015-16
1
 

Office based 

Total energy usage (office based)
2
  

(electricity - MJ)
3,674,601 3,791,880 3,344,064 3,511,681

Greenhouse gas emission associated 

with total energy use (t CO2-e)  

(office based)

1,038 1,081
3
  1,003 1,102

1,003 1,102 - -

Percentage of electricity purchased  

as Green Power
5 5

4
 0 0

Units of energy used per FTE  

(MJ / FTE)
9,586 9,919 9,129 11,018

Units of energy used per unit of  

office area (MJ/m2)
639 660 813 829

Operational facilities and data centres

Total energy usage  

(operational facilities)
5
 (MJ)

425,819 487,445 612,686 179,037

Indicator

Total energy usage (data centres)
6
 

(MJ)
7,709,655 8,537,706 8,762,581 9,822,550

Greenhouse gas emission associated 

with total energy use (t CO2-e)  

(operational facilities)

127 146 184 56

Greenhouse gas emission associated 

with total energy use  

(data management) (T CO2-e)

2,291 2,561 2,629 3,083

1 2015-16 total energy usage data updated to separate corporate office and operational facility data usage

2 Where billing data was unavailable before the close of the reporting period, estimated billing data based on previous months billing usage was used 

3 Updated from previous report, Green Power had not been excluded

4 Commencing in January 2018, Green Power was purchased for 1010 La Trobe Street and 595 Collins Street

5 Electricity consumption for August 2017 and June 2018 has been estimated by the energy supplier

6 Total energy usage for data centres is reported separately to the total office based energy usage calculation. Electricity consumption for May and 

June has been estimated by the energy supplier
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Result
Energy use has reduced slightly at the La Trobe Street building, with a three per cent reduction since 2017-18  
observed. VicTrack purchased five per cent of its electricity for its corporate offices from green energy sources.

Energy consumption at operational facilities decreased by 13 per cent from 2017-18. This reduction is primarily due  
to a change in operational use of North Dynon Terminal.

Energy consumption at data centres decreased by 10 per cent from 2017-18. Upgrading of air conditioning and 
installation of solar cells resulted in a 15 per cent reduction at one location. Energy consumption at data centres has 
reduced 22 per cent over the last four years. However, it still accounts for 65 per cent of VicTrack’s overall energy usage, 
due to the high energy demand of specialised equipment that require cooling and uninterrupted power supplies.

Actions undertaken
A server consolidation project commenced. This is expected to result in a reduction of the number of servers  
and energy consumption.

An energy study of solar installation on VicTrack buildings commenced and will continue into 2019-20.  
Potential buildings have been identified and a trial is being planned. 

Targets
Energy reduction targets from the Sustainability Strategy are summarised in Table 2.

Table 2. Energy targets

KPI 2018–2019 Performance Target for 2020–2021

Megajoules of corporate office energy used per FTE (MJ/FTE) 9,586 9,917 

Megajoules of energy used per m
2
 of office space (MJ/ m2) 639 746 

Percentage of energy for office-based facilities purchased as Green 

Power (%)
5 20
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7 Paper data reported is sourced from corporate supplier, June 2018 - May 2019

8 The 100 per cent recycled paper procured by VicTrack is also certified as PEFC

9 Sustainably certified copy paper includes: Carbon Neutral certified paper (adds no further greenhouse gas emissions to the environment; PEFC (programme for the  

endorsement of forest certification) where product is from sustainability managed forests and controlled resources; FSC (Forest Stewardship council) where product is 

from forests where responsible management is undertaken. The 100 per cent recycled paper that is also PEFC certified is excluded from this figure

Paper
Paper usage is based on staff located at 1010 La Trobe Street, North Dynon and Gertrude St. VicTrack’s paper usage is 
presented in Table 3.

Table 3. Paper use7

Indicator 2018–19 2017-18 2016-17 2015-16

Units of A4 equivalent copy paper used (reams) 1,972 2,143 2,192 2,447

Units of A4 equivalent copy paper used per FTE  

(reams / FTE)
5.1 5.6 6.0 7.7

Percentage of >80% recycled content copy paper  

purchased
8

30 3 27 44

Percentage of 50–79% recycled content copy paper 

purchased
4 0 0 0

Percentage of 0–49% recycled content copy paper 

purchased
4 0 3 9

Percentage of sustainably certified copy paper  

purchased
9

63 96 68 46

Percentage of recycled content 30 3 26 38

Percentage of non-recycled 7 0 3 15

Result and trends in performance
In 2018–2019, total paper usage decreased by 171 reams from 2017–18, representing an eight per cent reduction in reams 
purchased per FTE.

In 2018–19 VicTrack made a decision to change paper type from carbon neutral to 100 per cent recycled, which is 
reflected in the data above. Sustainably certified paper made up 1,249 reams (63 per cent) of total paper purchased, 
while recycled copy paper content comprised 590 reams (30 per cent), and non-recycled the remaining seven per cent.

Actions undertaken
Actions undertaken to reduce paper usage in 2018–19 include ongoing implementation of the ‘Follow me Print’ program 
as the default printer setting on all office based computers.

VicTrack introduced an automated electronic invoice receipting system, reducing the requirement to print invoices. 

Paper reduction campaigning continued throughout 2018-19 with paper consumption data trends communicated via 
the intranet.

Targets
Paper reduction targets that were established in the sustainability action plan are summarised in Table 4. 

Table 4. Paper targets

KPI 2018-2019 Performance Target for 2020-2021

Reams of A4 paper used per full-time equivalent (reams/FTE) 5.2 6 

Percentage of recycled, or carbon neutral, content in copy 

paper purchased (%)
93 >90
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Transportation
VicTrack used a fleet of vehicles for operational requirements. VicTrack’s fleet comprised a mix of diesel fuelled 
6-cylinder and 4-cylinder vehicles including four-wheel drives (4WDs), and petrol fuelled standard and hybrid vehicles. 
VicTrack’s fleet energy use and greenhouse gas emissions are presented in Table 5. This data represents all of  
VicTrack’s staff.

Table 5. Operational vehicle transport10 

Indicator 2018–19 2017-18

Total energy consumption (MJ) 

Diesel 4WD 3,186,409 2,223,167

Diesel 1,442,802 1,491,890

Petrol 437,795 643,439

Hybrid 173,441 154,687

Total 5,240,446 4,513,182

Total vehicle travel associated with entity operations (km) 

Diesel 4WD 763,710 552,383

Diesel 365,998 383,713

Petrol 130,757 190,377

Hybrid 78,398 75,560

Total 1,338,863 1,202,033

Total greenhouse gas emissions from vehicle fleet (t CO2-e) 

Diesel 4WD 225 157

Diesel 102 105

Petrol 35 44

Hybrid 14 10

Total 375 316

Greenhouse gas emissions from vehicle fleet per 1,000 km travelled (t CO2-e)

Diesel 4WD 0.29 0.28

Diesel 0.28 0.27

Petrol 0.27 0.23

Hybrid 0.18 0.14

Total 0.28 0.26

10 Vehicle energy consumption, kilometres travelled and greenhouse gas emissions are for the 12 month period June 2017 to May 2018 to coincide with the availability  

of data for reporting
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Other travel

Indicator 2018–2019 2017–2018 2016–17 2015–16

Air Travel: Total distance travelled by air (km) 124,113 119,998 84,874 25,862

Percentage of employees using 

sustainable transport (public 

transport, cycling, walking or 

carpooling) to get to and from 

work, by locality type.
11

 

92 
12

82 86 91

Result
Total kilometres travelled by operational vehicles increased by approximately 11 per cent between 2017-18 and 2018–19 
due to an increased demand from construction and maintenance activity. The number of operational vehicles increased 
by 35 per cent.

Distance travelled by air increased 3.4 per cent from 2017–18. 

Ninety-three per cent of staff adopted some form of sustainable transport in 2018–19, maintaining a high level of 
sustainable transport use and increasing 11 per cent from 2017–18.

Actions undertaken
Staff were encouraged to take public transport to meetings, undertake walking meetings, and use video conferencing  
as an alternative to travel.

Targets

Table 6. EMS Transport targets 

KPI 2018–2019 Performance Target for 2020–2021

Percentage of VicTrack fleet with hybrid, electric or 

low-emission fuel technology (%)
8 (6 fleet hybrids) 30 

Percentage of staff surveyed that use sustainable 

transport methods to/from work (includes walking, 

cycling, carpooling or public transport) (%)

93 90

11 Work from home category collected in 2018-2019 and counted as a sustainable travel option

12 The data for employee mode of transport represents data from approximately 50 per cent of employees
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Waste
A waste separation system was available at 1010 La Trobe Street, which segregated waste into four streams: 
cardboard and paper recycling; co-mingled recycling; landfill; and green waste. Secure document paper, electronic 
media, battery and print toner cartridge waste recycling was also available. In 2018–19 soft plastics, office materials, 
and single stream coffee cup recycling was introduced into the business.

VicTrack’s Waste data is presented in Table 7. This data is based on monthly waste audits at 1010 La Trobe Street of 
the four waste streams (cardboard/paper, co-mingled, landfill and green waste); representing 98 per cent of VicTrack’s 
staff. Volumes of secure document recycling is also provided as data is collected on this as provided. 

Table 7. Waste13 

Indicator 2018-19 2017-18

Cardboard 

/ paper 

recycling

Co-

mingled 

recycling 

Secure 

document 

recycling Landfill

Green 

waste

Cardboard 

/ paper 

recycling

Co-

mingled 

recycling 

Secure 

document 

recycling Landfill

Green 

waste

Total units 

of waste 

disposed 

of by 

destination 

(kg/yr) 

1,600 1,650 10,844 4,345 3,310 130 1,815 10,580 5,310 2,770

Total units 

of waste 

disposed of 

per FTE by 

destination 

(kg/FTE) 

4.3 4.4 29.2 11.7 8.9 0.4 4.9 28.5 14.3 7.5

Recycling 

rate (% of 

total waste) 

- - - - 80 - - - - 74

Greenhouse 

gas 

emissions 

associated 

with waste 

disposal  

(t CO2-e) 

- - - 6.1 - - - - 7.4 -

Result
An 80 per cent diversion from landfill was achieved in 2018–19, up from 74 per cent in the previous year. As a result, 
greenhouse gas emissions associated with landfill waste have been reduced by 18 per cent compared to 2017-18. 

In 2018-2019, waste disposed to landfill reduced 2.6 kg per FTE (18 per cent) compared to previous year; and reduced 
15.2 kg per FTE (56 per cent) compared to 2015-2016 baseline (26.3 kg per FTE).

Actions undertaken
• Coffee cup recycling program was introduced at 1010 La Trobe St, diverting 15,34614  coffee cups from landfill. 

• Waste reduction campaign through the introduction of zero waste recycling boxes for snack wrappers,  
office supplies, and mailroom supplies.

• Reusable coffee cup, rCUP, provided to staff (subsidised). The cups are made from the coffee cups VicTrack is 
recycling.

• Recycling of office-based materials (styrofoam, printer cartridges, paper, and office supplies).

• Separation and recycling of batteries.

• Collection of e-waste for recycling or reuse.

13 Data presented for 2014-18 financial years has been extrapolated from one, five-day waste audit at 1010 La Trobe Street

14 From July 2018 to May 2019
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Targets
Office based waste reduction targets were established as part of the EMS.

KPI 2018-2019 Performance Target for 2020-2021

Kilograms of office waste disposed of to 

landfill per FTE by destination (kg/FTE)
11.7 23.6

15
 

Recycling rate (percentage of total waste 

volume that is recycled) (%)
80 60

Water
VicTrack’s main corporate office located in the Docklands is a 5-Star rating building, which houses 98 per cent of 
VicTrack employees. The building has a closed loop blackwater treatment plant that recycles/reuses approximately 95 
per cent of water from the building. Water collected from the toilet, hand basins, showers and kitchen areas are treated 
by the unit and recycled back into the system. Only a small amount of reticulated water is used for showers, hand 
basins and kitchen areas.

Approximately 98 per cent of VicTrack employees are located at VicTrack’s head office, 1010 La Trobe Street. At this 
locations water consumption is not metered separately. Water consumed is charged to building management and 
subsequently apportioned to each occupier within the building based on the occupied floor space. As such, the amount 
of water consumed by VicTrack cannot be accurately obtained at this time and has not been reported.

Greenhouse gas emissions 
The emissions disclosed in Table 8 provide a summary of VicTrack’s greenhouse footprint. The data presented here has 
been taken from previous sections. 

Table 8. VicTrack total emissions

Indicator 2018–19 2017–18 2016–17 2015–16

Total greenhouse gas emissions associated with 

energy use (t CO2-e) (office)
1,038 1,081

16
 1,003 1,102

Total greenhouse gas emissions associated with 

energy use (t CO2-e) (operational facilities)
96 146 184 56

Total greenhouse gas emissions associated with 

energy use (t CO2-e) (data centres)
2,292 2,561 2,629 3,083

Total greenhouse gas emissions associated with 

vehicle fleet (t CO2-e)
375 316 314 378

Total greenhouse gas emissions associated with 

air travel (t CO2-e)
17

 
10 11 12 4

Total greenhouse gas emissions associated with 

waste production (t CO2-e)
6 7 - 

18
9

Total greenhouse gas emissions (t CO2-e) 3,817 4,151 4,143 4,632

Result
Total reported greenhouse gas emissions for 2018–19 reduced by seven per cent compared to the previous year. 
This is predominantly due to a reduction in emissions related to the operation of data centres. Improvements to air 
conditioning and consolidation of servers contributed to this reduction.  When compared to the 2015-16 baseline 
VicTrack has reduced its annual greenhouse gas emissions by 18 per cent.

15 10 per cent reduction from baseline of 26.3 kg per FTE

16 Updated from previous year, Greenpower excluded

17 In 2017–18 a new method of estimating greenhouse gas emissions was used, the United Kingdom’s Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy’s 

Greenhouse gas reporting: conversion factors 2018. Emissions from previous years have been adjusted to use the same method

18 No waste audit data collected for 2016–2017
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Procurement
VicTrack procured goods for office and field based activities and services from contractors and consultants in 2018–19. 
VicTrack incorporated environmental requirements into procurement decision making by:

• including environmental and sustainability requirements in tender specifications, tender schedules, and tender 
evaluation criteria

• setting sustainable options as the default when purchasing office consumables

• purchasing paper with a recycled content or carbon neutrality

• developing contractor sustainability reporting metrics

• reviewing contractor management processes.

In 2018–19, VicTrack commenced reviewing its procurement requirements including environmental sustainability 
procurement in line with government requirements. VicTrack aims to develop a Social Procurement Framework which  
will include sustainability procurement elements and targets in 2019-2020.

VicTrack has also begun investigating sustainable infrastructure initiatives and is seeking ways to incorporate sustainable 
materials into its construction projects.

Compliance with DataVic Access Policy
Consistent with the DataVic Access Policy issued by the Victorian Government in 2012, which requires agencies to make 
datasets or databases accessible for public use unless needing to be restricted for reasons of privacy, public safety, 
security and law enforcement, public health and compliance with the law, VicTrack has not released, or identified for 
release, any dataset or database.

VicTrack Financial Management Compliance Attestation Statement
I, Geraldine Gray, Chair of VicTrack, certify that VicTrack has complied with the applicable Standing Directions of the 
Minister for Finance under the Financial Management Act 1994 and Instructions.

The VicTrack Audit and Risk Management Committee verifies this.

Geraldine Gray 
Chair 
Victorian Rail Track (VicTrack) 
30 August 2019

Telecommunications group team member undertaking maintenance in our data centre >
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Disclosure index
VicTrack’s Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with all relevant legislation and pronouncements. This index 
has been prepared to facilitate identification of VicTrack’s compliance with statutory disclosure requirements.

Ministerial Directions

Report of operations

Charter and purpose

Legislation Requirement Page

FRD 22H Manner of establishment & the relevant Ministers Page 14

FRD 22H Purpose, functions, powers and duties Page 14

FRD 8D Departmental objectives, indicators & outputs N/A

FRD 22H Key initiatives & projects Page 2

FRD 22H Nature & range of services provided Page 14

Management and structure

Legislation Requirement Page 

FRD 22H Organisational structure Page 145
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Report of operations cont.

Financial and other information

Legislation Requirement Page

FRD 8D Performance against output performance measures Page 20

FRD 10A Disclosure index Page 185

FRD 12B Disclosure of major contracts Page 166

FRD 15E Executive Officer Disclosures Page 162

FRD 22H Employment & conduct principles Page 160

FRD 22H Occupational health & safety policy Page 149

FRD 22H Summary of the financial results for the year Page 62

FRD 22H Significant changes in financial position during the year Page 62

FRD 22H Major changes or factors affecting performance Page 62

FRD 22H Subsequent events N/A

FRD 22H Application & operation of Freedom of Information Act 1982 Page 168

FRD 22H Compliance with building & maintenance provisions of Building Act 1993 Page 169

FRD 22H Statement on Competitive Neutrality Policy Page 170

FRD 22H Application & operation of the Protected Disclosure Act 2012 Page 171

FRD 22H Application and operation of the Carers Recognition Act 2012 Page 160

FRD 22H Details of consultancies over $10,000 Page 166

FRD 22H Details of consultancies under $10,000 Page 166

FRD 22H Disclosure of ICT expenditure Page 166

FRD 22H Statement of availability of other information Page 169

FRD 24D Reporting of office-based environmental impacts Page 172

FRD 25D Local Jobs First – Victorian Industry Participation Policy disclosures Page 166

FRD 29C Workforce data disclosures Page 158

SD 5.2 Specific requirements under Standing Direction 5.2 Page 61

Compliance attestation and declaration

Legislation Requirement Page

SD 5.1.4 Attestation for compliance with Ministerial Standing Direction Page 61

SD 5.2.3 Declaration in report of operations Page 61
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Financial statements  

Declaration

Legislation Requirement Page

SD 5.2.2 Declaration in financial statements Page 61

Other requirements under Standing Directions 5.2

Legislation Requirement Page

SD 5.2.1(a)
Compliance with Australian accounting standards & other authoritative 

pronouncements
Page 61

SD 5.2.1(a) Compliance with Ministerial Directions Page 61

SD 5.2.(b) Compliance with Model Financial Report Page 61

Other disclosures as required by FRDs in notes to the financial statements*

Legislation Requirement Page

FRD 21C
Disclosures of responsible persons, Executive Officers & other personnel 

(contractors with significant management responsibilities) in the financial report
Page 122

FRD 103G Non-financial physical assets Page 84

FRD 110A Cash flow statements Page 66

FRD 112D Defined benefit superannuation obligations Page 75

*Note: References to FRDs have been removed from the Disclosure Index if the specific FRDs do not contain requirements that are of the nature of disclosure

Legislation

Legislation Page

Freedom of Information Act 1982 Page 168

Building Act 1993 Page 169

Protected Disclosure Act 2012 Page 171

Carers Recognition Act 2012 Page 160

Victorian Industry Participation Policy Act 2003 Page 166

Financial Management Act 1994 N/A
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Board of Directors at 30 June 2019
VicTrack Directors are appointed on the basis of their ability to contribute to meeting VicTrack’s objectives. Each 
Director has wide experience with other boards and organisations, and together they bring a diverse range of 
knowledge and business expertise to VicTrack. At year end, the Board comprised six independent, non-executive 
Directors – Geraldine Gray (Chair), Alan Hall (Deputy Chair), Paula Allen, Dr Collette Burke, Dan O’Brien and 
Randall Straw.

Geraldine Gray BA, LLB, LLM - Chair
Geraldine has spent more than 30 years in the legal industry, practising as a solicitor then a barrister in NSW, 
Hong Kong and Victoria. She has been at the Victorian Bar since 2004 and brings with her broad and invaluable 
legal experience in the commercial, contractual and construction sectors. Geraldine is a Director of the 
Australasian Leukaemia and Lymphoma Group Ltd. Geraldine was appointed to the VicTrack Board in July 2015.

Alan Hall BA, LLB (Hons) - Deputy Chair
Alan is an experienced legal practitioner with demonstrated ability and success in leading and managing the 
delivery of legal services relating to commercial and property based transactions, with particular emphasis on 
planning and environmental considerations. He has more than 23 years’ experience as a partner in legal firm  
Corrs Chambers Westgarth and for more than five years practised law in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia at Al 
Tamimi & Company - an Arab law firm with the biggest legal presence in the Middle East.  

Alan has also provided legal advice to some of the largest Victorian and Australian corporations and government 
departments including Major Projects Victoria, Department of Treasury and Finance, Foster's Group Limited, 
Coles Myer Limited, ING Real Estate and the Linfox Group. Alan was appointed to the VicTrack Board in April 2018.

Paula Allen CFA, FCA, GAICD, BBus (Acc/Comp) - Director
Paula has extensive experience spanning more than two decades across strategy, finance, governance, and 
technology, principally around highly regulated markets. In this, she has guided businesses to deliver better 
outcomes (Bankers Trust, Colonial Group, LUCRF Super); where companies she has led have been recognised 
through listings in BRW Top 500 companies in Australia and the ‘Rising Star’ award in the superannuation 
industry. More recently, she works through her own consulting firm, working both locally and internationally.  
Paula was appointed to the Board effective 1 April 2016.

Dr Collette Burke BE (Civil), M.Eng.Sci, PhD, FIEAust, GAICD - Director
Collette has more than 25 years in the engineering and infrastructure sectors in organisations such as construction 
companies, academic institutes, public sector and engineering consulting firms. Being a co-founder of engineering 
consultancy firm Exner Group, Karsta Middle East and recently Visionary Culture, she is focused on improving 
engineering, performance and culture within the sector. In January 2018, Collette was appointed as Victorian 
Chief Engineer. Collette has been a Director of VicTrack since July 2015.

Dan O’Brien B Ec. (Monash University), Post Grad Dip Econ. (University of Melbourne), 
GAICD - Director
Dan has a wealth of experience in senior executive roles in the private and public sectors. Dan was the General 
Manager of Corporate Affairs for Medibank Private. Prior to that he was the Deputy Secretary for the 
Department of Regional Australia, Local Government, Arts and Sport. He served as the Chief of Staff to the 
Premier of Victoria, the Honourable John Brumby and was also the Chief Executive of Regional Development 
Victoria. He is currently Chief Executive Officer, Cladding Safety Victoria.  Dan was appointed to the VicTrack 
Board in August 2018.

Randall Straw PSM - Director
Randall has more than 35 years’ experience in government information and communications technology. He is the 
former Deputy Secretary of Innovation and Technology at the then Department of Business and Innovation, and a 
former Executive Director at Multimedia Victoria. Randall has also held other technology-focused policy roles and 
has extensive knowledge of and experience in the management of large-scale reform projects. Randall is currently 
the Chair of CenITex. Randall was awarded the Public Service Medal in 2012 and was appointed to the VicTrack 
Board in September 2017.
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